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IMMUNOGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
In thousands, except per share amounts
September 30, June 30,
2007 2007
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 26,275  $ 10,605
Marketable securities 27,328 49,095
Accounts receivable 2,851 1,536
Unbilled revenue 4,369 5,980
Inventory 3,088 3,267
Prepaid and other current assets 2,509 1,351
Restricted cash 268 268
Total current assets 66,688 72,102
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 8,586 8,149
Long-term restricted cash 3,872 95
Other assets 12 75
Total assets 79,158 $ 80,421
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable 1,892 $ 2,226
Accrued compensation 1,357 1,213
Other accrued liabilities 2,024 4,476
Current portion of deferred revenue 7,453 6,373
Total current liabilities 12,726 14,288
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 7,103 7,402
Other long-term liabilities 1,268 330
Total liabilities 21,097 22,020
Commitments and contingencies (Note D)
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 75,000 shares; issued and outstanding 42,453 shares and 42,346
shares as of September 30, 2007 and June 30, 2007, respectively 425 423
Additional paid-in capital 316,335 315,621
Accumulated deficit (258,580) (257,548)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (119) (95)
Total shareholders’ equity 58,061 58,401
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 79,158 $ 80,421

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Revenues:
Research and development support
License and milestone fees
Clinical materials reimbursement
Total revenues
Operating Expenses:
Cost of clinical materials reimbursed
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense), net
Loss before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per common share

IMMUNOGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(UNAUDITED)

In thousands, except per share amounts

Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

Three Months Ended September 30,

2007 2006
4,473 $ 5,507
4,188 1,406
2,764 857
11,425 7,770
1,729 646
9,105 11,416
2,424 2,797
13,258 14,859
(1,833) (7,089)
813 846
(1,020) (6,243)
12 10
(1,032) $ (6,253)
0.02) $ (0.15)
42,416 41,482

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

IMMUNOGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)

In thousands, except per share amounts

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used for operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Loss on sale of marketable securities
Gain on forward contracts
Stock—based compensation
Deferred rent

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Unbilled revenue

Inventory

Prepaid and other current assets
Restricted cash

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued compensation

Other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue

Net cash used for operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from maturities or sales of marketable securities

Purchases of marketable securities

Three months ended September 30,

2007 2006
(1,032) $ (6,253)
1,049 691
11 —
— 1
(193) —
531 647
5 17
(1,315) (697)
1,611 317
179 (686)
(1,024) 184
(3,777) —
63 48
(334) 522
144 221
(2,543) 281
781 149
(5,844) (4,558)

21,744 55,857
— (49,369)



Purchases of property and equipment (470) (493)
Proceeds from settlement of forward contracts 69 —
Net cash provided by investing activities 21,343 5,995

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from stock options exercised 171 26
Net cash provided by financing activities 171 26

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 15,670 1,463
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 10,605 4,813
Cash and cash equivalents, ending of period $ 26,275 $ 6,276

Supplemental disclosure:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 18 $ 15

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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IMMUNOGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2007

A. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements at September 30, 2007 and June 30, 2007 and for the three months ended September 30, 2007, and
2006 include the accounts of ImmunoGen, Inc., or the Company, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, ImmunoGen Securities Corp. and ImmunoGen Europe
Limited. With the exception of the June 30, 2007 consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated financial statements are unaudited, however, they include all of
the adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which management considers necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial
position in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. for interim financial information. Certain information and footnote
disclosures normally included in the Company’s annual financial statements have been condensed or omitted. The preparation of interim financial statements
requires the use of management’s estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the interim financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reported period. The results of the
interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire year. Accordingly, the interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with
the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2007.

Revenue Recognition
The Company enters into licensing and development agreements with collaborative partners for the development of monoclonal antibody-based cancer
therapeutics. The Company follows the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, or
SAB 104, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-21 Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Elements, or EITF 00-21. In
accordance with SAB 104 and EITF 00-21, the Company recognizes revenue related to research activities as they are performed, as long as there is persuasive
evidence of an arrangement, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the related receivable is probable. The terms of the Company’s agreements
contain multiple revenue elements which typically include non-refundable license fees, payments based upon the achievement of certain milestones and
royalties on product sales. The Company evaluates such arrangements to determine if the deliverables are separable into units of accounting and then applies
applicable revenue recognition criteria to each unit of accounting.
At September 30, 2007, the Company had the following four types of collaborative contracts with the parties identified below:
* License to a single target antigen (single target license):
Biogen Idec, Inc.
Biotest AG
Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH
Centocor, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson

Genentech, Inc. (multiple single target licenses)

Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

* Broad option agreements to acquire rights to a limited number of targets over a specified time period (broad license):



Amgen, Inc. (formerly Abgenix, Inc.)

Genentech, Inc.

* Broad agreement to discover, develop and commercialize antibody-based anticancer products:

sanofi-aventis

* Non-exclusive license to the Company’s humanization technology, which was developed to enable antibodies initially of murine origin to appear to be
human to the human immune system:

sanofi-aventis

Generally, the foregoing collaboration agreements provide that the Company will (i) at the collaborator’s request, manufacture preclinical and clinical
materials at the Company’s cost, or, in some cases, cost plus a margin, (ii) earn payments upon the collaborators’ achievement of certain milestones and
(iii) earn royalty payments, generally until the later of the last applicable patent expiration or 12 years after product launch. The Company is required to
provide technical training and to share any process improvements and know-how with its collaborators during the research term of the collaboration
agreements.

Generally, upfront payments on single-target licenses are deferred over the period of the Company’s substantial involvement during development. The
Company’s employees are available to assist the Company’s collaborators during the development of their products. The Company estimates this
development phase to begin at the inception of the collaboration agreement and conclude at the end of non-pivotal Phase II testing. The Company believes
this period of involvement is, depending on the nature of the license, on average six and one-half years. Quarterly, the Company reassesses its periods of
substantial involvement over which the Company amortizes its upfront license fees. In the event that a single-target license were to be terminated, the
Company would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue
at the date of such termination.

The Company defers upfront payments received from its broad option agreements over the period during which the collaborator may elect to receive a
license. These periods are specific to each collaboration agreement, but are between seven and 12 years. If a collaborator selects an option to acquire a license
under these agreements, any option fee is deferred and recorded over the life of the option, generally 12 to 18 months. If a collaborator exercises an option
and the Company grants a single-target license to the collaborator, the Company defers the license fee and accounts for the fee as it would an upfront payment
on a single-target license, as discussed above. Upon exercise of an option to acquire a license, the Company would recognize any remaining deferred option
fee over the period of the Company’s substantial involvement under the license acquired. In the event that a broad license agreement were to be terminated,
the Company would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred
revenue at the date of such termination. In the event a collaborator elects to discontinue development of a specific product candidate under a single-target
license, but retains its right to use the Company’s technology to develop an alternative product candidate to the same target or a target substitute, the
Company would cease amortization of any remaining portion of the upfront fee until there is substantial preclinical activity on another product candidate and
the Company’s remaining period of substantial involvement can be estimated.

When milestone fees are specifically tied to a separate earnings process and are deemed to be substantive and at risk, revenue is recognized when such
milestones are achieved. In addition, the Company recognizes research and development support revenue from certain collaboration and development
agreements based upon the level of research services performed during the period of the relevant research agreement. Deferred revenue substantially
represents amounts received under collaborative agreements and not yet earned pursuant to these policies. Where the Company has no continuing
involvement, the Company will record non-refundable license fees as revenue upon receipt and will record revenue upon achievement of milestones by its
collaborative partners.

The Company produces preclinical and clinical materials for its collaborators. The Company is reimbursed for its direct and overhead costs to produce
clinical materials and, in some cases, direct and overhead costs plus a profit margin. The Company recognizes revenue on preclinical and clinical materials
when (i) the materials have passed all of the quality testing required for collaborator acceptance and (ii) title and risk of loss have transferred to the
collaborator.

The Company also produces research material for potential collaborators under material transfer agreements. Additionally, the Company performs
research activities, including developing antibody-specific conjugation processes, on behalf of its collaborators and potential collaborators during the early

evaluation and preclinical testing stages of drug development. Generally, the Company is
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reimbursed for its direct and overhead costs of producing these materials or providing these services. The Company records the amounts received for the
materials produced or services performed as a component of research and development support.

Marketable Securities

The Company invests in marketable securities of highly rated financial institutions and investment-grade debt instruments and limits the amount of credit
exposure with any one entity. The Company has classified its marketable securities as “available-for-sale” and, accordingly, carries such securities at
aggregate fair value. Unrealized gains and losses, if any, are reported as other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. The amortized cost of
debt securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization and accretions are included
in other income (expense), net, as well as interest and dividends. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are also included in other income
(expense), net. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

Unbilled Revenue
The majority of the Company’s unbilled revenue at September 30, 2007 and June 30, 2007 primarily represents (i) committed research funding earned

based on actual resources utilized under the Company’s discovery, development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis; (ii) reimbursable
expenses incurred under the Company’s discovery, development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis and license agreement with Biotest;



and (iii) research funding earned based on actual resources utilized under the Company’s development, license and service agreements with Biogen Idec,
Biotest, Centocor, and Genentech.

Inventory

Inventory costs primarily relate to clinical trial materials being manufactured for sale to the Company’s collaborators. Inventory is stated at the lower of
cost or market as determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.

Inventory at September 30, 2007 and June 30, 2007 is summarized below (in thousands):

September 30, June 30,
2007 2007
Raw materials $ 624 $ 1,070
Work in process 2,464 2,197
Total $ 3,088 $ 3,267

All Tumor-Activated Prodrug, or TAP, product candidates currently in preclinical and clinical testing include either DM1 or DM4 as a cell-killing agent,
and these agents are the subject of the Company’s collaborations. DM1 and DM4, collectively referred to as DMXx, are both manufactured from a precursor,
ansamitocin P3. Raw materials inventory at September 30, 2007 and June 30, 2007 consisted entirely of DMXx.

Inventory cost is stated net of write-downs of $952,000 and $1.4 million as of September 30, 2007 and June 30, 2007, respectively. The write-downs
represent the cost of raw materials that the Company considers to be in excess of a twelve-month supply based on current firm, fixed orders and projections
from its collaborators as of the respective balance sheet date.

Due to yield fluctuations, the actual amount of raw materials that will be produced in future periods under supply agreements is highly uncertain. As
such, the amount of raw materials produced could be more than is required to support the development of the Company’s and its collaborators’ product
candidates. Such excess supply, as determined under the Company’s inventory reserve policy, is charged to cost of clinical materials reimbursed.

The Company produces preclinical and clinical materials for its collaborators either in anticipation of or in support of preclinical studies and clinical
trials, or for process development and analytical purposes. Under the terms of supply agreements with its collaborators, the Company generally receives
rolling six-month firm, fixed orders for conjugate that the Company is required to manufacture, and rolling twelve-month manufacturing projections for the
quantity of conjugate the collaborator expects to need in any given twelve-month period. The amount of clinical material produced is directly related to the
number of on-going clinical trials for which the Company is producing clinical material for itself and its collaborators, the speed of enrollment in those trials,
the dosage schedule of each clinical trial and the time period, if any, during which patients in the trial receive clinical benefit from the clinical materials.
Because these elements are difficult to estimate over the course of a trial, substantial differences between collaborators’
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actual manufacturing orders and their projections could result in usage of raw materials varying significantly from estimated usage at an earlier reporting
period. To the extent that a collaborator has provided the Company with a firm, fixed order, the collaborator is generally required by contract to reimburse the
Company the full cost of the conjugate and any agreed margin thereon, even if the collaborator subsequently cancels the manufacturing run.

The Company accounts for the raw material inventory as follows:

a) Raw material is capitalized as inventory upon receipt of the material. That portion of the raw material that the Company uses in the production of its
own products is recorded as research and development expense as consumed;

b) to the extent that the Company has collaborator projections for up to twelve months of firm, fixed orders and/or projections, the Company capitalizes
the value of raw materials that will be used in the production of conjugate subject to these firm, fixed orders and/or projections;

¢) the Company considers more than twelve month supply of raw materials that is not supported by firm, fixed orders or projections from its
collaborators to be excess and establishes a reserve to reduce to zero the value of any such excess raw material inventory with a corresponding
charge to cost of clinical materials reimbursed; and

d) the Company also considers any other external factors and information of which it becomes aware and assesses the impact of such factors or
information on the net realizable value of the raw material inventory at each reporting period.

The Company did not record any cost of clinical materials reimbursement expense related to excess inventory during the three months ended September
30, 2007. Increases in the Company’s on-hand supply of raw materials, or a reduction to the Company’s collaborators’ projections, could result in significant
changes in the Company’s estimate of the net realizable value of such raw material inventory. Reductions in collaborators’ projections could indicate that the
Company has additional excess raw material inventory and the Company would then evaluate the need to record further write-downs as charges to cost of
clinical materials reimbursed.

Computation of Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic and diluted net loss per common share is calculated based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The
Company’s common stock equivalents, as calculated in accordance with the treasury-stock accounting method, are shown in the following table (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2007 2006

Options to purchase common stock 5,442 5,863




Common stock equivalents under treasury stock method 787 711

The Company’s common stock equivalents have not been included in the net loss per share calculation because their effect is anti-dilutive due to the
Company’s net loss position.

Comprehensive Loss

The Company presents comprehensive loss in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Statement No. 130, Reporting
Comprehensive Income. For the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, total comprehensive loss equaled $1.1 million and $6.0 million,
respectively. Comprehensive loss was comprised of the Company’s net loss for the period and unrealized gains and losses recognized on available-for-sale
marketable securities.

Stock-Based Compensation

As of September 30, 2007, the Company has one employee share-based compensation plan, which is the ImmunoGen, Inc. 2006 Employee, Director and
Consultant Equity Incentive Plan, or the Plan. The Plan was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors and the shareholders of the Company on
November 14, 2006 and replaced the previous stock option plan, the ImmunoGen, Inc. Restated Stock Option Plan, as amended, or the Former Plan. The
Plan provides for the issuance of Stock Grants, the grant of Options and the grant of Stock-Based Awards for up to 2,500,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock, as well as any shares of common

stock that are represented by awards granted under the Former Plan that are forfeited, expire or are cancelled without delivery of shares of common stock or
which result in the forfeiture of shares of common stock back to the Company on or after November 13, 2006, or the equivalent of such number of shares
after the Administrator, in its sole discretion, has interpreted the effect of any stock split, stock dividend, combination, recapitalization or similar transaction
in accordance with the Plan; provided, however, that no more than 5,900,000 shares shall be added to the Plan from the Former Plan, pursuant to this
provision. Option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant. Options vest at various
periods of up to four years and may be exercised within ten years of the date of grant.

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the assumptions noted in the
following table. As the Company has not paid dividends since inception, nor does it expect to pay any dividends for the foreseeable future, the expected
dividend yield assumption is zero. Expected volatility is based exclusively on historical volatility data of the Company’s stock. The expected term of stock
options granted is based exclusively on historical data and represents the period of time that stock options granted are expected to be outstanding. The
expected term is calculated for and applied to one group of stock options as the Company does not expect substantially different exercise or post-vesting
termination behavior among its employee population. The risk-free rate of the stock options is based on the U.S. Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant for
the expected term of the stock options.

Three Months Ended September 30,

2007 2006
Dividend None None
Volatility 71.04% 84.86%
Risk-free interest rate 4.71% 5.01%
Expected life (years) 6.6 6.7

Using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the weighted average grant date fair values of options granted during the three months ended September
30, 2007 and 2006 was $3.57 and $2.37, respectively.

As of September 30, 2007, the estimated fair value of unvested employee awards was $2.7 million, net of estimated forfeitures. The weighted-average
remaining vesting period for these awards is approximately two and one-half years.

During the three months ended September 30, 2007, holders of options issued under the Plan exercised their rights to acquire an aggregate of 107,038
shares of common stock at prices ranging from $1.31 to $3.95 per share. The total proceeds to the Company from these option exercises were approximately
$171,000.

Derivatives

Derivative instruments include a portfolio of short duration foreign currency forward contracts intended to mitigate the risk of exchange fluctuations for
manufacturing/development contracts to be paid in Euros. Derivatives are estimated at fair value and classified as other current assets or liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of these instruments represents the present value of estimated future cash flows under the contracts,
which are a function of underlying interest rates, currency rates, related volatility, counterparty creditworthiness and duration of the contracts. Changes in
these factors or a combination thereof may affect the fair value of these instruments.

The Company does not designate foreign currency forward contracts as hedges for accounting purposes, and changes in the fair value of these instruments
are recognized in earnings during the period of change. Because the Company enters into forward contracts only as an economic hedge, any gain or loss on
the underlying foreign-denominated balance would be offset by the loss or gain on the forward contract. Net gains on forward contracts for the three month
period ended September 30, 2007 are $193,000, and are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations as other income (expense), net.
As of September 30, 2007, the Company had outstanding forward contracts with notional amounts equivalent to approximately $4.0 million (3.0 million
Euros), all maturing on or before July 31, 2008. As of June 30, 2007, the Company had outstanding forward contracts with notional amounts equivalent to
approximately $6.5 million (4.8 million Euros). As of September 30, 2006, there were no foreign currency forward contracts outstanding. We do not
anticipate using derivative instruments for any purpose other than hedging our exchange rate exposure.



Reclassifications
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
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Segment Information

During the three months ended September 30, 2007, the Company continued to operate in one reportable business segment under the management
approach of FASB Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, which is the business of discovery of
monoclonal antibody-based cancer therapeutics.

Revenues from sanofi-aventis accounted for 45% and 67% of total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Revenues from Genentech accounted for 46% and 24% of total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. There were
no other significant customers of the Company in the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in
Future Research and Development Activities, or EITF 07-3, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007, and interim periods within
those fiscal years (the Company’s fiscal year 2009). The EITF reached a conclusion that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services that will be
used or rendered for future research and development activities pursuant to an executory contractual arrangement should be deferred and capitalized. Such
amounts should be recognized as expense as the goods are delivered or the related services are performed. Entities should continue to evaluate whether they
expect the goods to be delivered or services to be rendered. If an entity does not expect the goods to be delivered or services to be rendered, the capitalized
advance payment should be charged to expense. The Company does not believe the adoption of EITF 07-3 will have a material impact on its results of
operations or financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115, or Statement 159, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 (the Company’s fiscal year
2009). Statement 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve
financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities
differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. The Company has evaluated the effects of adopting this standard, and currently
does not believe the adoption will have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, or Statement 157, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007 (the Company’s fiscal 2009). Statement 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Statement 157 codifies the definition of fair value as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
standard clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability and
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. The Company has evaluated the effects of adopting this
standard, and does not currently believe the adoption will have a material impact on its results of operations or financial position.

B. Significant Research and Development Agreements

sanofi-aventis

In August 2006, sanofi-aventis exercised its remaining option to extend the term of the research collaboration with the Company for another year, and
committed to pay the Company a minimum of $10.4 million in research support over the twelve months beginning September 1, 2007. Additionally, effective
September 1, 2006, the Company was no longer obligated to present new targets for antibody-based anticancer therapeutics to sanofi-aventis, enabling the
Company to use such targets in the development of its own proprietary products. The Company records the research funding as it is earned based upon its
actual resources utilized in the collaboration. During the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded $3.4 million and $4.3
million, respectively, of research and development support revenue under this agreement.

In October 2006, sanofi-aventis licensed non-exclusive rights to use the Company’s proprietary resurfacing technology to humanize antibodies. This
license provides sanofi-aventis with the non-exclusive right to use the Company’s proprietary humanization technology through August 31, 2011 with the
right to extend for one or more additional periods of three years each by providing the Company with written notice prior to expiration of the then-current
license term. Under the terms of the license, the Company is due a $1 million license fee, half of which was paid upon contract signing and the second half is
due on August 31, 2008, and in addition, the Company is entitled to receive milestone payments potentially totaling $4.5 million plus royalties on sales for
each compound humanized under this agreement. The Company has deferred the $500,000 portion of the upfront payment already received and is recognizing
this amount as revenue over the estimated period of substantial involvement.
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In December 2006, sanofi-aventis entered into an option agreement with the Company that provides it the right to gain expanded and extended access to
the Company’s TAP technology. The option agreement provides sanofi-aventis with the right to enter into a multi-target agreement with the Company prior to
or on August 31, 2008 by payment of an agreed-upon option exercise fee. The multi-target agreement would allow sanofi-aventis to evaluate the Company’s
TAP technology with antibodies to targets not included in the existing research collaboration between the companies-with certain restrictions-and to license
the right to use the technology to develop products for such targets on agreed-upon terms. The Company received payment of $500,000 with the signing of
this option agreement, which has been deferred and is being recognized over the option period.

In October 2007, sanofi-aventis informed the Company that clinical testing of SAR3419 had begun, triggering a $1 million milestone payment to the
Company. SAR3419 is a potential new treatment for non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma and other B-cell malignancies, and was created by ImmunoGen and licensed



to sanofi-aventis as part of the broad collaboration agreement to discover, develop and commercialize anticancer therapeutics entered into by the companies in
July 2003.

Genentech, Inc.

Genentech began Phase II evaluation of trastuzumab-DM1 (T-DM1) in July 2007 and as a result, the Company received $5 million in milestone
payments. Included in license and milestone fees for the three months ended September 30, 2007 is $3 million of the $5 million payment, and the remaining
$2 million has been deferred as it is contingent upon the completion of an additional deliverable which the Company expects to occur during the second
quarter of fiscal 2008. The milestone was earned under the May 2000 license agreement, as amended in 2006. This amendment increased the potential
milestone payments to the Company in conjunction with the achievement of milestones earned under a separate process development agreement with
Genentech.

The Company has agreements with other companies with respect to its compounds, as described elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and in its 2007
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

C. Capital Stock
2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan

During the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded approximately $(14,000) and $10,000 in (expense reduction) or
compensation expense, respectively, related to stock units outstanding under the Company’s 2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan. The value of the stock
units is adjusted to market value at each reporting period.

2004 Non-Employee Director Compensation and Deferred Share Unit Plan

The 2004 Non-Employee Director Compensation and Deferred Share Unit Plan, or 2004 Director Plan, was amended on September 5, 2006. Per the
terms of the amended 2004 Director Plan, the redemption amount for deferred share units will be paid in shares of common stock of the Company in lieu of
cash. As a result of the change in payout structure, the value of the vested awards was transferred to additional paid-in capital as of the modification date in
the amount of $175,000 and the total value of the awards, as calculated on the modification date, was expensed over the remainder of the vesting period.
Accordingly, the value of the share units is fixed and will no longer be adjusted to market value at each reporting period.

During the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, the Company recorded approximately $8,000 and $54,000 in compensation expense,
respectively, related to deferred share units outstanding under the amended 2004 Director Plan.

D. Commitments and Contingencies

Effective July 27, 2007, the Company entered into a lease agreement with Intercontinental Fund III for the rental of approximately 89,000 square feet of
laboratory and office space at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA. The Company plans to occupy the space on April 1, 2008 and intends to use this space for its
corporate headquarters and other operations currently located in Cambridge, MA. The initial term of the lease is for twelve years with an option for the
Company to extend the lease for two additional terms of five years. The Company is required to pay certain operating expenses for the leased premises
subject to escalation charges for certain expense increases over a base amount.

As part of the lease agreement, the Company received a construction allowance of up to approximately $13.3 million build out laboratory and office
space to the Company’s specifications. The construction allowance will be accounted for as a lease incentive pursuant to FASB Statement No. 13,
Accounting for Leases, and FAS Technical Bulletin 88-1, Issues Relating to Accounting for Leases. The lease term began on October 1, 2007, when the
Company had physical use of the space in order to begin construction.
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The minimum rental commitments, including real estate taxes and other expenses, for the next five fiscal years under non-cancelable operating lease
agreements are as follows (in thousands):

2008 (nine months remaining) $ 3,423
2009 6,341
2010 6,406
2011 5,979
2012 4,959
Total minimum lease payments $ 27,108

The Company intends to sublease approximately 15,000 and 12,000 square feet of its current laboratory and office space located at 148 Sidney Street,
Cambridge, MA, and 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA, respectively. The Company has not included any estimated sublease income in the table above.

E. Income Taxes

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Financial Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, or FIN 48, an interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 109, or Statement 109, on July 1, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 did not impact the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows for the current period. As of June 30, 2007, the Company had federal and state net operating loss, or NOL, carry forwards and
federal and state research and development, or R&D, credit carry forwards, which may be available to offset future federal and state income tax liabilities
which expire at various dates starting in fiscal 2008 and going through 2027. Utilization of the NOL and R&D credit carry forwards may be subject to a
substantial annual limitation due to ownership change limitations that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future as provided by Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well as similar state and foreign provisions. These ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL and R&D credit
carry forwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. In general, an ownership change, as defined by Section 382,
results from transactions increasing the ownership of certain shareholders or public groups in the stock of a corporation by more than 50 percentage points
over a three-year period. Since the Company’s formation, it has raised capital through the issuance of capital stock on several occasions (both pre and post



initial public offering) which, combined with the purchasing shareholders’ subsequent disposition of those shares, may have resulted in a change of control, as
defined by Section 382, or could result in a change of control in the future upon subsequent disposition. The Company has not currently completed a study to
assess whether a change of control has occurred or whether there have been multiple changes of control since its formation due to the significant complexity
and cost associated with such study and the possibility that there could be additional changes in control in the future. If the Company has experienced a
change of control at any time since its formation, utilization of its NOL or R&D credit carry forwards would be subject to an annual limitation under Section
382 which is determined by first multiplying the value of the Company’s stock at the time of the ownership change by the applicable long-term tax-exempt
rate, and then could be subject to additional adjustments, as required. Any limitation may result in expiration of a portion of the NOL or R&D credit carry
forwards before utilization. Further, until a study is completed and any limitation known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position under
FIN 48. The Company does not expect to have any taxable income for the foreseeable future.

The Company did not recognize any interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. The Company does not expect any material changes to the unrecognized benefits within 12 months of the reporting date. Due to existence of the
valuation allowance, future changes in our unrecognized tax benefits will not impact our effective tax rate. The Company’s loss carry forwards are subject to
adjustment by state and federal taxing authorities, commencing when those losses are utilized to reduce taxable income.

ITEM 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
OVERVIEW

Since our inception, we have been principally engaged in the development of targeted antibody-based anticancer therapeutics. The combination of our
expertise in antibodies and cancer biology has resulted in the development of both proprietary product candidates and technologies. Our Tumor-
Activated Prodrug, or TAP, technology relates to the attachment of one of our proprietary, extremely potent small molecule cytotoxic, or cell-killing, agents to
monoclonal antibodies that bind specifically to cancer cells. The antibody serves to target the cytotoxic agent specifically to cancer cells and the cytotoxic
agent serves to kill the cells. Our TAP technology is designed to selectively kill cancer cells with limited damage to healthy tissue. All TAP compounds
currently in preclinical and clinical testing by us or our collaborative partners contain either DM1 or DM4 as the cytotoxic agent. DM1 and DM4 are our
proprietary derivatives of a naturally occurring substance called maytansine. We also use our expertise in antibodies and cancer biology to develop “naked,”
or unconjugated, antibody anticancer product candidates.
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We have entered into collaborative agreements that enable companies to use our TAP technology to develop commercial product candidates containing
their antibodies. We have also used our proprietary TAP technology in conjunction with our in-house antibody expertise to develop our own anticancer
product candidates. Under the terms of our collaborative agreements, we are generally entitled to upfront fees, milestone payments and royalties on any
commercial product sales. In addition, under certain agreements we are entitled to research and development funding based on activities performed at our
collaborative partner’s request. We are reimbursed our direct and overhead costs to manufacture preclinical and clinical materials and, under certain
collaborative agreements, the reimbursement includes a profit margin. Currently, our collaborative partners include Amgen, Inc. (formerly Abgenix, Inc.),
Biogen Idec, Biotest AG, Centocor, Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson), Genentech, Inc., and sanofi-aventis. We expect that substantially
all of our revenue for the foreseeable future will result from payments under our collaborative arrangements.

In July 2003, we announced a discovery, development and commercialization collaboration with Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (now sanofi-
aventis). Under the terms of this agreement, in consideration of an upfront payment of $12 million, sanofi-aventis gained commercialization rights to three of
the then-most-advanced product candidates in our preclinical pipeline and the commercialization rights to certain new product candidates developed within
the collaboration during its research program term. Under the terms of the agreement, we also are entitled to receive committed research funding. The
commitment was for $50.7 million over the first three years of the agreement, and then for an additional $18.2 million when the agreement was extended for a
fourth year, and then for an additional $10.4 million when the agreement was extended for a fifth year. Through the end of September 30, 2007, we have
earned $71.3 million, of which $3.4 million and $4.3 million was recognized during the three-month period ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
As of September 30, 2007, we have $9.5 million of committed research funding remaining under this arrangement.

The collaboration agreement also provides for certain other payments based on the achievement of product candidate milestones and royalties on sales of
any resulting products, if and when such sales commence. Assuming all benchmarks are met, we will receive payments of between $21.5 million and
$30.0 million per antigen target. Through September 30, 2007, we have earned $4.5 million of a potential $81.5 million with the achievement of various
milestones related to three targets.

Additionally, in October 2006, sanofi-aventis licensed non-exclusive rights to use our proprietary resurfacing technology to humanize antibodies. This
license provides sanofi-aventis with the non-exclusive right to use our proprietary humanization technology through August 31, 2011 with the right to extend
for one or more additional periods of three years each by providing us with written notice prior to expiration of the then-current license term. Under the terms
of the license, we are due a $1 million license fee, half of which was paid upon contract signing and the second half is due on August 31, 2008, and in
addition, we are entitled to receive milestone payments potentially totaling $4.5 million plus royalties on sales for each compound humanized under this
agreement. We have deferred the $500,000 portion of the upfront payment already received and are recognizing this amount as revenue over the estimated
period of substantial involvement.

In December 2006, sanofi-aventis entered into an option agreement with us that provides sanofi-aventis with the right to enter into a multi-target
agreement with us prior to or on August 31, 2008 by payment of an agreed-upon option exercise fee. The multi-target agreement would allow sanofi-aventis
to evaluate our TAP technology with antibodies to targets not included in the existing research collaboration between the companies — with certain
restrictions — and to license the right to use the technology to develop products for such targets on agreed-upon terms. We received payment of $500,000
with the signing of this option agreement, which we have deferred and are recognizing over the option period.

In October 2007, sanofi-aventis informed us that clinical testing of SAR3419 had begun, triggering a $1 million milestone payment to us. SAR3419 is a
potential new treatment for non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma and other B-cell malignancies, and was created by ImmunoGen and licensed to sanofi-aventis as part of
the broad collaboration agreement to discover, develop and commercialize anticancer therapeutics entered into by the companies in July 2003.

In May 2000, we entered into a license agreement with Genentech that granted Genentech exclusive rights to use our maytansinoid TAP technology with
antibodies to HER2. We received a $2 million upfront payment upon execution of the agreement. In addition to royalties on net sales of any HER2-targeting



TAP compounds developed under this agreement if and when they occur, the terms of the agreement include other payments based upon Genentech’s
achievement of milestones. In May 2006, we amended this agreement which increased the potential milestone payments and royalties. Assuming all
requirements are met under this agreement, we will receive $44 million in milestone payments under this agreement.

In January 2006, Genentech notified us that the Investigational New Drug, or IND, application for trastuzumab-DM1(T-DM1) application submitted by
Genentech to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, had become effective. Under the terms of this agreement, this event triggered a $2 million
milestone payment to us. In July 2007, Genentech began Phase II evaluation of T-DM1 and we received a $5 million milestone payment with this event.
Included in license and milestone fees for the three months ended September 30, 2007 is $3 million of the $5 million payment, and the remaining $2 million
has been deferred as it is contingent upon the completion of an additional deliverable which we expect to occur during the second quarter of fiscal 2008.
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To date, we have not generated revenues from commercial product sales and we expect to incur significant operating losses for the foreseeable future.
We do not anticipate that we will have a commercially approved product within the near future. Research and development expenses are expected to increase
significantly in the near term as we continue our development efforts, including an expanded clinical trial program and development of commercial-scale
production capabilities at third-party suppliers. As of September 30, 2007, we had approximately $53.6 million in cash and marketable securities compared to
$59.7 million in cash and marketable securities as of June 30, 2007.

We anticipate that the increase in total cash expenditures will be partially offset by collaboration-derived proceeds, including milestone payments and the
committed research funding to which we are entitled pursuant to the sanofi-aventis collaboration. Accordingly, period-to-period operational results may
fluctuate dramatically based upon the timing of receipt of the proceeds. We believe that our established collaborative agreements, while subject to specified
milestone achievements, will provide funding to assist us in meeting obligations under our collaborative agreements while also assisting in providing
funding for the development of internal product candidates and technologies. However, we can give no assurances that such collaborative agreement funding
will, in fact, be realized in the time frames we expect, or at all. Should we or our partners not meet some or all of the terms and conditions of our various
collaboration agreements, we may be required to pursue additional strategic partners, secure alternative financing arrangements, and/or defer or limit some or
all of our research, development and/or clinical projects.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to our collaborative agreements and
inventory. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We enter into licensing and development agreements with collaborative partners for the development of monoclonal antibody-based cancer therapeutics.
We follow the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, or SAB 104, and Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Elements, or EITF 00-21. In accordance with SAB 104 and EITF 00-
21, we recognize revenue related to research activities as they are performed, as long as there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the fee is fixed or
determinable, and collection of the related receivable is probable. The terms of our agreements contain multiple elements which typically include non-
refundable license fees, payments based upon the achievement of certain milestones and royalties on product sales. We evaluate such arrangements to
determine if the deliverables are separable into units of accounting and then apply applicable revenue recognition criteria to each unit of accounting.

At September 30, 2007, we had the following four types of collaborative contracts with the parties identified below:
* License to a single target antigen (single target license):
Biogen Idec, Inc.
Biotest AG
Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH
Centocor, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson
Genentech, Inc. (multiple single target licenses)
Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
¢ Broad option agreements to acquire rights to a limited number of targets over a specified time period (broad license):
Amgen, Inc. (formerly Abgenix, Inc.)

Genentech, Inc.
* Broad agreement to discover, develop and commercialize antibody-based anticancer products:

sanofi-aventis
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* Non-exclusive license to our humanization technology, which was developed to enable antibodies initially of murine origin to appear to be human to
the human immune system:



sanofi-aventis

Generally, the foregoing collaboration agreements provide that we will (i) at the collaborator’s request, manufacture preclinical and clinical materials at
our cost, or, in some cases, cost plus a margin, (ii) earn payments upon the collaborators’ achievement of certain milestones and (iii) earn royalty payments,
generally until the later of the last applicable patent expiration or twelve years after product launch. We are required to provide technical training and to share
any process improvements and know-how with our collaborators during the research term of the collaboration agreements.

Generally, upfront payments on single target licenses are deferred over the period of our substantial involvement during development. Our employees are
available to assist our collaborators during the development of their products. We estimate this development phase to begin at the inception of the
collaboration agreement and conclude at the end of non-pivotal Phase II testing. We believe this period of involvement is, depending on the nature of the
license, on average six and one-half years. Quarterly, we reassess our periods of substantial involvement over which we amortize our upfront license fees. In
the event that a single-target license were to be terminated, we would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that had not previously been
recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue at the date of such termination.

We defer upfront payments received from our broad option agreements over the period during which the collaborator may elect to receive a license.
These periods are specific to each collaboration agreement, but are between seven and twelve years. If a collaborator selects an option to acquire a license
under these agreements, any option fee is deferred and recorded over the life of the option, generally 12 to 18 months. If a collaborator exercises an option
and we grant a single target license to the collaborator, we defer the license fee and account for the fee as we would an upfront payment on a single target
license, as discussed above. In the event a broad license agreement were to be terminated, we would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that
had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue at the date of such termination. In the event a collaborator elects to
discontinue development of a specific product candidate under a single target license, but retains its right to use our technology to develop an alternative
product candidate to the same target or a target substitute, we would cease amortization of any remaining portion of the upfront fee until there is substantial
preclinical activity on another product candidate and our remaining period of substantial involvement can be estimated.

When milestone fees are specifically tied to a separate earnings process and are deemed to be substantive and at risk, revenue is recognized when such
milestones are achieved. In addition, we recognize research and development support revenue from certain collaboration and development agreements based
upon the level of research services performed during the period of the research agreement. Deferred revenue substantially represents amounts received under
collaborative agreements and not yet earned pursuant to these policies. Where we have no continuing involvement, we will record non-refundable license fees
as revenue upon receipt and will record revenue upon achievement of milestones by our collaborative partners.

We produce preclinical and clinical materials for our collaborators. We are reimbursed for our direct and overhead costs to produce clinical materials
and, in some cases, direct and overhead costs plus a profit margin. We recognize revenue on preclinical and clinical materials when the materials have passed
all quality testing required for collaborator acceptance and title and risk of loss have transferred to the collaborator.

We also produce research material for potential collaborators under material transfer agreements. Additionally, we perform research activities, including
developing antibody-specific conjugation processes, on behalf of our collaborators and potential collaborators during the early evaluation and preclinical
testing stages of drug development. Generally, we are reimbursed for our direct and overhead costs of producing these materials or providing these services.
We record the amounts received for the materials produced or services performed as a component of research and development support.

Inventory

We review our estimates of the net realizable value of our inventory at each reporting period. Our estimate of the net realizable value of our inventory is
subject to judgment and estimation. The actual net realizable value of our inventory could vary significantly from our estimates. We consider quantities of raw
materials in excess of twelve-month projected usage that is not supported by firm, fixed collaborator orders and projections at the time of the assessment to be
excess. To date, we have fully reserved any such material identified as excess with a corresponding charge to research and development expense. Our
collaborators’ estimates of their clinical material requirements are based upon expectations of their clinical trials, including the timing, size, dosing
schedule and maximum tolerated dose of each clinical trial. Our collaborators’ actual requirements for clinical materials may vary significantly from their
projections. Significant differences between our collaborators’ actual manufacturing orders and their projections could result in our actual twelve-month
usage of raw materials varying significantly from our estimated usage at an earlier reporting period. Reductions in collaborators’ projections could indicate
that we have additional excess raw material inventory and we would then evaluate the need to record further write-downs, which would be included as
charges to cost of clinical materials reimbursed.

Stock-Based Compensation
As of September 30, 2007, we have one employee share-based compensation plan, which is the ImmunoGen, Inc. 2006

16

Employee, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan. Effective July 1, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, or Statement 123(R), using the modified-prospective-transition method. Under that
transition method, compensation cost includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted, but not yet vested as of July 1, 2005, based on the
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, or
Statement 123, and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to July 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of Statement 123(R). Such amounts have been reduced by our estimate of forfeitures of all unvested awards.

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Expected volatility is based
exclusively on historical volatility data of our stock. The expected term of stock options granted is based exclusively on historical data and represents the
period of time that stock options granted are expected to be outstanding. The expected term is calculated for and applied to one group of stock options as we
do not expect substantially different exercise or post-vesting termination behavior amongst our employee population. The risk-free rate of the stock options is
based on the U.S. Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant for the expected term of the stock options. Estimated forfeitures are based on historical data as
well as current trend. The compensation cost that has been incurred during the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 is $537,000 and $583,000,
respectively.

As of September 30, 2007, the estimated fair value of unvested employee awards was $2.7 million, net of estimated forfeitures. The weighted-average
remaining vesting period for these awards is approximately two and one-half years.



Derivatives

Derivative instruments include a portfolio of short duration foreign currency forward contracts intended to mitigate the risk of exchange fluctuations for
manufacturing/development contracts to be paid in Euros. Derivatives are estimated at fair value and classified as other current assets or liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of these instruments represents the present value of estimated future cash flows under the contracts,
which are a function of underlying interest rates, currency rates, related volatility, counterparty creditworthiness and duration of the contracts. Changes in
these factors or a combination thereof may affect the fair value of these instruments.

We do not designate foreign currency forward contracts as hedges for accounting purposes, and changes in the fair value of these instruments are
recognized in earnings during the period of change. Because we enter into forward contracts only as an economic hedge, any gain or loss on the underlying
foreign-denominated balance would be offset by the loss or gain on the forward contract. Net gains on forward contracts for the three month period ended
September 30, 2007 are $193,000, and are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations as other income (expense), net. As of
September 30, 2007, we had outstanding forward contracts with notional amounts equivalent to approximately $4 million (3 million Euros), all maturing on
or before July 31, 2008. As of September 30, 2006, there were no foreign currency forward contracts outstanding. We do not anticipate using derivative
instruments for any purpose other than hedging our exchange rate exposure.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Revenues

Our total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 were $11.4 million and $7.8 million, respectively. The $3.6 million increase
in revenues in the three months ended September 30, 2007 from the same period in the prior year is primarily attributable to an increase in license and
milestone fees and clinical materials reimbursement revenue, partially offset by a decrease in research and development support revenue.

Research and development support was $4.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2007, compared with $5.5 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2006. These amounts primarily represent committed research funding earned based on actual resources utilized under our discovery,
development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis, as well as amounts earned for resources utilized under our development and license
agreements with Biogen Idec, Biotest, Centocor, and Genentech. Under the terms of the sanofi-aventis agreement, we are entitled to receive committed
research funding totaling not less than $79.3 million over the five years of the research collaboration, which includes the initial three-year term of the research
program ending August 31, 2006, plus the two 12-month extensions beginning September 1, 2006. Also included in research and development support
revenue are fees related to samples of research-grade material shipped to collaborators. To date, our development fees represent the direct and overhead costs
incurred in producing research-grade materials and developing antibody-specific conjugation processes on behalf of our collaborators and potential
collaborators during the early evaluation and preclinical testing stages of drug development.
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The amount of development fees we earn is directly related to the number of our collaborators and potential collaborators, the stage of development of our
collaborators’ product candidates and the resources our collaborators allocate to the development effort. As such, the amount of development fees may vary
widely from quarter to quarter and year to year. Total revenue recognized from research and development support from each of our collaborative partners in
the three-month periods ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 is included in the following table (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,

2007 2006
Collaborative Partner:

Sanofi-aventis 3,410 4,260
Biogen Idec 45 82
Biotest 426 18
Centocor 377 152
Genentech 176 951
Other 39 44

Total $ 4,473  $ 5,507

Revenues from license and milestone fees for the three months ended September 30, 2007, increased $2.8 million to $4.2 million from $1.4 million in the
same period ended September 30, 2006. Included in license and milestone fees for the three months ended September 30, 2007 was a $3 million milestone
related to the initiation of Phase II clinical testing of T-DMI by Genentech. Total revenue from license and milestone fees recognized from each of our
collaborative partners in the three-month periods ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 is included in the following table (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,

2007 2006
Collaborative Partner:

Amgen (formerly Abgenix) $ 108 $ 100
Sanofi-aventis 709 600
Biogen Idec 38 22
Biotest 42 38
Centocor — 38
Genentech 3,291 390
Millennium — 218

Total $ 4,188 $ 1,406

Deferred revenue of $14.6 million as of September 30, 2007 represents payments received from our collaborators pursuant to our license and supply
agreements which we have yet to earn pursuant to our revenue recognition policy.



Clinical materials reimbursement increased by approximately $1.9 million in the three months ended September 30, 2007, to nearly $2.8 million from
$857,000 in the three months ended September 30, 2006. During the three months ended September 30, 2007, we shipped clinical materials in support of the
T-DM1 clinical trials and SAR3419 clinical trials, as well as DMx shipments to certain collaborators in support of development and manufacturing efforts.
During the three months ended September 30, 2006, we shipped clinical materials in support of the T-DM1 clinical trials and AVE9633 clinical trials, as well
as preclinical materials in support of the development efforts of certain other collaborators. The increase in clinical materials reimbursement in the current
period is primarily related to the advancement of the clinical trials of T-DM1. We are reimbursed for our direct and overhead costs to produce clinical
materials plus, for certain programs, a profit margin. The amount of clinical materials reimbursement we earn, and the related cost of clinical materials
reimbursed, is directly related to (i) the number of clinical trials our collaborators have or plan to have underway, the speed of enrollment in those trials, the
dosage schedule of each clinical trial and the time period, if any, during which patients in the trial receive clinical benefit from the clinical materials, and
(ii) our production of clinical-grade material on behalf of our collaborators, either in anticipation of clinical trials, or for process development and analytical
purposes. As such, the amount of clinical materials reimbursement and the related cost of clinical materials reimbursed may vary significantly from quarter to
quarter and year to year.

Research and Development Expenses
We report research and development expense net of certain reimbursements we receive from our collaborators. Our net research
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and development expenses relate to (i) research to identify and evaluate new targets and to develop and evaluate new antibodies and cytotoxic drugs,

(ii) preclinical testing of our own and, in certain instances, our collaborators’ product candidates, and the cost of our own clinical trials, (iii) development
related to clinical and commercial manufacturing processes and (iv) manufacturing operations. Our research and development efforts have been primarily
focused in the following areas:

* activities pursuant to our discovery, development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis;

* activities pursuant to our development and license agreements with various other collaborators;

* activities related to the preclinical and clinical development of huN901-DM1 and huC242-DM4;

* process development related to production of the huN901 antibody and huN901-DM1 conjugate for clinical materials;

* process development related to production of the huC242 antibody and huC242-DM4 conjugate for clinical materials;

* process improvements related to the production of DM1, DM4 and strain development of their precursor, ansamitocin P3;

* funded development activities with contract manufacturers for the huN901 antibody, the huC242 antibody, and DM1, DM4 and their precursor,
ansamitocin P3;

* operation and maintenance of our conjugate manufacturing plant;

¢ process improvements to our TAP technology;

* identification and evaluation of potential antigen targets;

¢ evaluation of internally developed and/or in-licensed product candidates and technologies; and

* development and evaluation of additional cytotoxic agents.

Research and development expense for the three months ended September 30, 2007 decreased $2.3 million to $9.1 million from $11.4 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2006. The change in research and development expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2007, compared to the
three months ended September 30, 2006 was primarily due to a decrease in antibody costs incurred during the current three-month period, and was also due to
a decrease in development costs with manufacturing organizations related to the potential production of later-stage materials. We anticipate higher antibody
and development costs over the balance of the current fiscal year. The number of our research and development personnel increased to 165 at September 30,
2007 compared to 152 at September 30, 2006. Research and development salaries and related expenses increased by $393,000 in the three months ended
September 30, 2007 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2006. Facilities expense, including depreciation, increased $330,000 during the three
months ended September 30, 2007 as compared to the same period last year. The increase in facilities expense in the current period was principally due to an
increase in depreciation and amortization. The increase in depreciation and amortization is due to the acceleration of amortization of leasehold improvements
for our Cambridge facilities resulting from our anticipated move from Cambridge during the second half of fiscal 2008, as well as new capital purchases.

We are unable to accurately estimate which potential products, if any, will eventually move into our internal preclinical research program. We are unable
to reliably estimate the costs to develop these products as a result of the uncertainties related to discovery research efforts as well as preclinical and clinical
testing. Our decision to move a product candidate into the clinical development phase is predicated upon the results of preclinical tests. We cannot accurately
predict which, if any, of the discovery stage product candidates will advance from preclinical testing and move into our internal clinical development
program. The clinical trial and regulatory approval processes for our product candidates that have advanced or that we intend to advance to clinical testing are
lengthy, expensive and uncertain in both timing and outcome. As a result, the pace and timing of the clinical development of our product candidates is highly
uncertain and may not ever result in approved products. Completion dates and development costs will vary significantly for each product candidate and are
difficult to predict. A variety of factors, many of which are outside our control, could cause or contribute to the prevention or delay of the successful
completion of our clinical trials, or delay or prevent our obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. The costs to take a product through clinical trials are
dependent upon, among other factors, the clinical indications, the timing, size and dosing schedule of each clinical trial, the number of patients enrolled in
each trial, and the speed at which patients are enrolled and treated. Product candidates may be found ineffective or cause harmful side effects during clinical
trials, may take longer to progress through clinical trials than anticipated, may fail to receive necessary regulatory approvals or may prove impracticable to
manufacture in commercial quantities at reasonable cost or with acceptable quality.

The lengthy process of securing FDA approvals for new drugs requires the expenditure of substantial resources. Any failure by us to obtain, or any delay
in obtaining, regulatory approvals would materially adversely affect our product development efforts and our business overall. Accordingly, we cannot
currently estimate, with any degree of certainty, the amount of time or money that we will be required to expend in the future on our product candidates prior



to their regulatory approval, if such approval is ever granted. As a result of these uncertainties surrounding the timing and outcome of our clinical trials, we
are currently unable to estimate when, if ever, our product candidates that have advanced into clinical testing will generate revenues and cash flows.
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We expect future research and development expenses to increase as we expand our clinical trial activity. We do not track our research and development
costs by project. Since we use our research and development resources across multiple research and development projects, we manage our research and
development expenses within each of the categories listed in the following table and described in more detail below (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30,
2007 2006

Research and Development
Research $ 3,804 $ 3,674
Preclinical and Clinical Testing 1,685 1,927
Process and Product Development 1,487 1,311
Manufacturing Operations 2,129 4,504

Total Research and Development Expense $ 9,105 $ 11,416

Research: Research includes expenses associated with activities to identify and evaluate new targets and to develop and evaluate new antibodies and
cytotoxic agents for our products and in support of our collaborators. Such expenses primarily include personnel, fees to in-license certain technology,
facilities and lab supplies. Research expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2007 increased $130,000 to $3.8 million from $3.7 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2006. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily the result of an increase in facilities expense.

Preclinical and Clinical Testing: Preclinical and clinical testing includes expenses related to preclinical testing of our own and, in certain instances,
our collaborators’ product candidates, and the cost of our own clinical trials. Such expenses include personnel, patient enrollment at our clinical testing sites,
consultant fees, contract services, and facility expenses. Preclinical and clinical testing expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2007 decreased
$242,000 to $1.7 million compared to $1.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. This decrease is primarily due to a decrease in salaries
and related expense resulting from a decrease in average headcount, as well as a decrease in clinical trial costs resulting from reduced patient enrollment
during the current period.

Process and Product Development: Process and product development expenses include costs for development of clinical and commercial
manufacturing processes. Such expenses include the costs of personnel, contract services and facility expenses. For the three months ended September 30,
2007, total development expenses increased $176,000 to $1.5 million, compared to $1.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. The
increase is primarily due to an increase in facilities expense, as well as an increase in salaries and related expense.

Manufacturing Operations: Manufacturing operations expense includes costs to manufacture preclinical and clinical materials for our own product
candidates, quality control and assurance activities and costs to support the operation and maintenance of our conjugate manufacturing plant. Such expenses
include personnel, raw materials for our preclinical studies and clinical trials, development costs with contract manufacturing organizations, manufacturing
supplies, and facilities expense. Manufacturing costs related to the production of material for our collaborators are recorded as cost of clinical material
reimbursed in our accompanying consolidated statements of operations. For the three months ended September 30, 2007, manufacturing operations expense
decreased $2.4 million to $2.1 million compared to $4.5 million in the same period last year. The decrease in the three months ended September 30, 2007 as
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2006 was primarily the result of a decrease in antibody costs incurred during the current period, as well as
a decrease in development costs related to the potential production of later-stage materials incurred at contract manufacturing organizations. Overhead
utilization from the manufacture of clinical materials on behalf of our collaborators was higher during the three months ended September 30, 2007 as
compared to the same period ended September 30, 2006. Partially offsetting these decreases during the current period was an increase in salaries and related
expense.

Antibody expense in anticipation of potential future clinical trials, as well as our ongoing trials, was $601,000 and $2.7 million in the three months ended
September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The process of antibody production is lengthy as is the lead time to establish a satisfactory production process at a

vendor. Accordingly, costs incurred related to antibody production have fluctuated from period to period and we expect these cost fluctuations to continue in
the future. We anticipate greater antibody costs over the balance of the fiscal year.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2007 decreased $373,000 to $2.4 million compared to $2.8 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2006. The decrease is primarily due to a decrease in patent prosecution costs during the current period.
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Interest Income

Interest income for the three months ended September 30, 2007 decreased $198,000 to $667,000 from $865,000 for the three months ended September
30, 2006. The decrease in interest income is primarily the result of a decrease in our average investment balance.

Net Realized Losses on Investments

Net realized losses on investments were $1,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2006. There were no losses recognized in the three months
ended September 30, 2007.



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

September 30,
2007 2006

(In thousands)
Cash and short-term investments $ 53,603 $ 70,276
Working capital 53,962 68,314
Shareholders’ equity 58,061 66,985
Cash used for operating activities (5,844) (4,558)
Cash provided by investing activities 21,343 5,995
Cash provided by financing activities 171 26

Cash Flows

We require cash to fund our operating expenses, including the advancement of our own clinical programs, and to make capital expenditures. Historically,
we have funded our cash requirements primarily through equity financings in public markets and payments from our collaborators, including equity
investments, license fees, clinical materials reimbursement and research funding. As of September 30, 2007, we had approximately $53.6 million in cash and
marketable securities. Net cash used in operations was $5.8 million and $4.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The increase in operational cash use from the first quarter of fiscal 2008 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2007 is principally due to
payments made during the quarter that had previously been accrued to contract manufacturers and a deposit made to secure new leased space in Waltham,
MA.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $21.3 million and $6.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and
substantially represents cash inflows from the sales and maturities of marketable securities partially offset by capital expenditures. During the three months
ended September 30, 2007, for liquidity purposes we transferred approximately $16.9 million from our investment portfolio to a high-yielding money market
fund. Capital expenditures, primarily for the purchase of new equipment, were $470,000 and $493,000 for the three-month periods ended September 30,
2007and 2006, respectively

Net cash provided by financing activities was $171,000 and $26,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, which
represents proceeds from the exercise of 107,000 and 56,000 stock options, respectively.

We anticipate that our current capital resources and future collaborator payments, including committed research funding due us under the sanofi-aventis
collaboration over the remainder of the research program, will enable us to meet our operational expenses and capital expenditures for the balance of fiscal
2008 and at least a portion of the following fiscal year. However, we cannot provide assurance that such collaborative agreement funding will, in fact, be
received. Should we not meet some or all of the terms and conditions of our various collaboration agreements, we may be required to pursue additional
strategic partners, secure alternative financing arrangements, and/or defer or limit some or all of our research, development and/or clinical projects.

On July 11, 2007, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-144488) with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The
Securities and Exchange Commission declared the Registration Statement effective on August 13, 2007. Subject to our ongoing obligations under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registration Statement permits us to offer and sell up to an
aggregate of $75 million of our common stock.

Contractual Obligations

Effective July 27, 2007, we entered into a lease agreement with Intercontinental Fund III for the rental of approximately 89,000 square feet of
laboratory and office space at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA. We plan to occupy the space on April 1, 2008 and intend to use this space for our corporate
headquarters and other operations currently located in Cambridge, MA. The initial term of the lease is for twelve years with an option for us to extend the
lease for two additional terms of five years. We are required to pay certain operating expenses for the leased premises subject to escalation charges for certain
expense increases over a base amount.
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As part of the lease agreement, we received a construction allowance of up to approximately $13.3 million to build out laboratory and office space to our
specifications. The construction allowance will be accounted for as a lease incentive pursuant to FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and FAS
Technical Bulletin 88-1, Issues Relating to Accounting for Leases. The lease term began on October 1, 2007, when the Company had physical use of the space
in order to begin construction.

The minimum rental commitments, including real estate taxes and other expenses, for the next five fiscal years under non-cancelable operating
lease agreements are as follows (in thousands):

2008 (nine months remaining) $ 3,423
2009 6,341
2010 6,406
2011 5,979
2012 4,959
Total minimum lease payments $ 27,108

We intend to sublease approximately 15,000 and 12,000 square feet of our current laboratory and office space located at 148 Sidney Street, Cambridge,
MA, and 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA, respectively. We have not included any estimated sublease income in the table above.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in

Future Research and Development Activities, or EITF 07-3, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007, and interim periods within
those fiscal years (our fiscal year 2009). The EITF reached a conclusion that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services that will be used or



rendered for future research and development activities pursuant to an executory contractual arrangement should be deferred and capitalized. Such amounts
should be recognized as expense as the goods are delivered or the related services are performed. Entities should continue to evaluate whether they expect the
goods to be delivered or services to be rendered. If an entity does not expect the goods to be delivered or services to be rendered, the capitalized advance
payment should be charged to expense. We do not believe the adoption of EITF 07-3 will have a material impact on our results of operations or financial
position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115, or Statement 159, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 (our fiscal year 2009).
Statement 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve financial
reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently
without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. We have evaluated the effects of adopting this standard, and we currently do not believe the
adoption will have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, or Statement 157, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007 (our fiscal 2009). Statement 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Statement 157 codifies the definition of fair value as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The standard
clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability and establishes a fair
value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. We have evaluated the effects of adopting this standard, and we do not
currently believe the adoption will have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements
relate to analyses and other information which are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts that are not yet determinable. These
statements are not guarantees and are subject to many risks and uncertainties. There are a number of factors that could cause actual events or results to be
significantly different from those described in the forward-looking statement. Forward-looking statements might include one or more of the following:

¢ future products revenues, expenses, liquidity and cash needs;
* anticipated agreements with collaboration partners;

¢ anticipated clinical trial timelines or results;

* anticipated research and product development results;
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*  projected regulatory timelines;

* descriptions of plans or objectives of management for future operations, products or services;

¢ forecasts of future economic performance; and

* descriptions or assumptions underlying or relating to any of the above items.
Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate to historical or current facts. They use words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “project,” “intend,” “opportunity,” “plan,” “potential,” “believe” or words of similar meaning. They may also use words such as “will,” “would,”
“should,” “could” or “may”. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date of this report. You should review carefully the risks and uncertainties identified in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the cautionary
information set forth under Part II, Item 1A., Risk Factors, and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2007. We may not revise these
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

2« ” « » «

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
None.
ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

We maintain an investment portfolio in accordance with our investment policy. The primary objectives of our investment policy are to preserve principal,
maintain proper liquidity to meet operating needs and maximize yields. Although our investments are subject to credit risk, our investment policy specifies
credit quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit exposure from any single issue, issuer or type of investment. Our investments are
also subject to interest rate risk and will decrease in value if market interest rates increase. However, due to the conservative nature of our investments and
relatively short duration, interest rate risk is mitigated. We do not own derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. Accordingly, we do not
believe that there is any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other financial instruments that would require disclosure under this item.

Our foreign currency hedging program uses forward contracts to manage the foreign currency exposures that exist as part of our ongoing business
operations. The contracts primarily are denominated in European currencies and have maturities of less than one year. Our foreign currency risk management
strategy is principally designed to mitigate the future potential financial impact of changes in the value of transactions, anticipated transactions and balances
denominated in foreign currency, resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Our market risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates are concentrated primarily in a portfolio of short duration foreign currency
forward contracts. Generally, these contracts provide that we receive certain foreign currencies and pay U.S. dollars at specified exchange rates at specified
future dates. Although we are exposed to credit and market risk in the event of future nonperformance by a counterparty, management has no reason to
believe that such an event will occur.

ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures



The Company’s management, with the participation of its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and
effective.

(b) Changes in Internal Controls
There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-

15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended September 30, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings
None.
ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
You should carefully review and consider the information regarding certain factors that could materially affect our business, financial condition or future
results set forth under Item 1A (Risk Factors) in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. There have been no material
changes from the factors disclosed in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K, although we may disclose changes to such factors or disclose additional factors
from time to time in our future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.
ITEM 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
ITEM 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
ITEM 5.  Other Information

None.

ITEM 6. Exhibits

10.1 Summary of Annual Executive Bonus Program
10.2 Lease dated July 27, 2007 by and between Intercontinental Fund III 830 Winter Street, LLC, lessor, and the Registrant, lessee.
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32. Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of
2002.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ImmunoGen, Inc.

Date: November 7, 2007 By: /s/ Mitchel Sayare

Mitchel Sayare
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Date: November 7, 2007 By: /s/ Daniel M. Junius



Daniel M. Junius
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

SUMMARY OF ANNUAL EXECUTIVE BONUS PROGRAM

ImmunoGen does not have a formal incentive or bonus plan for executives. The Compensation Committee of the our Board of Directors does,
however, annually establish key performance criteria, based upon the corporate goals and objectives, to be met by the Company, and may also establish
individual objectives for our executives. The Compensation Committee evaluates the Company’s and the individual’s actual performance against those
criteria and, where applicable, individual objectives, in its determination of whether cash incentive or bonus payments should be made to our executives. Key
performance criteria may include any or all of the following: (i) our actual financial performance against our plan for the applicable fiscal year; (ii) meeting
certain research and development milestones, including internal product development advancement; and (iii) meeting key targets associated with its
collaborations with third parties, including support of partner programs and business development.

Each executive is eligible to receive a target bonus expressed as a percentage of his or her annual base salary which, once set, remains at that level
for each subsequent year unless specifically changed by the Compensation Committee. The actual bonus amount for each executive is determined based on
both the Company’s actual performance against its key performance criteria and, if applicable, the executive’s level of accomplishment against his or her
predetermined individual performance goals and objectives. When evaluating the performance of individual executives, the Compensation Committee also
considers factors such as changes in business conditions and other relevant external circumstances. At the discretion of the Compensation Committee,
bonuses in excess of the calculated result may be made for exceptional performance or other similar reasons.

The Compensation Committee may set a threshold percentage of Company achievement against its key performance criteria below which bonuses
based on Company performance will not be payable. Assuming the threshold percentage has been achieved, the portion of the executives’ target bonuses tied
to Company performance is earned on a pro-rata basis up to achievement of 100% of the Company objectives. Additional Company performance objectives
may also be set by the Compensation Committee that, if achieved, could result in bonus payments in excess of 100% of the portion of an executive’s target
bonus based on Company performance. Where applicable, the individual objectives portion of the executives’ target bonuses may be earned irrespective of
whether the threshold for payment of the Company performance bonuses has been achieved or the extent to which the bonuses based on Company
performance are payable.
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LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (“Lease”) is made and entered into as of this 27% day of July 2007 by and between Intercontinental Fund III 830 Winter
Street, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company (“Landlord”), and ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (“Tenant”).

Intending to be legally bound, Landlord and Tenant agree as set forth below.

1. PREMISES. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, for the term and subject to and with the benefit of the terms,
covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions hereof, part of the Basement, First, Second and Third Floors (the “Premises”), as shown on Exhibit “B”
attached hereto and made part of hereof, in the building (the “Building”) erected on the land located at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts 02451
(the “Land”), and as more particularly described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof. For purposes of this Lease, the property (the
“Property”) shall mean the Land and all of the buildings now or hereafter located thereon. Tenant shall have, as appurtenant to the Premises, the non-
exclusive right to use, and permit its invitees to use in common with Landlord and others, the elevators, escalators, stairways, walkways, driveways and
access roads necessary for access to the Premises and the parking areas, loading areas, trash enclosures, pedestrian sidewalks, landscaped areas, recreation
areas and other areas and facilities, if any, which are located on the Land and designated by Landlord from time to time for the non-exclusive use of tenants
and other occupants of the Building or improvements on the Land (the “Common Areas”). For purposes of this Lease, Tenant’s proportionate share
(“Tenant’s Proportionate Share”) shall be calculated by dividing the total rentable area of the Premises (88,930 rentable square feet) by the total rentable
area of the Building (182,106 rentable square feet). Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and accept the rentable square feet as set forth herein and neither
Landlord nor Tenant shall have the right to demand remeasurement or recalculation of the rentable square feet with respect to the Premises or the Building. It
is hereby agreed that as of the Lease Commencement Date (as hereinafter defined), Tenant’s Proportionate Share shall be equal to 48.83%.

2. LEASE TERM. The lease term (the “Lease Term”) shall commence after (a) the mutual execution and delivery of this Lease, and (b) the delivery by
Tenant to Landlord (as beneficiary) of a standby letter of credit (“Letter of Credit”), a draft of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “I”, in form and content
satisfactory to Landlord in the amount of $3,823,990.00 (the “Lease Commencement Date”) and shall continue for a period of twelve (12) years after the
Rent Commencement Date (as hereinafter defined) unless extended or terminated as provided in this Lease (the “Expiration Date”). After the Rent
Commencement Date, Tenant shall, within ten (10) Business Days (as hereinafter defined) of receipt thereof, execute a Commencement Date Certificate
substantially similar to the form attached hereto as Exhibit “E” confirming the Lease Commencement Date, the Rent Commencement Date and the
Expiration Date. Landlord shall not be in breach of this Lease nor be liable to Tenant for delay in delivery of possession of the Premises to Tenant resulting
from delay in completing construction of or alterations to the Premises which Landlord has agreed to perform under this Lease or by reason of matters beyond
Landlord’s reasonable control, except as otherwise set forth in this Lease. If Landlord cannot deliver possession of the Premises on the Lease Commencement
Date, Landlord may delay the Lease Commencement Date until the date on which Landlord can deliver possession of the Premises and shall provide Tenant
with written notice of any delayed Lease Commencement Date. The date set forth in such notice as the delayed Lease Commencement Date shall be deemed
the Lease Commencement Date, and the Rent Commencement Date and Expiration Date of this Lease shall be correspondingly extended by the period of
delay. At the request of Landlord, Tenant shall countersign Landlord’s notice to confirm the delayed Lease Commencement Date as the Lease
Commencement Date; provided, however, that Tenant’s failure to countersign such notice shall not impair Landlord’s designation of the new Lease

Commencement Date. Tenant shall not have any right to enter the Premises prior to the Lease Commencement Date.
3. RENT.

3.1 Fixed Rent and Additional Rent. Tenant shall pay fixed rent (“Fixed Rent”) beginning on the later of (a) the date that is ten (10) months after
the Lease Commencement Date, or (b) the date that Tenant receives a Certificate of Occupancy for the entire Premises from the City of Waltham, but in no
event later than May 1, 2008, subject, however, to any delayed Lease Commencement Date (as contemplated in Section 2) or any Landlord Delay (as
hereinafter defined) (the “Rent Commencement Date”) in monthly installments each equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the annual Fixed Rent (the “Annual
Fixed Rent”), as set forth on Exhibit “C” attached hereto and made a part hereof, without prior notice or demand, and without any setoff or deduction
whatsoever (except as otherwise set forth in this Lease), in advance, on the first day of each month at such place as Landlord may direct. In addition to Fixed
Rent, and as more fully set forth below, Tenant shall pay to Landlord additional rent (“Additional Rent”). All amounts payable by Tenant to Landlord under
this Lease other than Fixed Rent shall constitute Additional Rent and shall be paid without any setoff or deduction whatsoever as provided herein (except as
otherwise set forth in this Lease). “Rent” shall mean Fixed Rent and Additional Rent. If the Lease Term shall commence or expire on other than the first or
last day, as applicable, of a calendar month, such monthly installment of Fixed Rent and Additional Rent (if any), shall be prorated for each calendar day of
such partial month.



3.2 Late Payment. If any portion of Fixed Rent, Additional Rent or any other sum payable to Landlord hereunder shall be due and unpaid for more
than seven (7) days after its due date, it shall bear interest at a rate equal to the lesser of (i) ten percent (10%) per annum and (ii) the maximum legal rate
permitted by law (the “Default Rate”) from the due date until the date of payment thereof by Tenant. In addition Tenant shall pay a late charge equal to four
percent (4%) of the late payment. If any payment tendered by Tenant shall fail collection on presentment, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for all charges
imposed by Landlord’s bank on account thereof and pay to Landlord a bad check fee equal to the lesser of (a) $100.00 and (b) the maximum charge permitted
by law. In no event shall Landlord be deemed to contract for or receive charges by way of interest or otherwise in excess of those permitted by law and any
sum paid in excess of that permitted shall be refunded or credited to Tenant.

4. REAL ESTATE TAXES.

4.1  Tax Year and Taxes. “Tax Year” shall mean a twelve (12) month period commencing on July 1 and falling wholly or partially within the Lease
Term, and “Taxes” shall mean (a) all ad valorem real estate taxes, assessments (special or otherwise), levies, fees and all other government levies, exactions
and charges of every kind and nature, general and special, ordinary and extraordinary, foreseen and unforeseen, which are, at any time prior to or during the
Lease Term, imposed or levied upon or assessed against (i) the Premises or any portion thereof, or (ii) the Land (including Common Areas), and (b)
Landlord’s reasonable expenses of any proceeding to contest, determine or reduce any of the foregoing items included in Taxes, but the amount of special
taxes or special assessments included in Taxes shall be limited to the amount of the installment (plus any interest, other than penalty interest, payable thereon)
of such special tax or special assessment required to be paid during the year in respect of which such Taxes are being determined. There shall be excluded
from Taxes (x) all Taxes assessed on buildings located on any portion of the Land other than the Building, and (y) all income, estate, succession, inheritance,
franchise and transfer taxes of Landlord; provided, however, that if at any time during the Lease Term the present system of ad valorem taxation of real
property shall be changed so that a capital levy, franchise, income, profits, sales, rental, use and occupancy, or other tax or charge shall (i)

in whole or in part be substituted for such ad valorem tax or (ii) be imposed solely on or with respect to real property or the income generated thereby, and, in
either case, be levied against, or be payable by, Landlord with respect to the Premises or any portion thereof, such tax or charge shall be included in the term
“Taxes” for the purposes of this Article, but only to the extent that the same would be payable if the Property were the only property of Landlord.

4.2  Payment of Taxes. Beginning on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay to Landlord for each Tax Year, as Additional Rent, an amount
equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the Taxes. Such amount shall be apportioned (a) to account for any adjustment in Tenant’s Proportionate Share
during any Tax Year, and (b) for any partial Tax Year that falls in any portion of the Lease Term. Estimated payments by Tenant on account of Taxes shall be
made on the first day of each and every calendar month during the term of this Lease, in the fashion herein provided for the payment of Fixed Rent. Promptly
after receipt by Landlord of bills for such Taxes, Landlord shall provide copies of such bills to Tenant along with Landlord’s allocation of the Taxes and
Landlord’s computation of Tenant’s payment on account thereof. If estimated payments theretofore made by Tenant for the Tax Year covered by such bills
exceed the required payment on account thereof for such Tax Year, Landlord shall within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s delivery to Tenant of such bills
refund such overpayment to Tenant (less any amount then owed to Landlord by Tenant under this Lease, in which case Landlord promptly shall notify Tenant
of such offset ); but if the required payments on account thereof for such Tax Year are greater than estimated payments theretofore made on account thereof
for such Tax Year, Tenant shall pay the difference to Landlord within thirty (30) days after being so advised by Landlord, and the obligation to make such
refund or payment for any period within the Lease Term shall survive expiration of the Lease Term. Except for the foregoing reconciliation on account of
Taxes for Tenant’s estimated payments, Tenant shall not be liable to Landlord to pay any Taxes first billed to Tenant by Landlord more than one year after the
end of the fiscal year in which Landlord received a final bill therefor.

4.3  Refund Sharing. If Landlord shall receive any refund or reimbursement of Taxes of which Tenant paid a share under this Lease, then out of any
balance remaining thereof after deducting Landlord’s reasonable expenses in obtaining such refund or reimbursement not previously included in such Taxes
as provided above, Landlord shall pay to Tenant, a portion of such refund or reimbursement or sum in lieu thereof (apportioned if such refund or
reimbursement is for a Tax Year a portion of which falls outside the applicable Lease Term) that bears the same proportion to the entire refund or
reimbursement as the portion of Taxes (as to which the refund or reimbursement was obtained) paid by Tenant bears to the entire amount of such Taxes.

4.4  Abatement Initiated by Tenant. Tenant may from time to time (but not more frequently than once a year) request that a real estate tax abatement
be sought on the tax parcel(s) on which the Premises and the Land are located, whereupon Landlord shall either (a) prosecute a contest of the tax and
assessment basis of such tax parcel(s) and the taxes and assessment levied thereon, or (b) permit Tenant to contest on behalf of Landlord the tax and
assessment basis of the tax parcel(s) on which the Premises and the Land are located and the taxes and assessments levied thereon. In the event Landlord
makes the election described in clause (b) above and Tenant performs such contest, then Tenant (i) shall pay all costs and expenses in connection therewith,
(ii) shall keep Landlord informed about the status of such contest, and (iii) shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any and all costs, claims and
liabilities relating thereto, provided that if Tenant is successful in obtaining a real estate tax abatement, Tenant shall be entitled to reimbursement from the
abatement proceeds of its reasonable costs and expenses in connection with obtaining such abatement. Tenant shall not settle any tax abatement proceeding
without the prior consent of Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Furthermore, Tenant shall post with the applicable governmental
authority any and all necessary bonds or deposits or similar security required by such authority so that Landlord’s interests shall not be jeopardized by reason
of such

contest by Tenant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord may refuse to permit or undertake any contest requested by Tenant as provided in this Section, so
long as Landlord has a reasonable basis for doing so and promptly notifies Tenant thereof. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing: (x) the filing of a
subdivision plan or the request for zoning relief or approvals, whether site plan approval, special permit or otherwise, shall be a reasonable basis for Landlord
to refuse to permit or undertake any such contest; and (y) at any time when an Event of Default has occurred and remains outstanding, Landlord may refuse to
permit or undertake any contest requested by Tenant or may require Tenant to terminate any contest then underway, and in such event, Tenant agrees to
terminate any such ongoing contest.

5. OPERATING EXPENSES.



5.1  Payment of Operating Expenses; Definitions. Beginning on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent,
Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses (as hereinafter defined) in accordance with Section 5. The amounts due from Tenant under Section 5 are
collectively referred to as “Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses”. Payments by Tenant on account of Tenant’s Proportionate Share of
Operating Expenses shall be made monthly at the time and in the fashion herein provided for the payment of Fixed Rent. The amount so to be paid to
Landlord shall be an amount from time to time reasonably estimated by Landlord to be sufficient to aggregate a sum equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of

Operating Expenses for each calendar year. Operating Expenses for any partial calendar year at the beginning or end of the Lease Term shall be prorated.
5.2 Certain Definitions.

() “Building Operating Expenses” means, without duplicating any cost included in Land Operating Expenses (as hereinafter defined), to
the extent not borne directly by Tenant under this Lease, Landlord’s cost of operating and maintaining the Building, which shall include, without limitation:
the cost of premiums for all insurance carried by Landlord on the Building, or in connection with the use and occupancy thereof, including but not limited to
all risk, general liability, excess liability, rent loss (including extended rent loss coverage), boiler and equipment, flood and earthquake; the reasonable amount
of any deductible from any insurance claim of Landlord (but only in the event of an actual claim paid and settled); commercially reasonable compensation,
fringe benefits, worker’s compensation insurance premiums and payroll taxes paid to, for or with respect to all persons directly engaged in managing the
Building; the cost of steam, water, sewer, gas, oil and electricity, and other utility charges, excluding such utility charges separately chargeable to tenants,
whether for additional or special services or otherwise; the cost of security and fire protection services, if any; the cost of property level accounting; costs of
compliance with any Legal Requirements (as hereinafter defined) enacted after the Lease Commencement Date applicable to improvements to the Building,
provided, however, that any such cost that constitutes a capital expenditure shall be subject to the amortization requirements applicable to Ordinary Capital
Improvements (as hereinafter defined); and other commercially reasonable expenses paid in connection with the Building and not related to operation,
cleaning, maintenance or repair thereof that are the obligation of Tenant under this Lease.

(b) “Land Operating Expenses” means, without duplicating any cost included in Building Operating Expenses, Landlord’s cost of operating
and maintaining the Land, which shall include, without limitation: premiums for all general liability and excess liability insurance carried by Landlord on the
Land; operational, maintenance and repair costs of easements benefiting the Land (including the cost of operation, maintenance and repair of any water loop
providing fire protection to the Premises); costs of compliance with any Legal Requirements enacted after the Lease Commencement

Date applicable to improvements on the Land other than buildings (including the Building), provided, however, that any such cost that constitutes a capital
expenditure shall be subject to the amortization requirements applicable to Ordinary Capital Improvements; the reasonable amount deductible from any
insurance claim of Landlord (but only in the event of an actual claim paid and settled); commercially reasonable compensation, fringe benefits, worker’s
compensation, insurance premiums and payroll taxes paid to, for or with respect to all persons directly engaged in operating or maintaining the Land; the cost
of landscaping; the cost of maintenance; water, electricity, and other utility charges, excluding such utility charges separately chargeable to tenants, whether
for additional or special services or otherwise; the cost of maintenance, repairs and replacements (other than repairs and replacements reasonably collectible
from contractors under guarantees); the cost of snow, ice and sand removal; payments under service contracts with independent contractors; the cost of any
Ordinary Capital Improvements, provided that the cost of any such Ordinary Capital Improvements shall be amortized over the customary useful life of the
improvement in question, together with interest on the unamortized balance at a rate of ten percent (10%) per annum (the “Interest Rate”); and other
commercially reasonable expenses paid in connection with operation or maintenance of the Land.

(c)  “Ordinary Capital Improvement” means any improvement which (i) is required to be made in order to cause the Building or the Land
to comply with any Legal Requirements enacted after the Lease Commencement Date, or (ii) is a replacement or repair of existing improvements, structures,
systems or equipment necessary to keep the Common Areas in good repair and working order, taking into account the intended life of the relevant
improvement, structure, system or equipment.

(d) The Building Operating Expenses and the Land Operating Expenses are collectively referred to herein as the “Operating Expenses”.
(e)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Operating Expenses:

@i) shall not include any expense of further development of the Land, without limitation, any costs of site work, demolition,
constructing additions to any existing buildings on the Property (including the Building), or new buildings on the Property, or otherwise further developing or
redeveloping the Property;

(i)  shall not include any of the items specified in Exhibit “D”; and
(iii)  shall be subject to the limitations specified in Exhibit “D”.

® With regard to any Operating Expenses that are incurred in connection with any Building service or system that is dedicated solely to
servicing either (i) exclusively the laboratory uses in the Premises, or (ii) the laboratory uses in the Premises collectively with other laboratory uses being
conducted within the Building (“Lab Dedicated Expenses”), such Lab Dedicated Expenses shall be equitably shared among all laboratory space tenants in
the Building benefiting from such service, with respective shares of the Lab Dedicated Expenses being either (i) shared proportionally, based on the square
footage served thereby, if applicable (such as wherever usage is not reasonably measurable by metering or other such measurement method), or (ii) separately
metered (any such metering to be at Landlord’s sole cost and expense) for the various lab spaces being served thereby, but in any case equitably allocated by
Landlord to account for consumption or use of such service or system resource.

5.3  Estimated Payments. Annually, Landlord shall render to Tenant a certified statement (such certification to include that the statement is (a)
accurate and complete and (b) prepared in accordance with the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions of this Lease) in reasonable




detail showing for the preceding calendar year or fraction thereof, as the case may be, the Operating Expenses and Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating
Expenses and prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) consistently applied. The Landlord shall use diligent efforts
to deliver the statement not later than ninety (90) days after the end of each calendar year or fraction thereof at the beginning or at the end of the Lease Term.
Said statement to be rendered to Tenant also shall show for the preceding calendar year or fraction thereof, as the case may be, the amounts of Operating
Expenses already paid by Tenant. If at the time such statement is rendered it is determined with respect to any calendar year that Tenant has paid (i) less than
Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses or (ii) more than Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses, then, in the case of (i) Tenant shall
pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, within thirty (30) days of such statement the amounts of such underpayment and, in the case of (ii) Landlord shall refund
such overpayment to Tenant within thirty (30) days (less any amount then owed to Landlord by Tenant under this Lease, in which case Landlord promptly
shall notify Tenant of such offset). The obligation to make such payment or refund for any partial calendar year at the end of the Lease Term shall survive the
Lease Term. In no event shall Tenant be obligated to make any payment with respect to any Operating Expense first billed to Tenant more than twelve (12)
months after the end of the calendar year in which the Operating Expense was incurred.

5.4  Tenant’s Right to Review. Tenant shall have the right to examine, copy and audit Landlord’s books and records relating to Operating Expenses
and the allocation of expenses made by Landlord establishing Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses for any calendar year for a period of
twelve (12) months following the date that Tenant receives the statement of Operating Expenses and Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses for
such year from Landlord. Tenant shall give Landlord not less than thirty (30) days’ prior notice of its intention to examine and audit such books and records,
and such examination and audit shall take place in the Greater Boston Area at a site mutually agreeable to Landlord and Tenant. All costs of the examination
and audit shall be borne by Tenant; provided, however, that if such examination and audit establishes that the actual Operating Expenses or the amount
allocated to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses for the year in question are less than the amount set forth as the annual Operating Expenses
on the annual statement delivered to Tenant by at least five percent (5%), then Landlord shall pay the reasonable costs of such examination and audit. If,
pursuant to such examination and audit, the payments made for such year by Tenant exceed Tenant’s required payment on account thereof for such calendar
year, Landlord shall promptly refund such overpayment. If the payments made by Tenant for such year are less than Tenant’s required payment as established
by the examination and audit, Tenant shall pay the deficiency to Landlord within thirty (30) days after conclusion of the examination and audit as well as
Landlord’s commercially reasonable out-of-pocket costs in connection with such examination and audit. The obligation to make such payment or refund for
any period within the Lease Term shall survive expiration of the Lease Term. If Tenant does not elect to exercise its right to examine and audit Landlord’s
books and records for any calendar year within the time period provided for by this paragraph, Tenant shall have no further right to challenge Landlord’s
statement of Operating Expenses and Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Operating Expenses with respect to that particular calendar year.

6. UTILITIES AND OTHER SERVICES.
6.1  Utilities. Tenant shall pay, or cause to be paid, directly to the proper authorities charged with the collection thereof, all charges for any utilities or
services directly metered to Tenant used or consumed in the Premises. For those utilities not directly metered to Tenant, to the extent feasible, Landlord shall

either (at Landlord’s sole cost and expense) sub-meter such utility or determine Tenant’s charge for the cost of such utility based on Tenant’s Proportionate
Share of such utility, and shall charge Tenant a utility charge for such service, which such charge shall specifically not be included in the
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Operating Expenses. At the start of the Lease Term, (a) electric service will be provided/charged to Tenant through sub-meters installed by Landlord at
Landlord’s expense; and (b) natural gas service and hot and cold water supply will be provided/charged to Tenant based on Tenant’s Proportionate Share of
such utility as provided above. For all utility charges Landlord will provide a full accounting of utility charges for the whole Building service and any of the
allocated or sub-metered services under the whole Building service. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, if (i) an interruption,
suspension or stoppage of an Essential Service (as hereinafter defined) shall occur, except any of the same caused by the negligence or intentional acts of
Tenant or Tenant’s employees, contractors, agents or invitees, or any person claiming by, through or under Tenant, or due to any Event of Casualty as
provided for in Section 17 (any such interruption of an Essential Service being hereinafter referred to as a “Service Interruption”), and (ii) such Service
Interruption occurs or continues as a result of the negligence or intentional acts of Landlord or Landlord’s employees, contractors, agents or representatives,
and (iii) such Service Interruption continues for more than five (5) consecutive Business Days (as hereinafter defined) after Landlord shall have received
notice thereof from Tenant, and (iv) as a result of such Service Interruption, the conduct of Tenant’s normal business operations in the Premises is materially
and adversely affected, then there shall be an abatement of one day’s Fixed Rent and Additional Rent for each day during which such Service Interruption
continues after such five (5) consecutive Business Day period; provided, however, that if any part of the Premises is reasonably useable for Tenant’s normal
business operations or if Tenant conducts all or any part of its operations in any portion of the Premises notwithstanding such Service Interruption, then the
amount of each daily abatement of Fixed Rent and Additional Rent shall only be proportionate to the nature and extent of the interruption of Tenant’s normal
business operations or ability to use the Premises. For purposes hereof, the term “Essential Service” shall mean each of the following services: access to the
Premises, electric service, natural gas service, hot and cold water supply, sewer / septic service, and HVAC service (to the extent controlled by Landlord).

6.2  Water. Landlord shall provide water for fire protection purposes to the Premises during the Lease Term by means of the existing fire loop system
and City of Waltham hydrants located at the Property, as the same may be improved or replaced from time to time. Landlord shall provide domestic hot and
cold water for the conduct of Tenant’s business, utilizing the existing domestic water booster pumps, so that water pressure of between 80 — 100 pounds per
square inch is delivered to the Premises.

6.3  Business Days and Business Hours. “Business Days” means Monday through Friday, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and federal or state legal
holidays. “Business Hours” means 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on Business Days, and 9:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. on Saturdays.

6.4  Security. Landlord shall provide on-site security services to the Building on a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 52 weeks per year basis. Tenant
shall have access to the Premises and the parking facilities on a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 52 weeks per year basis, with after-hours access provided
via an electronic card access system.

6.5 Cafeteria. Landlord shall provide services to the existing cafeteria located in the Common Areas of the Building (the “Cafeteria”) (whether
operated by Landlord or by an independent contractor) for use by Tenant and other tenants and occupants in the Building; provided, however, that if
Landlord’s (or such contractor as Landlord may employ) commercially reasonable operation of the Cafeteria is sufficiently proven to Tenant to not be
economically viable (i.e., incapable of operating other than at a net loss), as may be confirmed by Tenant’s reasonable review of Landlord’s books and
operating records relating to the Cafeteria, at Tenant’s election, then Landlord shall allow Tenant to either (i) elect to pay to the Cafeteria operator, on a



monthly basis, its pro rata share (based on a fraction, the numerator of which would be the number of Tenant’s employees, and the denominator of which
would be the total number of employees of tenants in the Building that have elected to participate in use of the Cafeteria (the
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“Cafeteria Pro Rata Share”)) of the amount of money required each month to permit the Cafeteria operator’s operation to break even; or (ii) elect not to pay
such amount, in which case Landlord shall be relieved of the obligation to provide an operational Cafeteria. If Tenant elects to pay its Cafeteria Pro Rata
Share, then Landlord shall ensure that the Cafeteria remains operational and in any such month when the Cafeteria operator requires payment of the Cafeteria
Pro Rata Share by Tenant (i.e., operates at a net loss), the Cafeteria operator will provide Tenant with a written statement of income and expenses for Tenant’s
review, along with Tenant’s Cafeteria Pro Rata Share that is due. Landlord agrees that it shall not permit the employees of any tenant of the Building that does
not elect to participate in using the Cafeteria to have access to or use of the Cafeteria and the services provided there. Tenant may elect at any time during the
Lease Term to stop paying such Cafeteria Pro Rata Share to the Cafeteria operator, at which such time Landlord shall be relieved from any obligation to
operate the Cafeteria. The operator of the Cafeteria from time to time may modify the hours of operation, the menu or the method of service; provided,
however, that the Cafeteria will, at a minimum, be open on Business Days for service of breakfast food from 7:30 a.m. to 9:30 a.m. and service of lunch meals
(the lunch menu consisting of at least one hot entree, a cold cut bar and a salad bar each day) from 11:30 a.m. to 1:30 p.m. whenever the Cafeteria is required
to be operational during the Lease Term. Subject to Landlord’s approval (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and
reasonable rules and regulations, and the rights of others in common thereto, Tenant shall have the right to use the Cafeteria for meetings and other functions
during those hours that the Cafeteria is not in operation at no additional charge.

7. SECURITY DEPOSIT; LETTER OF CREDIT.

7.1  Security Deposit. Tenant shall maintain on deposit with Landlord the sum of $3,823,990.00 (or such lower amount as specified for the Letter of
Credit in Section 7.2(a) below) as security (the “Security Deposit”) for the faithful performance and observance by Tenant of the terms, covenants,
conditions, agreements and provisions of this Lease. It is agreed that in the event Tenant defaults (beyond any applicable grace or cure period) in respect of
any of the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements or provisions of this Lease, including, but not limited to, the payment of Fixed Rent and Additional Rent,
Landlord may use, apply or retain the whole or any part of the Security Deposit to the extent required for the payment of Fixed Rent, Additional Rent or any
other sum as to which Tenant is in default or for any sum which Landlord may expend or may be required to expend by reason of Tenant’s default in respect
of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions of this Lease, including, but not limited to, any damages or deficiency in the reletting of
the Premises, whether such damages or deficiency accrued before or after summary proceedings or other re-entry by Landlord. In the event that Tenant shall
fully and faithfully comply with all of the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions of this Lease, the Security Deposit shall be returned to
Tenant, without interest, within sixty (60) days after the date fixed as the end of this Lease and after delivery of entire possession of the Premises to Landlord.
In the event of a sale of the Land and the Building, Landlord shall have the right to either (i) transfer the Security Deposit to Tenant and Landlord shall
thereupon be released by Tenant from all liability for the return of such Security Deposit, or (ii) transfer the Security Deposit to the new landlord in which
case Tenant agrees to look solely to the new landlord for the return of said Security Deposit. Tenant further covenants that it will not assign or encumber or
attempt to assign or encumber the monies deposited herein as the Security Deposit and that neither Landlord nor its successors or assigns shall be bound by
any such assignment, encumbrance, attempted assignment or attempted encumbrance.

In the event of any bankruptcy or other insolvency proceeding against Tenant, it is agreed that the Security Deposit held hereunder shall be deemed to

be applied by Landlord to Rent and other charges due to Landlord for the last month of the Lease Term and each preceding month until such Security Deposit
is fully applied.
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7.2 Letter of Credit.

(a)  Letter of Credit as Security Deposit. Simultaneously with the execution of this Lease, and in lieu of a cash Security Deposit in the amount
of $3,823,990.00, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord (as beneficiary) a Letter of Credit (as hereinbefore defined), a draft of which is attached hereto as Exhibit
“1”, in form and content satisfactory to Landlord in the amount of $3,823,990.00. Provided that, at the time of the reduction of the Letter of Credit as set forth
below, Tenant is not in default (beyond any applicable grace or cure period) of its obligation to pay any installment of Fixed Rent, Additional Rent or any
other sum payable by Tenant hereunder, the Letter of Credit shall be (i) decreased to $3,505,324.17 on the one (1) year anniversary of the Rent
Commencement Date, (ii) decreased to $3,186,658.34 on the two (2) year anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, (iii) decreased to $2,867,992.51 on
the three (3) year anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, (iv) decreased to $2,549,326.68 on the four (4) year anniversary of the Rent Commencement
Date, (v) decreased to $2,230,660.85 on the five (5) year anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, (vi) decreased to $1,911,995.02 on the six (6) year
anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, (vii) decreased to $1,593,329.19 on the seven (7) year anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, and (viii)
decreased to $1,274,663.36 on the eight (8) year anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, which $1,274,663.36 shall become the new Security Deposit /
Letter of Credit required under this Lease for the balance of the Lease Term and any extensions or renewals thereof.

(b)  Requirements of Letter of Credit. The Letter of Credit shall be, among other things: (i) irrevocable and unconditional; (ii) in the amount of
$3,823,990.00 (or such lower amount as specified for the Letter of Credit in Section 7.2(a) above); (iii) conditioned for payment solely upon presentation of
the Letter of Credit and a sight draft, which Letter of Credit shall contain one of the two statements set forth below:

“This drawing in the amount of $ [specify amount] represents funds due under that certain Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) by and between
Intercontinental Fund III 830 Winter Street, LLC (Landlord/Beneficiary) and ImmunoGen, Inc. (Tenant/Applicant) dated July _, 2007 with respect to
the property located at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, Massachusetts 02451. We hereby certify that Tenant/Applicant is in default of the terms of the
Lease (beyond any applicable grace or cure period).” or

“This Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit is scheduled to expire less than thirty (30) days from the date hereof and Tenant/Applicant, which still has
outstanding obligations to Landlord/Beneficiary, has failed to deliver a renewal or replacement Letter of Credit acceptable to Landlord/Beneficiary as
required per the terms of the Lease.”



and (iv) transferable one or more times by Landlord without the consent of Tenant.

(c)  Transfer Fee. Landlord acknowledges and agrees that it shall pay any and all costs or fees charged in connection with the Letter of Credit
that arise due to: (i) Landlord’s sale or transfer of all or a portion of the Building; or (ii) the addition, deletion or modification of any beneficiaries under the
Letter of Credit.

(d)  Issuing Bank. The Letter of Credit shall be issued by a commercial bank, trust company or national banking association, which has
outstanding, unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed indebtedness, or shall have issued a letter of credit or other credit facility that constitutes the primary
security for an outstanding indebtedness (which is otherwise uninsured and unguaranteed), that is then (and thereafter continues to be) rated, without regard to
qualification of such rating by symbols such as
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“+” or “-” or numerical notation “A” or better by Moody’s Investment Service (or its successor) and “A” or better by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service (or
its successor) (and is not on credit-watch or similar credit review with negative implication), and has combined capital, surplus and undivided profits of not
less than $1,000,000,000.00 In the event the issuer of the Letter of Credit is downgraded so that it no longer satisfies the rating requirements set forth in this
Section 7.2 (d), Landlord shall have the right to require Tenant to procure a replacement Letter of Credit from an issuer that satisfies the rating requirements
of this Section 7.2 (d) within fifteen (15) Business Days after Landlord notifies Tenant of such requirement; provided that Landlord shall cooperate with
Tenant in exchanging the existing Letter of Credit for the new Letter of Credit so that Tenant is not required to have two Letters of Credit outstanding
simultaneously. Landlord hereby approves of Tenant’s selection of Bank of America, N.A. as the issuer of the Letter of Credit provided that it satisfies (and
continues to satisfy) the rating requirements set forth in this Section 7.2 (d).

(e)  Expiration of Letter of Credit. The Letter of Credit shall expire not earlier than twelve (12) months after the date of delivery thereof to
Landlord and shall provide that same shall be automatically renewed for successive twelve (12) month periods through a date which is not earlier than sixty
(60) days after the expiration date of this Lease, or any extensions or renewals thereof, unless written notice of nonrenewal has been given by the issuing bank
to Landlord in accordance with Section 31 below not less than sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the current period. If the issuing bank does not renew
the Letter of Credit, and if Tenant does not deliver a substitute Letter of Credit at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of the current period, then, in
addition to its rights granted under Section 7.1 above, Landlord shall have the right to draw on the existing Letter of Credit.

® Draws. Landlord may use, apply or retain the proceeds of the Letter of Credit to the same extent that Landlord may use, apply or retain
the cash Security Deposit, as set forth in Section 7.1 above. Landlord may draw on the Letter of Credit, in whole or in part, from time to time, at Landlord’s
election. If Landlord partially draws down the Letter of Credit, Tenant shall, within ten (10) Business Days after Landlord gives Tenant notice thereof, restore
all amounts drawn by Landlord, or substitute cash security instead.

(g) Cooperation by Tenant. Tenant hereby agrees to cooperate, at its expense (except as set forth in Section 7.2 (c)), with Landlord to
promptly execute and deliver to Landlord any and all modifications, amendments, and replacements of the Letter of Credit, as Landlord may reasonably
request to carry out the terms and conditions of Section 7.2.

8. USE OF PREMISES. Except as otherwise set forth in this Lease, Tenant acknowledges and agrees that Landlord makes no representations as to the
present or future legally permissible uses of the Premises. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, promptly apply for and obtain all licenses and permits
from time to time required to enable Tenant to conduct its business under this Lease. No failure of Tenant to obtain or to maintain any such licenses and
permits (or extensions or renewals thereof) shall release Tenant from the faithful performance and observance by Tenant of the terms, covenants, conditions,
agreements and provisions of this Lease.

8.1  Permitted Uses. Tenant covenants and agrees to use and occupy the Premises only for general, administrative and executive offices, research and
development, laboratory uses (including, without limitation, animal testing), and other customary uses accessory to the foregoing (the “Permitted Uses”).
Tenant shall use and occupy the Premises only for the Permitted Uses and shall not use or occupy the Premises for any other purpose without Landlord’s prior
written consent.

14

8.2  Prohibited Uses. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.1 above, Tenant shall not use the Premises or allow the Premises to be used (a) so
as to violate any of the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions of this Lease; (b) for any illegal purpose; (c) which, in the reasonable
judgment of Landlord (taking into account the use of the Building as an office and laboratory facility and the Permitted Uses), shall (i) impair the appearance
or reputation of the Building as a first-class office and laboratory facility, or (ii) overload, impair, interfere with or otherwise diminish the quality of any of the
Building systems or services, or (iii) place any loads upon the floors, walls or ceiling which endanger the Building structure, or (iv) use any machinery or
equipment in the Premises or the Building which causes excessive noise or vibration, or (v) cause any unusual, objectionable or harmful emissions or odors to
emanate from the Premises, or (vi) place any harmful fluids or other materials in the drainage system of the Building, or (vii) cause any waste materials or
refuse to be disposed of or permitted to remain outside of the Premises except in trash containers placed inside exterior enclosures designated by Landlord for
that purpose, or (d) so as to constitute a private or public nuisance, or unreasonably disturb other occupants of the Building in a manner and to a degree that is
inconsistent with the Permitted Uses hereunder (collectively, the “Prohibited Uses”).

8.3  Hazardous Materials.

(@) Hazardous Materials. Tenant agrees not to generate, store or use any Hazardous Materials (as hereinafter defined) on or about the
Premises, except such Hazardous Materials in such amounts (i) customarily used by Tenant in connection with its Permitted Uses, (ii) customarily used in
connection with providing janitorial services to the Premises, and (iii) in both cases, limited to Tenant’s proportionate share of Hazardous Materials
(“Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Hazardous Materials™) as defined in Section 8.3 (d) below, and in compliance with the Massachusetts State Building
Code (780 C.M.R.) and any applicable Legal Requirements. Tenant agrees to provide Landlord with electronic access to copies of all Material Safety Data



Sheets (“MSDS”) for Hazardous Materials used at the commencement of the Lease Term and to provide electronic access to copies of MSDS upon the
introduction of any new Hazardous Materials. Tenant also agrees not to release or permit any Tenant Responsible Parties (as hereinafter defined) to release
any Hazardous Materials in the Premises in violation of or that requires reporting under any Environmental Law, and not to dispose of Hazardous Materials
(a) in the Premises or (b) from the Property to any other location except a properly approved disposal facility and then only in compliance with any and all
Environmental Laws regulating such activity, nor permit any occupant of the Premises to do so. In accordance with Section 9 below, Tenant shall indemnify,
defend, and hold harmless Landlord, and the holder of any mortgage on the Premises or any larger parcel of land of which the Premises may be a part, from
and against any claim, cost, expense, liability, loss, obligation or damage, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees and the cost of litigation,
arising from or relating to the breach by Tenant or anyone claiming by, through or under Tenant of the provisions of this Section 8.3 (a), and shall
immediately discharge or cause to be discharged any lien imposed upon the Premises or any larger parcel of land of which the Premises may be a part in
connection with any such claim. For purposes of this Lease, “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any substance regulated under any Environmental Law,
including those substances defined in 42 U.S.C. Sec. 9601(14) or any related or applicable federal, state or local statute, law, regulation, or ordinance,
pollutants of contaminants (as defined in 42 U.S.C. Sec. 9601(33), petroleum (including crude oil or any fraction thereof), any form of natural or synthetic
gas, sludge (as defined in 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6903(26A), radioactive substances, hazardous waste (as defined in 42 U.S.C. Sec. 6903(27)) and any other
hazardous wastes, hazardous substances, contaminants, pollutants or materials as defined, regulated or described in any of the Environmental Laws. As used
in this Lease, “Environmental Laws” means all federal, state and local laws relating to the protection of the environment or health and safety, and any rule
or regulation promulgated thereunder and any order, standard, interim regulation, moratorium, policy or guideline of or pertaining to any federal, state or local
government, department or agency, including but
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not limited to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (“CERCLA”), the Superfund Amendments
and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (“SARA”), the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Occupational Safety and Health
Act, the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act, the Marine Protection, Research, and Sanctuaries Act, the National Environmental Policy Act,
the Noise Control Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), as amended, the Hazardous Material
Transportation Act, the Refuse Act, the Uranium Mill Tailings Radiation Control Act and the Atomic Energy Act and regulations of the Nuclear Regulatory
Agency, Massachusetts General Laws Chapters 21C and 21E and any other state and local counterparts or related statutes, laws, regulations, and order and
treaties of the United States.

(b)  Environmental Assessments. Tenant shall permit Landlord and Landlord’s employees, contractors, agents and representatives (including,
without limitation, legal counsel and environmental engineers and consultants) access to the Premises during the Lease Term at a mutually agreed upon time
such that Landlord’s visit will not unreasonably disturb Tenant’s lab conditions; provided, however, that such access will not occur more than five (5)
Business Days after Landlord’s notice to Tenant requesting access to the Premises for purposes of conducting environmental assessments. Landlord shall
permit Tenant or Tenant’s representatives to be present during any such assessment, investigation and sampling. Landlord shall avoid materially interfering
with Tenant’s use of the Premises, and upon completion of Landlord’s assessment, investigation and sampling, shall substantially repair and restore the
affected areas of the Premises from any damage caused by the assessment to the condition existing prior thereto. Such assessment shall be at Landlord’s
expense; provided, however, that if the assessment shows that a release of Hazardous Materials by Tenant in violation of this Lease has occurred, then
Landlord’s commercially reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses relating to such assessment shall be reimbursed by Tenant. Landlord shall permit
Tenant or Tenant’s representatives to be present during any test conducted as part of such assessment. If Landlord takes any samples from the Property in
connection with any such assessment, Landlord shall give Tenant reasonable prior notice thereof and Tenant shall be permitted to take split samples, and, if
Tenant so requests, Landlord shall provide to Tenant a portion of any sample being tested to allow Tenant, if Tenant so chooses, to perform its own testing.
Landlord agrees that it shall disclose any of Tenant’s proprietary information in connection with the testing only to those entities and individuals necessary to
conduct the environmental assessments.

(c)  Tenant’s Obligation to Remediate. Tenant shall investigate, assess, monitor and report as required by applicable Environmental Law, at
Tenant’s sole cost and expense, any release of Hazardous Materials required to be reported under any Environmental Law that arises out of the use, operation,
or occupancy of the Premises or the Property by Tenant or any Tenant Responsible Parties during the Lease Term and any further period during which Tenant
or any Tenant Responsible Party retains use, operation or occupancy of the Premises (a “Tenant’s Release”). Further, Tenant shall remediate, in compliance
with applicable Environmental Laws, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, any Tenant’s Release requiring Response Action (as defined in 310 C.M.R. 40.0000).
Tenant shall submit to Landlord for Landlord’s prior approval a work plan outlining in reasonable detail any Response Action, remedial work, excavation,
treatment, drilling, pumping, site restoration, monitoring or any other similar action (the “Remedial Work”) to be performed by Tenant hereunder (the
“Remedial Work Plan”). Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its approval of such Remedial Work Plan if (i) it complies with all applicable
Environmental Laws; and (ii) the Remedial Work outlined therein reasonably appears sufficient to remediate the releases to the level provided for in this
Section. If Tenant is obligated to remediate a Tenant’s Release under this Lease, Tenant shall be obligated to remediate Tenant’s Release in accordance with
all Legal Requirements and Environmental Laws, and to the condition existing prior thereto. Tenant shall make available to Landlord copies of drafts of any
submittals to governmental
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authorities in connection with the Remedial Work for Landlord’s review and comment at least seven (7) days prior to such submittal, and Tenant shall
consider in good faith and incorporate as Tenant reasonably deems appropriate Landlord’s comments thereon. Tenant shall sign any manifests or other
documents as the waste generator for any Hazardous Materials it disposes of or sends off site or otherwise arising from a Tenant’s Release. This Section 8.3
(c) shall survive the Lease Term and shall be subject to the provisions of Section 9. Tenant’s remediation obligation set forth in this Section 8.3 (c) shall not
limit Landlord’s right to damages, if any, which Landlord may incur due to any unremediated Hazardous Materials resulting from a Tenant’s Release.

(d) Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Hazardous Materials.
@) Basement. Tenant acknowledges that there are presently three (3) control areas (“Basement Control Areas”) in the Basement of

the Building. Presently, one (1) Basement Control Area is assigned to Praecis Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, who occupies 1,781 rentable square feet in the
Basement, and the remaining two (2) Basement Control Areas shall be shared by all tenants (including Tenant hereunder) occupying the remaining 2,211



rentable square feet in the Basement. Tenant shall be entitled to maintain Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Hazardous Materials of the remaining Basement
Control Areas, which shall mean 59.11%, which is a fraction, the numerator of which shall be 1,307 rentable square feet (representing Tenant’s Basement
Premises) and the denominator of which shall be 2,211 rentable square feet (representing the total rentable area of the Basement minus Praecis
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated’s Basement Premises).

(i)  First Floor. Tenant acknowledges that there are presently four (4) control areas (“First Floor Control Areas”) on the First Floor of
the Building. Presently, one (1) First Floor Control Area is assigned to Praecis Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, who occupies the West Wing of the First Floor,
and the remaining three (3) First Floor Control Areas shall be shared by all tenants (including Tenant hereunder) occupying the South and East Wings of the
First Floor. Tenant shall be entitled to maintain Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Hazardous Materials of the remaining First Floor Control Areas, which shall
mean 100.00%, which is a fraction, the numerator of which shall be 34,986 rentable square feet (representing Tenant’s First Floor Premises) and the
denominator of which shall be 34,986 rentable square feet (representing the total rentable area of the South and East Wings of the First Floor).

(iii)  Second Floor. Tenant acknowledges that there are presently three (3) control areas (“Second Floor Control Areas”) on the Second
Floor of the Building. Presently, one (1) Second Floor Control Area is assigned to Praecis Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, who occupies the West Wing of the
Second Floor, and the remaining two (2) Second Floor Control Areas shall be shared by all tenants (including Tenant hereunder) occupying the South and
East Wings of the Second Floor. Tenant shall be entitled to maintain Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Hazardous Materials of the remaining Second Floor
Control Areas, which shall mean 100.00%, which is a fraction, the numerator of which shall be 38,511 rentable square feet (representing Tenant’s Second
Floor Premises) and the denominator of which shall be 38,511 rentable square feet (representing the total rentable area of the South and East Wings of the
Second Floor).

(iv)  Third Floor. Tenant acknowledges that there are presently two (2) control areas (“Third Floor Control Areas”) on the Third Floor
of the Building. Presently, one (1) Third Floor Control Area is assigned to Praecis Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, who occupies the West Wing of the Third
Floor, and the remaining one (1) Third Floor Control Area shall be shared by all tenants (including Tenant hereunder) occupying the South and East Wings of
the Third Floor. Tenant shall be entitled to maintain Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Hazardous Materials of the remaining Third
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Floor Control Area, which shall mean 36.22%, which is a fraction, the numerator of which shall be 14,126 rentable square feet (representing Tenant’s Third
Floor Premises) and the denominator of which shall be 38,997 rentable square feet (representing the total rentable area of the South and East Wings of the
Third Floor).

8.4  Compliance with Legal and Insurance Requirements.

(@) Legal Requirements. Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, agrees to comply with any and all Legal Requirements applicable to the
use, operation or occupancy of the Premises by Tenant or Tenant’s employees, contractors, agents, invitees or others for whom Tenant is legally responsible
(collectively, with Tenant, “Tenant Responsible Parties”) or any Alterations made by or on behalf of Tenant or any Tenant Responsible Parties, and to
provide Landlord with a copy of any notice alleging violation of any such Legal Requirement given to Tenant by any governmental authority or third party;
except that Tenant may defer compliance so long as the validity of any such Legal Requirement shall be contested by Tenant in good faith and by appropriate
legal proceedings, if such contest would not subject Landlord to any possible civil or criminal penalties and such consent would not place Landlord in default
under any mortgage applicable to the Premises, and if Tenant first gives Landlord appropriate assurance in Landlord’s reasonable judgment against any loss,
cost or expense on account thereof. If any present or future Legal Requirement requires any licenses or permits for Tenant’s or any Tenant Responsible Party’s
particular use, operation and occupancy of the Premises, Tenant will obtain and maintain such licenses and permits at Tenant’s own expense, and, upon
Landlord’s request, will promptly provide copies to Landlord of all such licenses and permits. If any Legal Requirement requires any Alterations to the
Premises, Tenant shall make all such Alterations at its sole cost and expense and in compliance with the terms hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant
shall not be required to make any improvements which would be considered Ordinary Capital Improvements or any structural Alterations to the Premises
unless the same result from (i) Tenant’s particular use of the Premises, or (ii) Alterations to the Premises made by or on behalf of Tenant or any Tenant
Responsible Parties.

(b)  Insurance Requirements. Tenant shall not do anything, or permit anything to be done, in or about the Premises that would: (i) invalidate or
be in conflict with the provisions of or cause any increase in the applicable rates for any fire or other insurance policies covering the Building or any property
located therein (unless Tenant pays for such increased costs), (ii) result in a refusal by fire insurance companies of good standing to insure the Building or any
such property in amounts reasonably satisfactory to Landlord (which amounts shall be comparable to the amounts required by comparable landlords of
comparable buildings), or (iii) result in the cancellation of any policy of insurance maintained by or for the benefit of Landlord. Tenant, at Tenant’s expense,
shall comply with all rules, orders, regulations or requirements of the American Insurance Association (formerly the National Board of Fire Underwriters) and
with any similar body that shall hereafter perform the function of such Association.

9. INDEMNIFICATION. Tenant covenants and agrees to exonerate, indemnify, defend, protect and save Landlord, Landlord’s managing agent and
Landlord’s mortgagee (if any) (collectively, with Landlord, “Landlord Parties”) harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, expenses, losses,
suits and damages as may be occasioned by reason of (i) any accident, injury or damage occurring in or about the Premises causing injury to persons or
damage to property (including, without limitation, the Premises) unless such accident, injury or damage results from the negligence or otherwise tortious act
of Landlord or Landlord Parties, or Landlord’s other employees or contractors; and (ii) the failure of Tenant to fully and faithfully perform the obligations and
observe the conditions of this Lease.
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10. CONSTRUCTION.

10.1 Landlord’s Work.



(@)  Base Building Specifications. Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, shall perform the base building work (“Landlord’s Work”)
specified in the “Base Building Specifications”, attached hereto as Exhibit “J”. The Base Building Specifications shall include any items listed in the
column labeled “Owner” in the Scope Allocation Matrix included in the “Tenant Design Manual”, attached hereto as Exhibit “K”. Subject to delays due to
governmental regulation, unusual scarcity of or inability to obtain labor or materials, labor difficulties, casualty or other causes reasonably beyond Landlord’s
control (collectively, “Landlord’s Force Majeure”) and Tenant Delay (as hereinafter defined), Landlord shall use reasonable care and diligence to complete
Landlord’s Work as quickly and efficiently as possible, but Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord for failure to complete Landlord’s Work; provided,
however, that if Landlord does not Substantially Complete (as hereinafter defined) Landlord’s Work on or before March 1, 2008 (“Landlord’s Outside
Completion Date”) (except for delays due to Landlord’s Force Majeure or Tenant Delay), then the Rent Commencement Date shall be extended one day for
each day beyond Landlord’s Outside Completion Date until Landlord’s Work is Substantially Complete.

(b)  Substantial Completion of Landlord’s Work. Landlord’s Work shall be deemed “Substantially Complete” when Landlord’s architect
certifies that Landlord’s Work has been completed (Punchlist Items excepted) in accordance with the Base Building Specifications, attached hereto as Exhibit
“J”‘

(c)  Tenant Delay. A “Tenant Delay” shall be defined as any act or omission by Tenant, or any employee, agent, representative, consultant,
contractor or subcontractor of Tenant, which causes an actual delay in the performance of Landlord’s Work. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no event shall be
deemed to be a Tenant Delay until and unless Landlord has given Tenant written notice (the “Tenant Delay Notice”) advising Tenant: (i) that a Tenant Delay
is occurring, (ii) of the basis on which Landlord has determined that a Tenant Delay is occurring, and (iii) the actions which Landlord believes that Tenant
must take to eliminate such Tenant Delay and Tenant has failed to correct Tenant Delay specified in Tenant Delay Notice within forty-eight (48) hours
following receipt of Tenant Delay Notice (unless, if such Tenant Delay cannot be cured within said forty-eight (48) hours, Tenant has taken steps within said
forty-eight (48) hours to correct the Tenant Delay, and diligently completes the same in a reasonable period). No period of time prior to the expiration of the
cure period shall be included in the period of time charged to Tenant pursuant to such Tenant Delay Notice.

(d) Landlord Delay. A “Landlord Delay” shall be defined as any act or omission by Landlord, or any employee, agent, representative,
consultant, contractor or subcontractor of Landlord, which causes an actual delay in the performance of Tenant’s Work. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no
event shall be deemed to be a Landlord Delay until and unless Tenant has given Landlord written notice (the “Landlord Delay Notice”) advising Landlord:
(i) that a Landlord Delay is occurring, (ii) of the basis on which Tenant has determined that a Landlord Delay is occurring, and (iii) the actions which Tenant
believes that Landlord must take to eliminate such Landlord Delay and Landlord has failed to correct Landlord Delay specified in Landlord Delay Notice
within forty-eight (48) hours following receipt of Landlord Delay Notice (unless, if such Landlord Delay cannot be cured within said forty-eight (48) hours,
Landlord has taken steps within said forty-eight (48) hours to correct the Landlord Delay, and diligently completes the same in a reasonable period). No
period of time prior to expiration of the cure period shall be included in the period of time charged to Landlord pursuant to such Landlord Delay Notice.

(e)  Repair of Defective Work. Landlord agrees that it shall, without cost to Tenant, correct any portion of Landlord’s Work which is found not
to be in accordance with the requirements set
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forth in Section 10.3 (unless Tenant has previously given Landlord a written acceptance of such condition); provided, however, that Tenant gives Landlord
written notice of such condition in accordance with the provisions of Section 31 promptly after it becomes aware of such condition. The provisions of this
Section 10.1 (e) shall not relieve Landlord of any obligation which Landlord has to perform maintenance or make repairs pursuant to Section 13 of this Lease.

(f)  Punchlist Items. Promptly following delivery of the Premises to Tenant with Landlord’s Work with respect thereto Substantially
Complete, Landlord, Tenant and their respective Construction Representatives shall inspect the Premises and mutually prepare a list of outstanding items
which need to be completed to make Landlord’s Work comply with the Base Building Specifications (“Punchlist Items”). Landlord shall use good faith to
complete all Punchlist Items within sixty (60) days of the date of the Punchlist. If Landlord fails to complete any Punchlist Items as a result of Landlord’s
Force Majeure or Tenant Delay, Landlord shall have such additional time as is reasonably necessary to complete the delayed Punchlist Items.

10.2 Tenant’s Work.

(@)  Tenant Plans. In connection with the performance of the work necessary to prepare the Premises for Tenant’s occupancy (“Tenant’s
Work”), Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall submit to Landlord for Landlord’s reasonable approval an initial set of permit plans sufficient to
permit Tenant to commence Tenant’s Work (the “Permit Plans™) within sixty (60) days of the mutual execution and delivery of this Lease (the “Lease
Date”) (the “Permit Plans Delivery Date”) and a full set of construction drawings (the “Final Construction Drawings”) for Tenant’s Work within sixty
(60) days of Landlord’s approval of the Permit Plans (the “Final Construction Drawings Delivery Date”). The Permit Plans and the Final Construction
Drawings are collectively referred to herein as the “Tenant Plans” and are attached hereto as Exhibit “L”. Landlord hereby approves Tenant’s proposed
plans (“Tenant’s Proposed Plans”), as shown on Exhibit “Q” attached hereto and made part of hereof. Landlord’s approval of the Permit Plans and the
Final Construction Drawings (provided that the Permit Plans are consistent with Tenant’s Proposed Plans and that the Final Construction Drawings are
consistent with the Permit Plans), shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed provided the same comply with the requirements to avoid
aesthetic or other conflicts with the design and function of the balance of the Building. Landlord’s approval is solely given for the benefit of Landlord under
Section 10.2 and neither Tenant nor any third party shall have the right to rely upon Landlord’s approval of the Tenant Plans for any other purpose
whatsoever. Without limiting the foregoing, Tenant shall be responsible for all elements of the design of the Tenant Plans (including, without limitation,
compliance with law, functionality of design, the structural integrity of the design, the configuration of the Premises and the placement of Tenant’s furniture,
fixtures and equipment), and Landlord’s approval of the Tenant Plans shall in no event relieve Tenant of the responsibility for such design. Landlord agrees to
cooperate with Tenant and sign any necessary permit applications required for Tenant’s Work. Landlord agrees to use its best efforts to respond to any request
for approval of the Permit Plans, the Final Construction Drawings or any other request requiring Landlord’s consent with respect to Tenant’s Work within five
(5) Business Days of receipt thereof. Landlord’s failure to respond to any such request within seven (7) Business Days shall constitute a Landlord Delay.

(b) Commencement of Tenant’s Work. Tenant shall use reasonable care and diligence to complete Tenant’s Work as quickly and efficiently as
possible.

(c)  Substantial Completion of Tenant’s Work. Tenant’s Work shall be deemed “Substantially Complete” when Tenant’s architect certifies
that Tenant’s Work has been completed (Punchlist Items excepted) in accordance with the Tenant Plans, attached hereto as Exhibit “L”.
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(d)  Cost of Tenant’s Work; Priority of Work. Except for the Construction Allowance, as set forth in Section 10.4, all of Tenant’s Work shall be
performed at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and shall be performed in accordance with the provisions of this Lease (including, without limitation, Sections
11 and 28). Tenant and Landlord shall each take reasonable measures to ensure that Tenant’s contractors and Landlord’s contractors cooperate in all
commercially reasonable ways with each other to avoid any delay in either Landlord’s Work or Tenant’s Work or any conflict with the performance of either
Landlord’s Work or Tenant’s Work, Tenant acknowledging, however, that in the case of conflict that is not reasonably avoidable, the performance of
Landlord’s Work shall have priority. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, within thirty (30) days after demand therefor, for any out-of-pocket expenses (including
third-party charges) incurred by Landlord in connection with the performance of Tenant’s Work. Tenant shall have access to the Premises and the Building on
a 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 52 weeks per year basis in order to perform Tenant’s Work from and after the Lease Commencement Date. Landlord and
Tenant recognize that to the extent Tenant elects to perform some or all of Tenant’s Work during times other than normal construction hours, Landlord will
need to make arrangements to have supervisory personnel on site, Accordingly, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows: Tenant shall give Landlord at least
twenty-four (24) hours’ notice of any time outside of normal construction hours (i.e., 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, excluding Saturdays,
Sundays and federal or state legal holidays) when Tenant intends to perform portions of Tenant’s Work (the “After-Hours Work”). If (i) Tenant performs
After-Hours Work, and (ii) such After-Hours Work involves access to occupied tenant areas, the roof, Common Areas or structure of the Building (including
any of the Building systems or services), then Tenant shall reimburse Landlord, within thirty (30) days after demand therefor, for the cost of Landlord’s
supervisory personnel overseeing the After-Hours Work at the rate of $50.00 per hour.

10.3 Quality and Performance of Work. All construction work required or permitted by this Lease (whether constituting part of Landlord’s Work,
Tenant’s Work or Tenant’s Alterations) shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner by contractors approved by Landlord and in compliance with the
building rules and regulations (“Building Rules and Regulations”) and construction rules and regulations (“Construction Rules and Regulations”)
(collectively known and attached hereto as Exhibit “F”), all insurance requirements of this Lease, and any and all applicable laws, statutes, codes,
ordinances, orders, rules, regulations, conditions of approval and requirements, of all federal, state, county, municipal and other governmental authorities,
including the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”) (collectively, “Legal Requirements”). Landlord hereby approves Tenant’s
selection of Olson Lewis Dioli & Doktor Architects and Planners, Inc. (“Tenant’s Architect”), AHA Consulting Engineers, Inc. (“Tenant’s Engineer”), and
The Richmond Group (“Tenant’s Contractor”) (each a “Construction Representative”; collectively, “Construction Representatives”) in connection with
the performance of Tenant’s Work. Each party authorizes the other party to rely upon the written approval or other written authorizations of any Construction
Representative of the party designated by the party in connection with design and construction. All construction work shall be coordinated with any work
being performed by, or for, Landlord, and in such a manner as to maintain harmonious labor relations.

10.4 Construction Allowance.

(@)  As an inducement to Tenant’s entering into this Lease, Landlord shall provide to Tenant a tenant improvement allowance of up to $150.00
per rentable square foot of the Premises demised to Tenant (i.e., a maximum of $13,339,500.00 based on 88,930 rentable square feet) (the “Construction
Allowance”) to be used by Tenant to pay for the cost to construct Tenant’s Work. Landlord and Tenant specifically agree that Tenant may apply no more than
$15.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises demised to Tenant (i.e., a maximum of $1,333,950.00 based on 88,930 rentable
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square feet) towards “soft costs” (including, but not limited to, architect’s and engineer’s fees) or furniture, fixtures and equipment (“FFE”) expenses.

(b) Landlord shall pay Landlord’s Proportion (as hereinafter defined) of the cost shown on each requisition (as hereinafter defined) submitted
by Tenant to Landlord within thirty (30) days of submission thereof until the entirety of the Construction Allowance has been exhausted. If requested by
Tenant, Landlord shall pay Landlord’s Proportion directly to Tenant’s contractors, vendors, service providers and consultants; provided, however, such
arrangement is acceptable to Landlord’s mortgagee (if any). For purposes of Tenant’s Work, “Landlord’s Proportion” shall be a fraction, the numerator of
which is the Construction Allowance, and the denominator of which is the total contract price for Tenant’s Work. A “requisition” shall mean written
documentation, including, without limitation, (i) invoices from Tenant’s contractors, vendors, service providers and consultants, and such other
documentation as Landlord may reasonably request, showing in reasonable detail the cost of the items in question or improvements installed to date in the
Premises, accompanied by certifications from Tenant that the amount of the requisition in question is true and correct and does not exceed the cost of the
items or improvements covered by such requisition; and (ii) evidence that all of Tenant’s Work and other work done by or on behalf of Tenant which could
give rise to any mechanic’s or materialman’s liens has been paid for in full and that any and all liens therefor that have been or may be filed have been
satisfied of record or waived (“Lien Waivers”) with respect to the prior month’s requisition. Landlord shall have the right, upon reasonable advance notice to
Tenant, to inspect Tenant’s books and records relating to each requisition in order to verify the amount thereof.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein:

@) Tenant shall not submit requisitions, nor shall Landlord have any obligation to advance funds on account of the Construction
Allowance, more often than once per month.

(ii)  If Tenant fails to pay the amounts paid by Landlord to Tenant in the prior month’s requisition to Tenant’s contractors, vendors,
service providers and consultants, Landlord shall thereafter have the right to have the Construction Allowance paid directly to Tenant’s contractors, vendors,
service providers and consultants.

(iii)  Inno event shall the Construction Allowance be applied to any fees paid to Tenant or a Biotech Affiliated Entity (as hereinafter
defined).

(iv) Landlord shall have no obligation to pay any portion of the Construction Allowance with respect to any requisition submitted after
the date which is one hundred eighty (180) days after the completion of Tenant’s Work (the “Outside Requisition Date”); provided, however, that if Tenant
certifies to Landlord that it is engaged in a good faith dispute with a contractor, vendor, service provider or consultant, such Outside Requisition Date shall be
extended while such dispute is ongoing, so long as Tenant is diligently pursuing the resolution of such dispute. Tenant shall not be entitled to receive any



portion of the Construction Allowance except to the extent that it has submitted requisitions, and/or made demand therefor, on or before the Outside
Requisition Date.

(v)  Inaddition to all other requirements hereof, Landlord’s obligation to pay the final requisition of the Construction Allowance shall
be subject to simultaneous delivery of all Lien Waivers in connection with Tenant’s Work.

10.5 Conversion of Construction Allowance. If the total contract price for Tenant’s Work shall be less than the Construction Allowance, then Tenant
shall be entitled to apply any unused amount
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up to $15.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises demised to Tenant (i.e., a maximum of $1,333,950.00 based on 88,930 rentable square feet) in equal
amounts towards the first twelve (12) monthly installments of the Annual Fixed Rent due hereunder.

10.6 INTENTIONALLY DELETED

10.7 Management Fee. In consideration of Landlord’s costs associated with the review and supervision of Tenant’s Work, Tenant shall pay to
Landlord a $25,000.00 management fee (the “Management Fee”) to be paid in five (5) equal monthly installments of $5,000.00 each on (i) October 1, 2007,
(ii) November 1, 2007, (iii) December 1, 2007, (iv) January 1, 2008, and (v) February 1, 2008. Other than the cost of Landlord’s supervisory personnel
overseeing the After-Hours Work provided for in Section 10.2 (d), Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that the Management Fee shall be inclusive of all of
Landlord’s costs associated with the review and supervision of Tenant’s Work, and that no other payment relating to the same shall be due by Tenant to
Landlord.

10.8 Completion of Tenant’s Work. Prior to Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises (or any part thereof), Tenant shall furnish evidence satisfactory to
Landlord that all of Tenant’s Work is Substantially Complete and that the Premises are ready for Tenant’s occupancy in accordance with the provisions of this
Lease. Such evidence shall specifically include, but shall not be limited to, copies of any “certificate(s) of occupancy” and/or “occupancy permit(s)” for the
Premises required by the City of Waltham (or the applicable governmental authority). Tenant shall also provide Landlord, not later than thirty (30) days after
Tenant takes occupancy of the Premises, with detailed “as built” drawings of the Premises, certified by Tenant’s Architect to be true and correct.
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, and in connection with a “phased” construction schedule, Tenant may occupy the Premises (or a
portion of the Premises) at any time after the Lease Commencement Date, regardless of whether or not the Rent Commencement Date has occurred, as long
as Tenant has complied with the provisions of this Section 10.8 and this Lease with respect to the Premises (or the portion or the Premises) desired to be
occupied.

11. ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS OR IMPROVEMENTS BY TENANT.

11.1  Alterations by Tenant. Other than Tenant’s Work, which shall be governed by the provisions of Section 10 above, Tenant shall not make any
alterations, additions, improvements or other changes in or to the Premises (“Alterations”) without Landlord’s prior written consent (such consent not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed); provided, however, that if the proposed Alterations will adversely affect the structural integrity of the
Building, or the Building systems (including, but not limited to, the electric, HVAC, plumbing, telecommunication and security systems), Landlord may
withhold its consent to such Alterations in Landlord’s sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the consent of Landlord shall not be required with
respect to any Alterations costing less than $100,000.00 in any given instance that do not perforate or penetrate the roof or other exterior portions of the
Building in question and do not adversely affect the structural integrity of the Building or the Building systems. Without limitation, it shall not be
unreasonable for Landlord to withhold its consent to any Alterations which would impose on Landlord any special maintenance, repair or replacement
obligations not within the scope of those expressly provided for herein, unless Tenant agrees, at the time of its request for approval or notice of such
Alterations, to pay all costs associated with Landlord’s meeting the additional obligations. All Alterations shall be subject to the provisions of Sections 11.2
and 11.3 below.
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11.2 Additional Covenants Regarding Alterations.

(a)  All Alterations shall be made (i) at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, (ii) according to plans and specifications approved in writing by
Landlord (to the extent plans, specifications, and/or Landlord’s consent is required), (iii) in compliance with all Legal Requirements, (iv) by a licensed
contractor, and (v) in a good and workmanlike manner. For any Alterations which require plans to be submitted in connection with building permit or building
code requirements, Tenant shall provide Landlord with copies of any such required plans, regardless of whether the Alterations require Landlord’s consent
hereunder.

(b)  Tenant shall keep the Premises and the Building free from any liens arising out of any work performed, materials ordered or obligations
incurred by or on behalf of Tenant. Without limitation, Tenant shall be responsible for, and shall pay when due, all costs associated with the preparation of
plans and the performance of Alterations, and the same shall be performed in a lien-free, good and workmanlike manner, and in compliance with all Legal
Requirements. In the event that Tenant shall fail to pay the costs associated with Alterations on a timely basis, and as a result of such failure, a statutory
and/or common law lien is asserted against the Premises or the Building, and Tenant shall fail, within ten (10) days after notice of such assertion, to cause (by
payment, posting of a proper bond, or otherwise) such lien to be released of record, Landlord shall have the right (but not the obligation), at Tenant’s expense,
to cause such lien to be bonded over or released of record.

(c)  Tenant shall ensure that all contractors and subcontractors performing Alterations are insured in amounts required by law. If Landlord
requests, certificates of such insurance shall be delivered to Landlord. Tenant’s obligation to exonerate, indemnify, defend, protect and save Landlord and
Landlord Parties harmless, as set forth in Section 9, shall include without limitation all activities and work done by and on behalf of Tenant pursuant to
Sections 10 and 11, and shall commence on the date of execution hereof.



(d)  Tenant agrees that Landlord shall have the right to examine and inspect any Alterations; provided, however, that no such examination or
inspection shall constitute an approval or warranty or give rise to any liability of Landlord with respect to any thereof. In the performance of Alterations in
accordance with this Lease, Tenant shall cause its contractors to use reasonable and diligent efforts not to interfere with ongoing operations on the rest of the
Property outside of the Premises, to keep all construction areas clean and free of trash and debris, and to otherwise comply with any other reasonable rules
and regulations established by Landlord with regard to construction activities.

(e)  Tenant shall provide copies of any warranties for Alterations and the materials and equipment which are incorporated into the Premises
and the Building in connection therewith, and either assign to Landlord, or enforce on Landlord’s behalf, all such warranties to the extent repairs and/or
maintenance on warranted items would be covered by such warranties and are otherwise Landlord’s responsibility under this Lease.

11.3 Removal of Alterations. Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing at the time of Landlord’s approval of any Alterations, whether or not the
proposed Alterations will be required to be removed by Tenant at the end of the Lease Term. Tenant shall be obligated to remove any Alterations that
Landlord has not designated in writing will be permitted to remain in the Premises in accordance with Section 28.

12. TENANT MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR. Except as otherwise provided for in this Lease, Tenant agrees to keep the Premises in good order,
condition and repair excepting only those repairs for which Landlord is responsible under the terms of this Lease, reasonable wear and tear, fire and other
casualty excepted. Specifically, Tenant shall be responsible for the maintenance of the Premises and for the repair and replacement of any part of the Premises
and the Building made necessary by reason of
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damage thereto caused by the negligence or intentional acts of Tenant or Tenant’s employees, contractors, agents or invitees. In the event Tenant shall fail to
perform such maintenance, repairs or replacements within thirty (30) days of the date such work becomes necessary, Landlord may, but shall not be required
to, perform such work and charge the amount of the expenses therefor, with interest accruing and payable thereon, in accordance with Section 22 below.

13. LANDLORD MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR. Except as otherwise provided for in this Lease, Landlord agrees to keep in good order, condition and
repair the roof, public areas, exterior walls (including exterior glass) and structure of the Building (including all plumbing, mechanical and electrical systems
installed by Landlord, but specifically excluding any supplemental HVAC equipment or systems exclusively serving the Premises and installed at Tenant’s
request or as a result of Tenant’s requirements in excess of building standard design criteria), all insofar as they affect the Premises, except that Landlord shall
in no event be responsible to Tenant for the repair of glass in the Premises, the doors (or related glass and finish work) leading to the Premises, or any
condition in the Premises or the Building caused by the negligence or intentional acts of Tenant or Tenant’s employees, contractors, agents or invitees.
Landlord shall also (a) keep and maintain all Common Areas in good order, condition and repair, free of snow and ice and accumulation of dirt and rubbish,
(b) contract for regular trash collection and disposal services, and (c) keep and maintain all landscaped areas on the Property in a neat and orderly condition.
Landlord shall not be responsible to make any improvements or repairs to the Building other than those expressly set forth in this Section, unless expressly
provided for elsewhere in this Lease.

14. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Except in the case of a Biotech Affiliated Entity (as defined in Section 14.7), Tenant shall not assign, pledge,
mortgage or otherwise transfer or encumber this Lease, nor sublet all or any part of the Premises or permit the same to be occupied or used by anyone other
than Tenant or its employees without Landlord’s prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Any consent
by Landlord hereunder shall not constitute a waiver of strict future compliance by Tenant of the provisions of this Section 14 or a release of Tenant from the
full performance by Tenant of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements or provisions of this Lease. Except in the case of a Biotech Affiliated
Entity, for purposes of this Section 14, any transfer or change in control of Tenant (or any subtenant, assignee or occupant) by operation of law or otherwise,
shall be deemed an assignment hereunder, including, without limitation, any merger, consolidation, dissolution or any change in the controlling equity
interests of Tenant or any subtenant, assignee or occupant (in a single transaction or series of related transactions). Any assignment or subletting in
contravention of the provisions of this Section 14 shall be void. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 14 or elsewhere in this
Lease, any assignment or subletting shall be subject to the following further conditions and limitations:

14.1 Proposed Subtenants and Assignees. Except in the case of a Biotech Affiliated Entity (as defined in Section 14.7), in no event shall the proposed
subtenant or assignee be (a) a prospective tenant (or its designee) who is discussing with Landlord (or Landlord’s agent) its need for space in the Building, or
who has so negotiated within the previous six (6) months; (b) a current tenant, subtenant, assignee or occupant of space in the Building; or (c) an Affiliate (as
hereinafter defined) of a current tenant, subtenant, assignee or occupant of space in the Building. For purposes hereof, an “Affiliate” shall mean a corporation
or other business entity that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such tenant, subtenant, assignee or occupant.
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in the event Landlord is unable to accommodate the space requirements of the entity or entities
described in sub-paragraphs (a), (b), or (c) above (such inability to be evidenced in writing by Landlord upon Tenant’s request), Tenant may enter into
negotiations with such entity or entities for subletting and assignment purposes.

25

14.2  Advertising. In no event shall Tenant advertise space (on a per rentable square foot basis) at a lower rate than Landlord is then advertising space
(on a per rentable square foot basis) in the Building without Landlord’s prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed).

14.3 Right to Share Profits.

(@)  Except in the case of a Biotech Affiliated Entity (as defined in Section 14.7), if Landlord consents to the subletting of all or any part of the
Premises, Tenant shall in consideration thereof pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, fifty percent (50%) of any Net Profits (as hereinafter defined) in
connection with the subletting. “Profits” on a subletting shall mean the difference between (i) the amounts paid as rent and additional rent by the subtenant to
Tenant in and for each month of the sublease term and (ii) Fixed Rent and Additional Rent due and payable by Tenant to Landlord in and for each month of
the sublease term, in each and every month when the former exceeds the latter, provided, however, that if a sublease involves less than the entire Premises, the



amounts paid by Tenant to Landlord used in subpart (ii) above shall be prorated each month to reflect the portion of the Premises being sublet. “Net Profits”
on a subletting shall mean monthly Profits reduced by an amount equal to the quotient found by taking the total reasonable and customary attorneys’ fees, real
estate brokerage commissions and alteration expenses (if any, including “soft costs”), paid and incurred by Tenant in connection with the subletting, and
dividing by the number of months in the sublease term.

(b)  Except in the case of a Biotech Affiliated Entity (as defined in Section 14.7), if Landlord consents to the assignment of this Lease, Tenant
shall in consideration thereof pay to Landlord fifty percent (50%) of any Net Consideration (as hereinafter defined) in connection with the assignment.
“Consideration” for an assignment shall mean any sums paid to Tenant in consideration of the assignment (other than the amount of rent and additional rent
assumed by the assignee). “Net Consideration” for an assignment shall mean Consideration reduced by an amount equal to the total reasonable and
customary attorneys’ fees, real estate brokerage commissions and alteration expenses (if any), paid and incurred by Tenant in connection with the assignment.

(c)  Upon request, Tenant shall furnish Landlord with certified financial statements from its accountants summarizing the gross and net
amounts received by Tenant from any subletting of the Premises or assignment of this Lease in order to verify the determination of Additional Rent payable
under Section 14.3.

14.4 Right to Recapture. Except in the case of a Biotech Affiliated Entity (as defined in Section 14.7), Landlord shall have a right to recapture
(“Right to Recapture”) as follows:

(@)  Tenant’s Marketing Notice. If Tenant shall desire (for marketing purposes only) to assign this Lease or sublet more than fifty percent
(50%) of the rentable square footage of the Premises, Tenant shall give Landlord written notice thereof (“Tenant’s Marketing Notice”), which shall be
accompanied by: (i) a description of the portion of the Premises that Tenant proposes to sublet (the “Recapture Premises™), together with a floor plan
thereof; and (ii) a notice of the proposed economic terms and conditions of the proposed assignment or sublease, including: (a) the sublease commencement
date, (b) the sublease term, (c) the fixed rent, (d) all regularly scheduled items of additional rent, (e) the amount of any rental concession, (f) the amount of
any tenant improvement allowance, (g) any work to be performed by Tenant to prepare the Premises for occupancy by the proposed assignee or subtenant,
and (h) any consideration to be paid for the acquisition of the Premises by reason of such assignment or sublease, or for the acquisition of Tenant’s leasehold
improvements or personal property.
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(b)  Tenant’s Marketing Notice Triggers Recapture Option. Tenant’s Marketing Notice shall be deemed an offer from Tenant to Landlord
whereby Landlord shall then have the option to either: (i) cancel this Lease (in the case of an assignment of this Lease or a sublet of the entire Premises); or
(ii) cancel this Lease with respect to the Recapture Premises only (in the case of a sublet of more than fifty percent (50%) but less than one hundred percent
(100%) of the Premises). In either event, Landlord shall have thirty (30) days from receipt of Tenant’s Marketing Notice to give Tenant written notice of its
desire to recapture (“Landlord’s Recapture Notice”), in which case this Lease shall end (but only with respect to the Recapture Premises in the case of a
sublet of more than fifty percent (50%) but less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Premises) on the date (the “Recapture Date”) that is the earlier of
(x) six (6) months from Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s Marketing Notice, or (y) the proposed sublease commencement date set forth in Tenant’s Marketing
Notice, with the same force and effect as if such date were the date specified herein as the Expiration Date, and the rent (i.e., Fixed Rent and Additional Rent)
and Security Deposit provided for under this Lease shall be apportioned and adjusted as of the effective date of such cancellation to reflect the reduced square
footage of the Premises.

(c)  If Landlord Does Not Exercise Recapture Option. If Landlord does not exercise its Right to Recapture, Tenant shall have the right to
assign this Lease or sublet the Premises in accordance with the terms of this Lease, subject to the following provisions:

) If Landlord does not exercise its Right to Recapture and Tenant does not deliver to Landlord Tenant’s Assignment/Sublet Notice (as
set forth in Section 14.5) with respect to a proposed assignment of this Lease or subletting of the Premises within six (6) months of Landlord’s receipt of
Tenant’s Marketing Notice, then Tenant shall be required to deliver an updated Tenant’s Marketing Notice and otherwise comply with the foregoing
provisions before Landlord shall be required to make an election as to the exercise of its Right to Recapture.

(i)  If Landlord does not exercise its Right to Recapture and Tenant delivers to Landlord Tenant’s Assignment/Sublet Notice (as set
forth in Section 14.5) with respect to a proposed assignment of this Lease or subletting of the Premises within six (6) months of Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s
Marketing Notice, and such Assignment/Sublet Notice shall disclose: (a) in the case of an assignment, a deviation of more than five percent (5%) of the
Consideration paid to Tenant by the assignee stated in Tenant’s Marketing Notice, or (b) in the case of a sublease, a deviation of more than five percent (5%)
of the Profits stated in Tenant’s Marketing Notice, then Landlord shall once again have the right to exercise its right to recapture with respect thereto.

14.5 Tenant’s Assignment/Sublet Notice. Except in the case of a Biotech Affiliated Entity (as defined in Section 14.7), if Tenant shall desire to assign
this Lease or sublet all or part of the Premises, Tenant shall give Landlord notice thereof (“Tenant’s Assignment/Sublet Notice”), which shall be
accompanied by, (a) at Tenant’s option, either (x) a conformed or photostatic copy of the proposed assignment or sublease (provided, however, that such
proposed assignment or sublease need not be in executed form if accompanied by a writing signed by Tenant and the proposed assignee or subtenant
indicating their intent to enter into the proposed assignment or sublease upon Landlord consenting thereto), and the proposed commencement date of which
shall be at least thirty (30) days after the giving of Tenant’s Assignment/Sublet Notice, or (y) a copy of a letter of intent (the “Letter of Intent”) executed by
or on behalf of Tenant and the proposed assignee or subtenant setting forth the material business terms of the proposed assignment or sublease, and the
proposed commencement date of which shall be at least thirty (30) days after the giving of Tenant’s Assignment/Sublet Notice, and (b) a statement setting
forth in reasonable detail the identity of the proposed assignee or subtenant, the nature of its business and its proposed use of the Premises, and (c) current
financial information with respect to the proposed assignee only (including, without limitation, its most recent financial statements and credit reports), which
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Landlord agrees to keep confidential and execute any confidentiality agreement reasonably requested by the proposed assignee. In the event Landlord does
not exercise its Right to Recapture (or does not possess such an option) pursuant to Section 14.4 above, and Tenant is not in an Event of Default, and Tenant



has complied with all the provisions of Section 14, then Landlord shall notify Tenant of its decision to consent (and, if appropriate, deliver to Tenant its
consent document) (“Landlord’s Consent”) within thirty (30) days of Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s Assignment/Sublet Notice.

14.6 Legal and Administrative Costs. Upon Tenant’s execution and delivery of Landlord’s Consent (or, if there is no Landlord’s Consent, within five
(5) Business Days of receipt of Landlord’s invoice), Tenant shall pay Landlord’s reasonable legal and administrative costs and expenses incurred in
processing each of Tenant’s assignment and subletting requests, which shall be paid whether or not Landlord consents to such assignment or subletting.

14.7 Assignment and Subletting to a Biotech Affiliated Entity. The foregoing notwithstanding, if Tenant is not in an Event of Default under this
Lease, Tenant may, on prior written notice to Landlord, but without Landlord’s prior written consent, assign this Lease or sublet the Premises or a portion of
the Premises (without a physical subdivision thereof) to a Biotech Affiliated Entity of Tenant. A “Biotech Affiliated Entity” shall be defined as (i) any entity
that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, Tenant (whether control is by direct management, contract or otherwise), or (ii) any entity
that succeeds to Tenant’s business by merger, consolidation or other form of corporate reorganization; and both (a) has a net worth (exclusive of goodwill)
after any assignment that is equal to or greater than Tenant’s net worth both at the time that this Lease is executed and immediately prior to the merger,
consolidation or reorganization in question, and (b) complies with all of the terms, covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions of Section 8 of this
Lease. Tenant must furnish Landlord with such documents and information as Landlord may reasonably require to substantiate Tenant’s compliance with the
provisions of this Section 14.7 and the other applicable provisions of this Lease prior to the effective date of any assignment or subletting described in this
Section 14.7. Nothing herein shall be deemed to permit: (x) any assignee to further assign this Lease or sublet the Premises or any portion of the Premises
without Landlord’s prior written consent in accordance with the provisions of this Lease; or (y) any subtenant to assign its sublease or further sublet the
Premises or any portion of the Premises to any other party without Landlord’s prior written consent in accordance with the provisions of this Lease.

15. ACCEPTANCE OF RENT; NEW DIRECTORY NAME.

15.1 Acceptance of Rent and/or New Directory Name. The acceptance of Rent and/or the listing or posting of any name, other than that of Tenant,
whether on the door or exterior wall of the Premises, the Building’s tenant directory in the lobby, elevator or elsewhere, shall not:

(@)  Constitute a waiver of Landlord’s right to withhold consent to any subletting or assignment pursuant to Section 14;

(b) Be deemed an implied consent by Landlord to any subletting of all or any part of the Premises, to any assignment or transfer of this Lease,
or to any unauthorized occupancy of the Premises, except in accordance with the express terms of this Lease; or

(c)  Operate to vest any right or interest in this Lease or in the Premises.
15.2 Right to Remove New Directory Name. Subject to the provisions of Section 14, any such listing as described above shall constitute a privilege

extended by Landlord to Tenant, and shall be immediately revocable at Landlord’s will by notice to Tenant.
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16. EMINENT DOMAIN.

16.1 Termination Upon Taking of Whole. If the whole of the Premises shall be taken under the power of eminent domain, then this Lease shall
terminate as of the date said Premises are so taken.

16.2 Termination Upon Partial Taking. If a portion of the Premises shall be taken under the power of eminent domain and the remaining portion
would not, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord and Tenant, be adequate for the continued operation of Tenant’s business (even if the remaining Premises
are restored and/or added to as provided for in Section 16.3 below), then this Lease shall terminate as of the date said Premises are so taken.

16.3 Restoration or Termination Upon Partial Taking. If a portion of the Premises shall be taken under the power of eminent domain and the
remaining portion would not, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord and Tenant, be adequate for the continued operation of Tenant’s business (unless the
remaining Premises are restored and/or added to as provided for in this Section 16.3), then Landlord shall have the option to restore the Premises, which may
include the addition to the Premises of an amount of space contiguous to the Premises substantially equal in area to the portion taken, which (when used with
the remaining Premises) will, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord and Tenant, be adequate for the continued operation of Tenant’s business. If Landlord
elects to restore the Premises, it shall notify Tenant promptly of its decision to do so, and shall diligently proceed to restore such part of the Premises not
taken and any contiguous space which Landlord may elect to add as provided for herein, to as near the former condition of the original Premises as the
circumstances will permit, and Tenant shall continue to utilize said Premises for the operation of its business. If Landlord elects not to restore the Premises,
then this Lease shall terminate as of the date said Premises are so taken. In addition, if Landlord elects to restore the Premises but has not completed the
restoration of the Premises within three hundred sixty-five (365) days after the date of the taking, Tenant may terminate this Lease by written notice to
Landlord at any time prior to Landlord’s completion and delivery of the Premises. In the event of any taking under the power of eminent domain which does
not terminate this Lease as aforesaid, any obligation of Tenant under this Lease to pay rent and all of the other provisions of this Lease shall remain in full
force and effect; provided, however, that the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent provided in this Lease shall be (a) equitably adjusted (on the basis of the number
of square feet of the Premises before and after such taking), and (b) abated during any period in which Tenant is unable to operate its business from the
Premises.

16.4 Apportionment of Award. Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord for any portion of the amount that may be awarded as damages as a result
of any governmental or quasi-governmental taking or condemnation (or sale under threat of such taking or condemnation); and all rights of Tenant to damages
therefor are hereby assigned by Tenant to Landlord. The foregoing shall not, however, deprive Tenant of any separate award for moving expenses, dislocation
damages or for any other award which would not reduce the award payable to Landlord.

16.5 Apportionment of Rent. If this Lease is terminated as provided in Section 16, all rent shall be paid up to the date that possession is taken by the
governmental or quasi-governmental authority and Landlord shall make an equitable refund to Tenant of any rent or other amounts paid by Tenant which are
applicable to any period after that date and not yet earned.

16.6 Duty to Arbitrate. If a portion of the Premises shall be taken under the power of eminent domain, and Tenant, in the exercise of “reasonable
judgment”, determines that the remaining portion of said Premises would not be adequate for the continuation of Tenant’s business as conducted



immediately prior to such taking, and if Landlord shall not agree with Tenant’s determination, then Landlord and Tenant
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shall promptly proceed to have the matter arbitrated in accordance with the Rules of the American Arbitration Association and such determination shall be
final and binding upon the parties hereto.

17. FIRE OR OTHER CASUALTY.

17.1 In the event of damage to or destruction of the Premises caused by fire or other casualty, or any such damage to or destruction of the Building
necessary to provide normal services and access to the Premises in accordance herewith (“Event of Casualty”), Landlord, after receipt of written notice
thereof from Tenant, shall undertake to make repairs and restorations with reasonable diligence, unless this Lease has been terminated by Landlord or Tenant
as hereinafter provided or unless any mortgagee which is entitled to receive casualty insurance proceeds fails to make available to Landlord a sufficient
amount of such proceeds to cover the cost of such repairs and restorations. If (i) in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, the damage is of such nature or extent
that more than one hundred eighty (180) days would be required (with normal work crews and normal work hours) to repair and restore the Premises
(including any restoration of Tenant’s Work, Tenant’s Alterations or Tenant’s Personal Property) or the Building, as the case may be; or (ii) in Landlord’s
reasonable judgment, the damage is of such nature or extent that it is uneconomical to repair and restore the Premises or the Building, as the case may be; or
(iii) less than one (1) year then remains on the current Lease Term, Landlord shall so advise Tenant within thirty (30) days after the Event of Casualty
(“Landlord’s Notice of Casualty”), and either party shall have ten (10) Business Days after receipt of Landlord’s Notice of Casualty to terminate this Lease
by written notice to the other. If either party elects to terminate this Lease in the case described in clauses (i), (ii) or (iii) above, then the Lease Term shall
expire ten (10) Business Days after such notice is given, and Tenant shall vacate the Premises and surrender the same to Landlord in accordance with the
terms of this Lease.

17.2  In the event of fire or other casualty damage, provided this Lease is not terminated pursuant to the terms of Section 17.1 above and is otherwise
in full force and effect, and sufficient casualty insurance proceeds are available for application to such repair and restoration, Landlord shall proceed
diligently to repair and restore the Premises to substantially the same condition prior to the casualty occurrence. Landlord shall not be obligated to repair or
restore (i) any of Tenant’s Work, (ii) any of Tenant’s Alterations, or (iii) any of Tenant’s Personal Property (as hereinafter defined), which Tenant may have
installed (whether or not Tenant is required to remove or leave the same in the Premises as of the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease) unless
Tenant, in a manner satisfactory to Landlord, assures payment in full of all costs as may be incurred by Landlord in connection therewith. In the event of fire
or other casualty damage, provided this Lease is not terminated pursuant to the terms of Section 17.1 above and is otherwise in full force and effect, Tenant
shall be entitled to repair and restore Tenant’s Work, Tenant’s Alterations and Tenant’s Personal Property simultaneously with Landlord’s restoration of the
Premises and/or the Building, and Tenant shall proceed diligently to repair and restore the Premises to substantially the same condition prior to the casualty
occurrence. Landlord and Tenant shall each take reasonable measures to ensure that Landlord’s contractors and Tenant’s contractors cooperate in all
commercially reasonable ways with each other to avoid any delay in either Landlord’s restoration work or Tenant’s restoration work or any conflict with the
performance of either Landlord’s restoration work or Tenant’s restoration work, Tenant acknowledging, however, that in the case of conflict that is not
reasonably avoidable, the performance of Landlord’s restoration work shall have priority.

17.3 Landlord shall not insure (i) any of Tenant’s Work, (ii) any of Tenant’s Alterations, or (iii) any of Tenant’s Personal Property. Tenant shall, at its
sole cost and expense, (a) insure the value of such Tenant’s Work, Tenant’s Alterations and Tenant’s Personal Property for the purpose of providing funds to
Landlord to repair and restore the Premises as set forth above, or (b) repair and restore such Tenant’s Work, Tenant’s Alterations and Tenant’s Personal
Property as described in Section 17.2.
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17.4 The validity and effect of this Lease shall not be impaired in any way by the failure of Landlord to complete the repair and restoration of the
Premises or the Building within one hundred eighty (180) days after the commencement of work, even if Landlord had in good faith notified Tenant that the
repair and restoration would be completed within such period, provided that Landlord proceeds diligently with such repair and restoration. In the case of
damage to the Premises (or a portion thereof) which is of a nature or extent that Tenant’s continued occupancy or use of the Premises is in the reasonable
judgment of Landlord and Tenant impaired, then the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent otherwise payable by Tenant hereunder shall be equitably abated or
adjusted until the Premises are made suitable for Tenant’s occupancy. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, if Landlord has not
completed the repair and restoration of the Premises (including any restoration of Tenant’s Work, Tenant’s Alterations or Tenant’s Personal Property if
Landlord is responsible for such work, but excluding any restoration of Tenant’s Work, Tenant’s Alterations or Tenant’s Personal Property if Tenant is
responsible for such work) within three hundred sixty-five (365) days after the commencement of work, Tenant may terminate this Lease by written notice to
Landlord at any time prior to Landlord’s completion and delivery of the Premises.

18. INSURANCE; WAIVER OF SUBROGATION.
18.1 Tenant’s Insurance.

(@)  Personal Property. Tenant agrees that all risks (including that of fire or other casualty, theft or other harm, damage or loss) to Tenant’s
Personal Property, including the loss of use of the same, shall be borne solely by Tenant. As used herein, “Personal Property” includes, but is not limited to,
all tangible and intangible goods and accounts, inventory, merchandise, furniture, fixtures, equipment (including computer equipment and any data stored
thereon) and systems. Tenant shall purchase and maintain insurance in an amount adequate to repair or replace or otherwise cover its Personal Property (and
the Personal Property of others held or leased by Tenant or otherwise in the Premises), including any Alterations and Tenant’s Work.

(b)  Business Interruption. Tenant shall maintain in full force and effect at all times, and at its own expense, business interruption insurance in
an amount adequate to cover all Fixed Rent and Additional Rent due under this Lease for a period of twelve (12) months.



(c)  Commercial General Liability. Tenant shall maintain in full force and effect at all times, and at its own expense, commercial general
liability insurance (including contractual, host liquor and personal injury liability insurance) in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 combined single limit
bodily injury and property damage per occurrence and $2,000,000.00 annual aggregate limit per location.

(d)  Automobile Liability. Tenant shall maintain in full force and effect at all times, and at its own expense, automobile liability insurance for
owned, non-owned and hired vehicles in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 combined single limit bodily injury and property damage per accident.

(e)  Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability. Tenant shall maintain in full force and effect at all times, and at its own expense, the

statutory limits of workers’ compensation and employers’ liability insurance in amounts adequate to satisfy the umbrella underlying requirements.

® Excess / Umbrella Liability. Tenant shall maintain in full force and effect at all times, and at its own expense, umbrella liability coverage
in an amount not less than $8,000,000.00 per
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occurrence. Umbrella liability coverage is to be in excess of the commercial general liability, automobile liability and employers’ liability requirements
outlined in Sections 18.1 (c), (d) and (e) above.

(g)  Other. Any other form or forms of insurance as Landlord may reasonably require from time to time (other than insurance that Landlord is
required to maintain) in amounts and for insurable risks against which a prudent tenant would protect itself to the extent landlords of comparable “biotech”
and/or “life science” commercial properties located in the greater Boston/Cambridge/Waltham area where the Building is located require their tenants to carry
such other form(s) of insurance.

(h)  The liability coverage in the insurance policies required in Sections 18.1 (c), (d), (f) and (g) above shall name Landlord Parties as
additional insureds on a primary non-contributing basis. All insurance policies required in Sections 18.1 (a) — (g) above shall be issued by companies
authorized to do business in Massachusetts with an A.M. Best’s financial rating of A- or better and a size class rating of X (10) or larger or otherwise
reasonably acceptable to Landlord. At or prior to the Lease Commencement Date, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord a certificate of insurance (countersigned
by the insurer) or evidence of insurance (in ACORD Form 28) or other proof satisfactory to Landlord for each of the insurance policies Tenant is required to
carry in compliance with its obligations under this Lease. Such insurance policies shall contain a provision that the insurer will endeavor to provide Landlord
Parties with at least thirty (30) days prior written notice before it cancels or refuses to renew the policy, or change in any material way the nature or extent of
the coverage provided by such policy. Tenant’s failure to obtain and maintain the required insurance shall constitute an Event of Default under this Lease. If
Tenant shall fail to remedy such Event of Default within five (5) Business Days after written notice by Landlord, Tenant will be liable for any and all costs,
liabilities, damages and penalties resulting to Landlord Parties from such termination, unless a written waiver of the specific insurance requirement(s) is
provided to Tenant by Landlord Parties.

18.2 Insurance During Construction. In addition, during the performance of any construction by Tenant in the Premises, in addition to the above
coverage required to be maintained by Tenant, Tenant shall cause the general contractor performing the work to carry: (a) commercial general liability
insurance in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 combined single limit bodily injury and property damage per occurrence and $2,000,000.00 annual
aggregate limit per location; (b) the statutory limits of workers’ compensation and employers’ liability insurance in amounts adequate to satisfy the umbrella
underlying requirements; (c) umbrella liability coverage in an amount not less than $5,000,000.00 per occurrence (to be in excess of the commercial general
liability and employers’ liability requirements outlined in Sections 18.2 (a) and (b) above); and (d) all risk installation floater insurance (on the complete
value / full coverage form) to protect Landlord’s interest and that of Tenant, contractors and subcontractors during the course of the construction with a limit
of not less than the total replacement cost of the completed improvements under construction. Such contractor insurance policies shall name Landlord Parties
as additional insureds on a primary non-contributing basis.

18.3 Waiver of Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant hereby release each other from any and all liability or responsibility to the other or anyone
claiming through or under them by way of subrogation or otherwise for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or other casualty, even if such fire or
other casualty shall have been caused by the fault or negligence of the other party, or anyone for whom such party may be responsible; provided, however,
that this release shall be applicable and in full force and effect only to the extent permitted by law and only to the extent that the cost of repairing such
damage is covered by insurance or would have been covered by insurance proceeds payable under any policy (including the deductible and/or uninsured
portion thereof) required to be maintained under this Lease, but not so maintained. Each policy of such insurance shall, if obtainable from the insurer without
additional expense, contain a waiver of subrogation by insurer against Landlord or Tenant, as the case
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may be. If the inclusion of such a provision would involve an additional expense, either party, at its expense, may require such a provision to be inserted in
the other’s policy. In the event a party is unable to obtain such a waiver, it shall immediately notify the other of this inability. In the absence of such
notification, each party shall be deemed to have obtained such a waiver of subrogation.

18.4 Landlord’s Insurance. Landlord shall, at all times during the Lease Term, keep the Building insured against fire and other casualty at its full
replacement cost.

19. INSPECTION; ACCESS; CHANGES IN BUILDING FACILITIES.

19.1 Landlord and Landlord’s employees, contractors, agents and representatives may enter the Premises at any time in response to an emergency and
upon at least two (2) Business Day’s prior notice to Tenant (unless the visit will unreasonably disturb Tenant’s lab conditions, in which case Tenant shall so
advise Landlord and Landlord shall delay said visit for one (1) additional Business Day) (i) to examine, inspect and protect the Premises and the Building; (ii)
to make such repairs, replacements and improvements as Landlord may deem necessary and reasonably desirable to the Premises and the Building; and (iii)
during the last six (6) months of the Lease Term, or any extension or renewal thereof, to show it to prospective tenants. Landlord may, at any time, affix to



any suitable part of the exterior of the Building in which the Premises is located a notice for letting the Premises or the Building or selling the Building.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 19.1 or elsewhere in this Lease, (a) access to Tenant’s clean room areas must always be
escorted by a representative of Tenant and must comply with all clean room procedures and precautions and other reasonable procedures promulgated by
Tenant, (b) any access to the Premises by representatives of companies involved in competitive “biotech” and/or “life science” fields must comply with
appropriate confidentiality procedures imposed by Tenant and must at all times be escorted by a representative of Tenant, and (c) the conditions, restrictions
and limitations on access to the Premises apply to all instances of access to the Premises by Landlord or its representatives (except in response to an
emergency) whether provided for in this Section 19.1 or provided for in other Sections of this Lease (for example, see access pursuant to Section 8.3 (b)
above and Section 19.2 below).

19.2  Subject to the provisions of Section 8.3 (b) and Section 19.1, Landlord shall have access to and use of all areas in the Premises (including
exterior Building walls, core corridor walls and doors and any core corridor entrances), any roofs adjacent to the Premises, and any space in or adjacent to the
Premises used for shafts, stacks, pipes, conduits, fan rooms, ducts, electric or other utilities, sinks or other Building facilities, as well as access to and through
the Premises for the purpose of operation, maintenance, decoration and repair. Tenant shall permit Landlord to install, use and maintain pipes, ducts and
conduits within the demising walls, bearing columns and ceilings of the Premises, provided that the installation work is performed at such times and by such
methods as will not materially interfere with Tenant’s use of the Premises, materially reduce the floor area thereof or materially and adversely affect Tenant’s
layout, and further provided that Landlord performs all work with due diligence and care so as to not damage Tenant’s Personal Property or the Premises.
Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate with each other in the location of Landlord’s and Tenant’s facilities requiring such access.

19.3 Landlord reserves the right at any time, without incurring any liability to Tenant therefor, to make such changes in or to the Building and the

fixtures and equipment thereof, as well as in or to the street entrances, halls, foyers, passages, elevators, if any, and stairways thereof, and garages as it may
deem necessary or desirable; provided, however, that the same does not materially and adversely affect Tenant’s use of or access to the Premises.
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20. DEFAULT. Any other provisions of this Lease notwithstanding, it shall be a Tenant event of default (“Event of Default”) under this Lease if: (i)
Tenant fails to pay any installment of Fixed Rent, Additional Rent or other sum payable by Tenant hereunder when due and such failure continues for a period
of seven (7) days after its due date; or (ii) Tenant fails to perform or observe any other covenant, condition or agreement of this Lease and such failure
continues after written notice given by or on behalf of Landlord to Tenant for more than thirty (30) days, provided, however, that if the nature of Tenant’s
default is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required to cure, then Tenant shall not be deemed to be in default if Tenant commences such cure
within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently pursues such cure to completion; or (iii) Tenant uses or occupies the Premises other than as
permitted hereunder; or (iv) Tenant violates Sections 8, 14 or 18 of this Lease and such failure continues after written notice given by or on behalf of
Landlord to Tenant for more than ten (10) days; or (v) Tenant abandons or vacates the Premises without payment of Rent; or (vi) Tenant files a petition
commencing a voluntary case, or has filed against it a petition commencing an involuntary case, under the Federal Bankruptcy Code (Title 11 of the Unites
States Code), as now or hereafter in effect, or under any similar law, or files or has filed against it a petition or answer in bankruptcy or for reorganization or
for an arrangement pursuant to any state bankruptcy or insolvency law or any similar state law, and, in the case of any such involuntary action, such action
shall not be dismissed, discharged or denied within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof, or Tenant consents to or acquiesces in the filing thereof; or (vii) if
Tenant is a banking organization, Tenant files an application for protection, voluntary liquidation or dissolution applicable to banking organizations; or (viii) a
custodian, receiver, trustee or liquidator of Tenant or of all or substantially all of Tenant’s Personal Property or of the Premises shall be appointed in any
proceedings brought by or against Tenant and, in the latter case, such entity shall not be discharged within ninety (90) days after the appointment thereof, or
Tenant consents to or acquiesces in the appointment thereof; or (ix) Tenant shall generally not pay Tenant’s debts as such debts become due, or shall admit in
writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due, or shall make an assignment of Tenant’s lease obligations for the benefit of or enter into an agreement
with its creditors; or (x) any of the circumstances set forth in clauses (vi), (viii) or (ix) occurs as to any guarantor or surety of Tenant’s performance under this
Lease (a “Guarantor”), or such Guarantor defaults under or is in breach of any provision under its guaranty or suretyship agreement; or (xi) Landlord shall
determine that any financial or other information provided to Landlord by or on behalf of Tenant or Guarantor shall be or have been materially false or
misleading; or (xii) there is committed by Tenant any other act or omission which is stated in this Lease to be an Event of Default. The grace period provision
in clause (i) above and the notice and grace period provision in clause (ii) above shall have no application to the Events of Default referred to in clauses (iii)
through (xii) above.

21. LANDLORD’S RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.

21.1 Landlord’s Remedies. In addition to all other rights and remedies of Landlord, if an Event of Default shall occur, Landlord may, at its option, at
any time thereafter exercise any one or more of the following remedies:

(@) Termination of Lease. Landlord may terminate this Lease, by written notice to Tenant, without any right by Tenant to reinstate its rights
by payment of rent due or other performance of the terms and conditions hereof. Upon such termination Tenant shall immediately surrender possession of the
Premises to Landlord, and Landlord shall immediately become entitled to receive from Tenant an amount equal to the difference between the aggregate of all
Fixed Rent and Additional Rent reserved under this Lease for the balance of the Lease Term, and the fair rental value of the Premises for that period,
determined as of the date of such termination.
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(b)  Reletting. With or without terminating this Lease, as Landlord may elect, Landlord may re-enter and repossess the Premises, or any part
thereof, and lease them to any other person upon such terms as Landlord shall deem reasonable for a term within or beyond the term of this Lease; provided,
that any such reletting prior to termination shall be for the account of Tenant, and Tenant shall remain liable for (i) all Fixed Rent, Additional Rent and other
sums which would be payable under this Lease by Tenant in the absence of such expiration, termination or repossession, less (ii) the net proceeds, if any, of
any reletting effected for the account of Tenant after deducting from such proceeds all of Landlord’s commercially reasonable expenses, including employees’
expenses, attorneys’ fees, real estate brokerage commissions and alteration expenses (if any), incurred as a result of Tenant’s breach of this Lease. Landlord
agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its damages in connection with the occurrence of an Event of Default under this Lease by Tenant
(which efforts shall include reletting the Premises); provided, however, Landlord shall have no obligation to relet the Premises (x) if Landlord, or any of its



affiliates, have other comparable space available for rent, (y) for a rental less than the fair market rental then prevailing for other comparable space, or (z)
under terms and conditions that are unacceptable to Landlord. If the Premises are at the time of default sublet or leased by Tenant to others, Landlord may, as
Tenant’s agent, collect rents due from any subtenant or other tenant and apply such rents to the rent and other amounts due hereunder without in any way
affecting Tenant’s obligation to Landlord hereunder. Such agency, being given for security, is hereby declared to be irrevocable.

(c)  Acceleration of Rent. Landlord may declare Fixed Rent and all items of Additional Rent (the amount thereof to be based on historical
amounts and Landlord’s estimates for future amounts) for the entire balance of the then current Lease Term immediately due and payable, together with all
other charges, payments, costs, and expenses payable by Tenant as though such amounts were payable in advance on the date the Event of Default occurred.

(d) Removal of Contents by Landlord. With respect to any portion of the Premises which is vacant or which is physically occupied by Tenant,
Landlord may remove all persons and property therefrom, and store such property in a public warehouse or elsewhere at the cost of and for the account of
Tenant without being deemed guilty of trespass or becoming liable for any loss or damage which may be occasioned thereby.

(e) INTENTIONALLY DELETED

® Deferred/Abated Rent/Unamortized Costs. Landlord may declare any deferred or abated rent under this Lease and any unamortized costs
of improvements made by Landlord to the Premises and any unamortized brokerage commissions paid or payable by Landlord in connection with this Lease
immediately due and payable.

(g) Consequential Damages. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall not be liable for any consequential
or indirect damages of Landlord except as a result of Tenant’s failure to (i) surrender the Premises (for more than thirty (30) days after the expiration or earlier
termination of this Lease) as provided for in Section 27; or (ii) perform its removal and repair obligations (for more than thirty (30) days after the expiration
or earlier termination of this Lease) as provided for in Section 28.

21.2 Injunction. In the event of breach by Tenant of any provision of this Lease, Landlord shall have the right of injunction and the right to invoke
any remedy allowed at law or in equity in addition to other remedies provided for herein.
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21.3 Waiver of Redemption. Tenant hereby expressly waives any and all rights of redemption granted by or under any present or future law in the
event this Lease is terminated, or in the event of Landlord obtaining possession of the Premises, or in the event Tenant is evicted or dispossessed for any
cause, by reason of violation by Tenant of any of the provisions of this Lease.

21.4 Not Exclusive Right. No right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Landlord is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy
herein or by law provided, but each shall be cumulative and in addition to every other right or remedy given herein or now or hereafter existing at law or in
equity by or by statute.

21.5 Expenses. In the event that Landlord commences suit for the repossession of the Premises, for the recovery of Fixed Rent or Additional Rent or
any other amount due under the provisions of this Lease, or because of the breach of any other covenant or provision herein contained on the part of Tenant to
be kept or performed, and a breach shall be established, Tenant shall pay to Landlord all expenses incurred in connection therewith, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees, through all appeals and in any bankruptcy proceedings. In the event that Tenant commences suit for damages resulting from the breach of any
covenant or provision herein contained on the part of Landlord to be kept or performed, and a breach shall be established, Landlord shall pay to Tenant all
expenses incurred in connection therewith, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, through all appeals and in any bankruptcy proceedings.

22. LANDLORD’S RIGHT TO CURE TENANT’S DEFAULT. If Tenant defaults in the making of any payment or in the doing of any act herein
required to be made or done by Tenant (beyond any applicable grace or cure period), then Landlord may, but shall not be required to, make such payment or
do such act, and charge the amount of Landlord’s expense to Tenant, with interest accruing and payable thereon at the Default Rate as of the date of the
expenditure by Landlord or as of the date of payment thereof by Tenant, whichever is higher, from the date paid or incurred by Landlord to the date of
payment hereof by Tenant; provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall be construed or implemented in such a manner as to allow Landlord to
charge or receive interest in excess of the maximum legal rate then allowed by law. Such payment and interest shall constitute Additional Rent hereunder due
and payable with the next monthly installment of Fixed Rent; but the making of such payment or the taking of such action by Landlord shall not operate to
cure such default by Tenant or to estop Landlord from the pursuit of any remedy to which Landlord would otherwise be entitled.

23. ESTOPPELS.

23.1 Tenant Estoppel Certificate. Upon request, and within ten (10) Business Days written notice given by or on behalf of Landlord, Tenant shall
execute and deliver to Landlord, as appropriate, a Tenant Estoppel Certificate substantially similar to the form attached hereto as Exhibit “G”, it being
intended that any such statement delivered pursuant hereto may be relied upon by others with whom Landlord may be dealing. Tenant’s failure to execute and
deliver the Tenant Estoppel Certificate within ten (10) Business Days notice shall serve to irrevocably appoint Landlord as Tenant’s attorney-in-fact to
execute and deliver such certificate for and on behalf of Tenant.

23.2 Landlord Estoppel Certificate. Upon request, and within ten (10) Business Days written notice given by or on behalf of Tenant, Landlord shall
execute and deliver to Tenant, as appropriate, an estoppel certificate certifying (to the extent correct, or if incorrect specifying why incorrect) (a) the form of
this Lease and all amendments thereto, (b) that this Lease is in full force and effect, (c) whether there are any known defaults outstanding on behalf of
Landlord or Tenant, and (d) any other matter reasonably requested (it being intended that any such statement delivered pursuant hereto may be relied upon by
others with whom Tenant may be dealing).

36




24. SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT.

24.1 This Lease and the estate, interest and rights hereby created are subordinate to any mortgage now or hereafter placed upon the Building or the
Land or any estate or interest therein, including, without limitation, any mortgage on any leasehold estate, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations,
replacements and extensions of the same as well as any substitutions therefor, subject, however, to any such mortgagee’s agreement that Tenant’s right to
possession of the Premises shall not be disturbed and Tenant’s other rights hereunder shall not be adversely affected by any foreclosure of such mortgage.
Tenant agrees that in the event any person, firm, corporation or other entity acquires the right to possession of the Building or the Land, including any
mortgagee or holder of any estate or interest having priority over this Lease, Tenant shall, if requested by such person, firm, corporation or other entity, attorn
to and become the tenant of such person, firm, corporation or other entity, upon the same terms and conditions as are set forth herein for the balance of the
Lease Term, subject to the non-disturbance provisions set forth above. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any mortgagee may, at any time, subordinate its
mortgage to this Lease, without Tenant’s consent, by notice in writing to Tenant, and thereupon this Lease shall be deemed prior to such mortgage without
regard to their respective dates of execution and delivery, and in that event, such mortgagee shall have the same rights with respect to this Lease as though it
had been executed prior to the execution and delivery of the mortgage.

24.2  Upon request, and within ten (10) Business Days written notice given by or on behalf of Landlord, any mortgagee, any ground or superior lessor
of the Building or the Land, or other successor to the interests of Landlord thereto, Tenant shall execute and deliver, as appropriate, any instruments in
recordable form as may be required by such parties, including a Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement substantially similar to the form
attached hereto as Exhibit “H” in order to confirm or effect the subordination or priority of this Lease, as the case may be, and the attornment of Tenant to
future landlords in accordance with the terms of Section 24 and such parties’ requirements. Tenant’s failure to execute and deliver the Subordination, Non-
Disturbance and Attornment Agreement within ten (10) Business Days notice shall serve to irrevocably appoint Landlord as Tenant’s attorney-in- fact to
execute and deliver such agreement for and on behalf of Tenant.

25. CONDOMINIUM CONVERSION CONTINGENCY.
25.1 The Premises are located in the Building which is erected on the Land which comprises the Property owned by Landlord.

25.2  The Property may be further enlarged and/or improved with additional buildings (provided that no such enlargements or improvements shall
have a material adverse impact on Tenant’s rights under this Lease).

25.3 Landlord, on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, reserves the right to convert the Property, and all of the buildings now or hereafter
located thereon, to the condominium form of ownership pursuant to Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 183A (the “Condominium”).

25.4  Upon the conversion of the Property to the Condominium, Tenant will cooperate in the negotiation and execution of commercially reasonable
documentation which confirms that the Premises will be described in the Master Deed of the Condominium (the “Master Deed”) as part or all of a unit in the
Condominium (the “Unit”) and shall be subject to said Master Deed and also to an agreement which governs the rights and obligations of the owners of such
units (the “Declaration of Trust”) (the Master Deed, the Declaration of Trust and any by-laws and rules or regulations promulgated thereunder are referred
to collectively as the “Condominium Documents”).
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25.5 Landlord and its successors and assigns shall be subject to the Condominium Documents.

25.6 Tenant agrees that in connection with the creation of the Condominium, Tenant will cooperate in the negotiation and execution of commercially
reasonable documentation which confirms that this Lease shall be subject and subordinate to the Condominium Documents and that Tenant’s leasehold
interest will be converted to a leasehold interest in all or a demised portion of an individual unit in the Condominium and an interest in common with others to
use common areas of the Condominium that are ancillary to Tenant’s Premises under this Lease. The Condominium Documents shall provide commercially
reasonable protection of Tenant’s existing rights under this Lease with the intent that Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises and all appurtenant rights
under this Lease (including, without implied limitation, the right to have the Building Rules and Regulations under this Lease uniformly enforced against all
tenants of the Building) shall not be adversely affected. As applicable, the trustees under the Declaration of Trust and any owners of other units in the
Condominium shall enter into supplemental agreements recognizing the rights of Tenant under this Lease. Tenant’s leasehold interest under this Lease is
confirmed to be the superior interest in the Building, Land and Property relative to any subsequently imposed Condominium Documents, and the
subordination of this Lease to any subsequently imposed Condominium Documents can only be effected by the execution by Tenant of a subordination
agreement as referred to above.

25.7 Landlord agrees that in connection with the creation of the Condominium, Landlord will (a) submit the Condominium Documents to Tenant for
Tenant’s review, and (b) reimburse Tenant’s attorneys’ fees up to $1,500.00 for such review.

26. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Upon request, and within fifteen (15) Business Days written notice given by or on behalf of Landlord (but no more
than once per calendar year), Tenant shall furnish Landlord with (a) certified financial statements from its accountants (including, without limitation, its most
recent balance sheet, year-to-date operating statement and profit and loss statement) reflecting Tenant’s current financial condition, and (b) written evidence
of ownership and management of Tenant and any Biotech Affiliated Entity (as such term is defined in Section 14.7). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant
shall have no obligation to deliver any financial statements as long as it is a publicly traded company.

27. HOLDING OVER. If Tenant retains possession of the Premises or any part thereof after the termination of this Lease or expiration of the Lease Term
or otherwise in the absence of any written agreement between Landlord and Tenant concerning any such continuance of the term, Tenant shall pay Landlord
(i) as liquidated damages for such holding over alone, an amount, calculated on a per diem basis for each day of such unlawful retention, equal to the greater
of (a) 200% of the Annual Fixed Rent, or (b) the established market rental for the Premises, for the time Tenant thus remains in possession, plus, in each case,
all Additional Rent and other sums payable hereunder, and (ii) all other damages, costs and expenses sustained by Landlord by reason of Tenant’s holding
over more than thirty (30) days. Without limiting any rights and remedies of Landlord resulting by reason of the wrongful holding over by Tenant, or creating
any right in Tenant to continue in possession of the Premises, all Tenant’s obligations with respect to the use, occupancy and maintenance of the Premises
shall continue during such period of unlawful retention.

28. YIELD UP.



28.1 Covenant. Tenant agrees, on or before the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, to (a) surrender all keys to the Premises and make
known the key or combination for all locks or security devices remaining in the Premises; (b) remove, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, any and all of
Tenant’s
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Personal Property, whether or not attached to the Building, and any Alterations as Landlord may require in accordance with the provisions of this Lease; (c)
repair, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, any and all damage to the Premises caused by the removal of Tenant’s Personal Property and Alterations; (d)
decommission the Premises as required by Section 28.2; and (e) peaceably yield up the Premises, broom clean and in good order, condition and repair,
reasonable wear and tear, fire and other casualty excepted. In no event shall Tenant be required to surrender the Premises in any better condition than they
were in on the Lease Commencement Date or thereafter improved.

28.2 Tenant’s Removal Obligation. No later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Landlord and Tenant shall
jointly inspect the Premises and agree upon a specific list of items which Tenant shall be required to remove from the Premises. Tenant shall then proceed to
remove any and all required items, and repair any and all damage to the Premises caused by such removal. Landlord specifically agrees that Tenant shall have
no obligation to remove Tenant’s Work (i.e., Tenant’s initial improvements to the Premises as shown on the Tenant Plans incorporated by reference as Exhibit
“L>). Tenant shall patch or cap any damage to the Premises caused by the removal of Tenant’s Personal Property and Alterations, but shall not be required to
further repair such damage. Further, Tenant shall clean and otherwise decommission (or, at Tenant’s election, remove) all process piping, process supply lines,
process waste lines and process plumbing in the Premises, and all exhaust or other ductwork in the Premises, in each case which has carried or released any
Hazardous Materials other than the permitted Hazardous Materials (the “Permitted Hazardous Materials”), a list of which is attached hereto as part of
Exhibit “M”, and shall otherwise clean the Premises so as to permit the report hereinafter called for by this Section 28.2 to be issued. Within thirty (30) days
after completion of such cleaning and decommissioning as to the Building, Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall obtain for Landlord a report addressed to
Landlord (and, at Tenant’s election, Tenant) by a reputable licensed environmental engineer or a qualified industrial hygienist that is designated by Tenant and
acceptable to Landlord in Landlord’s reasonable discretion, which report shall be based on the environmental engineer’s inspection of such Building and shall
show:

(@)  That the Hazardous Materials carried or processed by such supply lines, waste lines and plumbing or released through such exhaust or
ductwork, to the extent, if any, existing prior to such decommissioning, have been removed as necessary so that the remaining process piping, process supply
lines, process waste lines and process plumbing, and all such exhaust or other ductwork, may be disposed of in compliance with applicable Environmental
Laws without taking any special precautions for Hazardous Materials (excluding asbestos or asbestos-containing materials), without incurring special costs
(as hereinafter defined) or undertaking special procedures (as hereinafter defined) for demolition, disposal, investigation, assessment, cleaning or removal of
Hazardous Materials (excluding asbestos or asbestos-containing materials or any Hazardous Materials currently existing as part of the Building or other
improvements) and without incurring regulatory compliance requirements or giving notice in connection with Hazardous Materials (excluding asbestos or
asbestos-containing materials or any Hazardous Materials currently existing as part of the Building or other improvements); and

(b)  That the Premises may be reoccupied for use consistent with Tenant’s Permitted Uses, demolished or renovated without taking any special
precautions for Hazardous Materials (excluding (x) asbestos or asbestos-containing materials and (y) any Hazardous Materials currently existing as part of the
Building or other improvements), without incurring special costs or undertaking special procedures for disposal, investigation, assessment, cleaning or
removal of Hazardous Materials (excluding (x) asbestos or asbestos-containing materials and (y) any Hazardous Materials currently existing as part of the
Building or other improvements), and without incurring regulatory requirements or giving notice in connection with Hazardous Materials (excluding (x)
asbestos or asbestos-containing materials and (y) any Hazardous Materials currently existing as part of the Building or other improvements).
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(c)  For purposes of Sections 28.2 (a) and (b): (i) materials previously or hereafter generated from operations by Tenant shall not be deemed
part of the Building or other improvements, and (ii) “special costs” or “special procedures” shall mean costs or procedures, as the case may be, that would
not be incurred but for the nature of the Hazardous Materials as Hazardous Materials instead of non-hazardous materials. The report shall include reasonable
detail concerning the clean-up location, the tests run and the analytic results. At Tenant’s request, Landlord will notify Tenant if Landlord intends to demolish
the applicable portion of the Premises or substantially rehabilitate the applicable portion of the Premises, and in that event, Landlord shall give Tenant
Landlord’s good faith estimate of the costs to Landlord of removing any of the property otherwise required to be removed by Tenant hereunder, and Tenant
may elect, instead of removing any of such property, to make eighty percent (80%) of such payment to Landlord in satisfaction of Tenant’s removal
obligation; provided, that in any such event, Landlord may require Tenant to remove from the Premises the Hazardous Materials provided for above.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary above, provided Tenant (w) limits the Hazardous Materials carried in the process piping, process supply lines,
process waste lines or process plumbing in the Premises to the Permitted Hazardous Materials; and (x) complies with all existing and future Legal
Requirements, including but not limited to securing any required governmental permits, licenses and authorizations necessary for the use, storage and disposal
of the Permitted Hazardous Materials; and (y) both furnishes Landlord with, and obtains Landlord’s consent of (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed), Tenant’s protocol for the use, storage and disposal of the Permitted Hazardous Materials (which protocol is attached hereto as part of
Exhibit “M”); and (z) does not otherwise negatively impact the condition of any process piping, process supply lines, process waste lines or process
plumbing (such negative impact to be measured by pre- and post- tenancy condition tapes), then Landlord agrees that Tenant shall not be required to remove
any such process piping, process supply lines, process waste lines or process plumbing in the Premises in order to satisfy its cleaning and decommissioning
requirements set forth hereunder.

28.3 Certain Rights of Landlord. If Tenant fails to perform its removal obligations hereunder, Landlord, without limiting Landlord’s other rights and
remedies under this Lease, (a) may treat such failure as a hold over and/or (b) may, on ten (10) Business Days prior written notice to Tenant, perform such
obligations at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord upon demand for all out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred
by Landlord in connection with such work. In addition, any such reimbursement shall include a five percent (5%) administrative fee to cover Landlord’s
overhead in undertaking such work. The reimbursement and administrative fee shall be Additional Rent. Tenant’s removal obligations under this Section shall
survive the termination of this Lease. Any items of Tenant’s Personal Property or trade fixtures which remain in the applicable portion of the Premises after
the expiration date of the applicable Lease Term may, on ten (10) Business Days prior written notice to Tenant, at the option of Landlord, be deemed



abandoned and in such case may either be retained by Landlord as its property or be disposed of, without accountability, at Tenant’s expense in such manner
as Landlord may see fit.

29. PERSONAL PROPERTY TAXES. Tenant agrees to pay, on or before the due date thereof, all taxes charged, assessed or imposed upon the Personal
Property (including, without limitation, furniture, fixtures and equipment) of Tenant in or about the Premises.

30. BROKERS. Each party represents and warrants to the other that they have not made any agreement or taken any action which may cause anyone to
become entitled to a commission as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Lease, and each will indemnify and defend the other from any all claims,
actual or threatened, for compensation by any such third person by reason of such party’s breach of their representation or warranty contained in this Section
30 except for Richards Barry Joyce & Partners, representing Landlord exclusively, and T3 Advisors, representing Tenant exclusively. Landlord
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will pay any commission due to the broker(s) hereunder pursuant to its separate agreement with the broker(s) hereunder subject to execution and delivery of
this Lease by Landlord and Tenant.

31. NOTICES. All notices or other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (i) if delivered by hand, by
messenger or by an express delivery service (FedEx, UPS, DHL, etc.), then if and when delivered (or if delivery is refused, when refused) to the respective
parties at the below addresses (or at such other address as a party may hereafter designate for itself by notice to the other party as required hereby), or (ii) if
mailed, then on the third Business Day following the date on which such communication is deposited in the United States mails, by first class registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and addressed to the respective parties at the below addresses (or at such other address as a party may
hereafter designate for itself by notice to the other party as required hereby). Notice by counsel to a party shall be deemed notice from such party.

31.1 If to Landlord: Intercontinental Fund III 830 Winter Street, LLC
c/o Intercontinental Management Corp.
1270 Soldiers Field Road
Boston, MA 02135
ATTN: Scott Kelly

31.2 With a copy to: Bradley & Associates
1270 Soldiers Field Road
Boston, MA 02135
ATTN: James M. Bradley, Esq.

31.3 If to Tenant before ImmunoGen, Inc.
the Rent 128 Sidney Street
Commencement Cambridge, MA 2139
Date: ATTN: Chief Financial Officer
31.4 If to Tenant after the  ImmunoGen, Inc.
Rent 830 Winter Street
Commencement Waltham, MA 02451
Date: ATTN: Chief Financial Officer
31.5 With a copy to: Looney, Cohen, Reagan & Aisenberg LLP

33 Broad Street
Boston, MA 02109
ATTN: James H. Cohen, Esq.

32. MISCELLANEOUS.

32.1 Authority. Each party represents and warrants that it is duly formed and in good standing, and has full corporate or partnership power and
authority, as the case may be, to enter into this Lease and has taken all corporate or partnership action, as the case may be, necessary to carry out the
transaction contemplated herein, so that when executed, this Lease constitutes a valid and binding obligation enforceable in accordance with its terms.

32.2  Successors and Assigns. The obligations of this Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns; provided that Landlord and
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each successive owner of the Building shall be liable only for obligations accruing during the period of its ownership or interest in the Building, and from and
after the transfer by Landlord or such successive owner of its ownership or other interest in the Building, Tenant shall look solely to the successors in title for
the performance of Landlord’s obligations hereunder arising thereafter.

32.3 Waivers. No delay or forbearance by Landlord in exercising any right or remedy hereunder or in undertaking or performing any act or matter
which is not expressly required to be undertaken by Landlord shall be construed, respectively, to be a waiver of Landlord’s rights or to represent any
agreement by Landlord to undertake or perform such act or matter thereafter.



32.4 Waiver of Trial by Jury. Tenant hereby consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the state where the Premises are located in any and
all actions or proceedings arising under this Lease, and irrevocably agrees to service of process in accordance with Section 31 above. Landlord and Tenant
agree to waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either of the parties hereto against the other on any matter whatsoever
arising out of or in any way connected with this Lease, the relationship of Landlord and Tenant, Tenant’s use of or occupancy of the Premises and/or any
claim of injury or damage and any emergency or any other statutory remedy.

32.5 Limitation of Landlord’s Liabilities. Tenant shall look solely to the Premises and rents derived therefrom and Landlord’s insurance proceeds for
enforcement of any obligation hereunder or by law assumed or enforceable against Landlord, and no other property or other assets of Landlord shall be
subjected to levy, execution or other enforcement procedure for the satisfaction of Tenant’s remedies or with respect to this Lease, the relationship of landlord
and tenant hereunder or Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises.

32.6 Time of the Essence. All times, wherever specified herein for the performance by Landlord or Tenant of their respective obligations hereunder,
are of the essence of this Lease.

32.7 Severability. Each covenant and agreement in this Lease shall for all purposes be construed to be a separate and independent covenant or
agreement. If any provision in this Lease or the application thereof shall to any extent be invalid, illegal or otherwise unenforceable, the remainder of this
Lease, and the application of such provision other than as invalid, illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby; and such provisions of this Lease
shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

32.8 Headings and Terms. The title and headings of this Lease are for convenience of reference only and shall not in any way be utilized to construe
or interpret the agreement of the parties as otherwise set forth herein. The term “Landlord” and term “Tenant” as used herein shall mean, where appropriate,
all persons acting by or on behalf of the respective parties, except as to any required approval, consents or amendments, modifications or supplements
hereunder when such terms shall only mean the parties originally named on the first page of this Lease as Landlord and Tenant, respectively, and their agents
so authorized in writing.

32,9 Lease Not Binding Until Executed and Delivered. This Lease shall not bind Landlord unless and until it has been signed and delivered by
Tenant, received and accepted by Landlord, and then countersigned and redelivered by Landlord to Tenant.

32.10 Counterparts. This Lease may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same lease agreement.
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32.11 Amendment and Modification. This Lease, including all Exhibits and Addenda attached hereto, each of which is incorporated in this Lease,
contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and shall not be amended, modified or supplemented unless by agreement in writing signed by both
Landlord and Tenant.

32.12 Governing Law. This Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Massachusetts.

32.13 Cross-Default. If there is more than one lease between Landlord and Tenant, or any Biotech Affiliated Entity (as hereinbefore defined), for space
in the Building, a default under one lease shall be deemed to be a default under both leases.

33. PARKING. Pursuant to all covenants, conditions and agreements of this Lease, Landlord hereby authorizes for use by Tenant, at no additional charge
to Tenant, up to 2.8 non-reserved, first-come, first-served parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises leased hereunder, which is currently
two hundred forty-nine (249) non-reserved, first-come, first-served parking spaces (such parking spaces to be allocated as follows: 2.4 non-reserved, first-
come, first-served “surface” parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises leased hereunder, and 0.4 non-reserved, first-come, first-served
“garage” parking spaces per 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises leased hereunder). Landlord reserves the right to rearrange the configuration of any
parking spaces, assign particular spaces to other tenants of the Building, and otherwise change or alter the “surface” or “garage” parking in any manner
whatsoever, so long as Tenant is not deprived of the use of two hundred forty-nine (249) parking spaces in the allocated ratios set forth above. Landlord does
not assume any responsibility for, and shall not be liable for, any damage, loss or theft (of any nature whatsoever) to or of any automobiles or other vehicles,
or any contents or other Personal Property located therein, while in or about the surface parking lot or structured parking garage.

34. SIGNAGE. Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, may modify the signage plan of the Property in place as of the Lease Commencement Date, so long
as Landlord shall provide appropriate signage and monuments directing Tenant’s employees and customers to the Building and the Premises. Any such
changes to the signage plan shall be subject to obtaining any necessary permits from the City of Waltham or as required by other local law, regulation or
ordinance. Tenant, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense, shall have the right to place its corporate name at (i) the entrance to the Premises, (ii) the Building
lobby directory, (iii) the Building monument sign, and (iv) the entrance to the office park, each in accordance with any applicable Building Rules and
Regulations. Tenant’s corporate logo has been approved by Landlord in the form attached hereto as Exhibit “O” and Tenant may incorporate its corporate
logo into its signage as set forth in sub- (i), (i) and (iii) above. All tenant signage shall be of similar size. No tenant shall enjoy signage on the exterior of the
Building unless it shall lease and occupy more than fifty percent (50%) of the Building’s total rentable area; provided, however, Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost
and expense, shall have the right to place its corporate name on the exterior of the Building as long as Tenant continues to occupy the entire Premises leased
hereunder. Tenant agrees not to install, inscribe, paint, affix or otherwise display any sign or advertisement on any part of the Premises or the Building that
can be seen from outside of the Premises or the Building without Landlord’s prior written consent.

35. RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER. Provided that Tenant shall not be in an Event of Default at the time of Landlord’s Notice of RoFO Premises (as
hereinafter defined) beyond any applicable grace period, and subject to any pre-existing rights, Tenant shall have an ongoing right of first offer to lease any
space that becomes available in the Building (the “RoFO Premises”). The Annual Fixed Rent for the RoFO Premises shall be one hundred percent (100%) of
the Fair Market Rental (as defined in Section 37 below).
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All other non-economic terms of this Lease shall apply, subject to the following additional terms and conditions:

35.1 Before Landlord offers to lease the RoFO Premises to a third party, Landlord shall offer to lease such space to Tenant in writing (“Landlord’s
Notice of RoFO Premises”). Tenant shall then have seven (7) Business Days from receipt of Landlord’s Notice of RoFO Premises to accept the economic
terms and conditions of Landlord’s Notice of RoFO Premises by notifying Landlord, in writing, of its intent to lease the RoFO Premises on said terms and
conditions.

35.2 If Tenant does not so notify Landlord of its intent to lease the RoFO Premises, then Tenant shall have no further right to lease the RoFO
Premises, provided that if Landlord fails to execute a lease agreement for the RoFO Premises with a third party upon substantially the same economic terms
and conditions as those set forth in Landlord’s Notice of RoFO Premises within one hundred eighty (180) days of said seven (7) Business Day period,
Tenant’s right to lease the RoFO Premises shall revive and be in full force and effect. For the purpose of this Section 35.2, the RoFO Premises refers to the
specific individual RoFO Premises contained in Landlord’s Notice of RoFO Premises.

35.3 If Tenant notifies Landlord of its intent to lease the RoFO Premises, Landlord shall submit to Tenant, and Tenant shall execute and deliver to
Landlord within fifteen (15) Business Days from receipt thereof, an amendment to the Lease which contains all of the terms and conditions set forth in
Landlord’s Notice of RoFO Premises, and such modifications to the Lease as may be necessary to reflect the inclusion of the RoFO Premises. If Tenant fails
to execute and deliver said amendment within said fifteen (15) Business Day period, Tenant’s right to lease the RoFO Premises shall terminate, and Landlord
shall have no further obligation to lease the RoFO Premises to Tenant and may lease the RoFO Premises (or any portion thereof) to another party upon such
terms and conditions as Landlord may deem appropriate, free and clear of any rights in favor of Tenant contained herein; provided, however, that so long as
Tenant is diligently and timely continuing to pursue the execution of such Lease amendment to completion as provided for herein, Landlord agrees to extend
the fifteen (15) Business Day period referenced above for an additional fifteen (15) Business Days.

35.4 Tenant may not assign, mortgage, pledge, encumber or otherwise transfer its interest or rights under Section 35 (other than in connection with an
assignment of this Lease or a subletting of the Premises in its entirety), and any such purported transfer or attempt to transfer shall be null and void and
without effect, shall terminate Tenant’s rights under Section 35, and shall constitute a default under this Lease.

35.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if and only if Landlord’s Notice of RoFO Premises is given within the last twenty-
four (24) months of the Lease Term (as the same may be extended), Tenant’s right of first offer to lease the RoFO Premises shall be subject to Tenant’s
extension of the Lease Term for the Premises to meet the Lease Term offered for the RoFO Premises so that the Premises and the RoFO Premises both expire
on the same date. In such event, the Fixed Rent for the Premises and the RoFO Premises for such additional period shall be one hundred percent (100%) of
the Fair Market Value (as defined in Section 37 below).

36. EXTENSION OPTION. Provided that Tenant shall not be in an Event of Default at the time of Tenant’s Extension Notice (as hereinafter defined)
beyond any applicable grace period, Tenant shall have two (2) options (each an “Extension Option”) to extend the Lease Term, each for an additional five
(5) years (each an “Extension Term”), independent of Tenant’s obligation to extend the Lease Term pursuant to Section 35.5 above. Tenant must exercise the
Extension Option by providing written notice of election to Landlord (the “Extension Notice”) not more than fifteen (15) months nor fewer than twelve
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(12) months prior to the scheduled expiration of the Lease Term (as the same may be extended). The Annual Fixed Rent in and for the Extension Term shall
be one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Rental (as defined in Section 37 below). All other non-economic terms of this Lease shall apply during any
Extension Term.

37. FAIR MARKET RENTAL.

37.1 Fair Market Rental. As used herein, “Fair Market Rental” means the Fixed Rent per annum which Landlord could reasonably expect to obtain
from a third party for the Premises or the RoFO Premises (as the case may be) if Landlord put the same on the market for lease in “as is” condition for a term
corresponding to the term offered hereunder.

37.2 Fair Market Rental During Any Extension Term. With respect to Sections 35.5 and 36 only, if Landlord and Tenant are unable to reach a written
agreement as to the Fair Market Rental ninety (90) days prior to the beginning of any Extension Term, such dispute shall be resolved exclusively by resort to
the Arbitration (as hereinafter defined). Pending the initiation or outcome of the Arbitration, Tenant shall not withhold any rents demanded by Landlord.

37.3 Arbitration. The “Arbitration” shall operate as described in this paragraph. Within fifteen (15) days after the period for Landlord and Tenant to
reach a written agreement has expired without them having reached a written agreement on the Fair Market Rental as described above, Landlord shall choose
a person who is then (and for the previous five (5) years has been) a licensed real estate broker engaged in leasing comparable “biotech” and/or “life science”
commercial properties located in the greater Boston/Cambridge/Waltham area where the Building is located (and obtain the acceptance of the person chosen)
to act as one of the arbitrators, Tenant shall choose a person who is then (and for the previous five (5) years has been) a licensed real estate broker engaged in
leasing comparable “biotech” and/or “life science” commercial properties located in the greater Boston/Cambridge/Waltham area where the Building is
located (and obtain the acceptance of the person chosen) to act as one of the arbitrators, and each party shall notify the other of the name, address and
telephone number of the person who has been selected by it and has agreed with it to act as an arbitrator. The two arbitrators (i.e., the one selected by
Landlord and the one selected by Tenant) shall endeavor to reach an agreement as to what the Fair Market Rental should be; and if the two arbitrators cannot
agree in writing on what the Fair Market Rental should be at least forty-five (45) days prior to the beginning of the Extension Term, they shall choose a third
person (who is a licensed real estate broker engaged in leasing comparable “biotech” and/or “life science” commercial properties located in the greater
Boston/Cambridge/Waltham area where the Building is located) mutually acceptable to them (and obtain the acceptance of such selection from the person
they have selected) to act as the third arbitrator. The arbitrators selected by Landlord and Tenant shall each prepare their own determination of the figure (the
“Proposed Determination”) that should be the Fair Market Rental and submit their respective Proposed Determinations in writing to the third arbitrator
promptly after the third arbitrator is chosen. The third arbitrator shall meet with the first two arbitrators to review and discuss the Proposed Determination
submitted by each of them, and promptly thereafter issue his or her own determination in writing to Landlord and Tenant. The determination of the third
arbitrator shall be made on the basis of which Proposed Determination submitted by the other two arbitrators is closest to what the third arbitrator believes the
Fair Market Rental should be, and such determination of the third arbitrator must be made only by his or her selecting one of the Proposed Determinations
previously submitted in writing by the other arbitrators. The determination of the third arbitrator (or the determination mutually agreed to by the first two



arbitrators, if such written agreement is reached by them before the selection of a third arbitrator is required) shall be binding and conclusive on Landlord and
Tenant.
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38. ANCILLARY SPACE. Landlord understands that Tenant may require emergency back-up power in connection with the operation of Tenant’s
business which would necessitate the installation and operation of an emergency back-up generator and fuel tank (such fuel tank not to exceed 1,000 gallon
capacity), together with related equipment, mountings and supports (collectively, “Tenant’s Generator”), and one (1) COz tank, one (1) N2 (gas nitrogen)
tank, and one (1) LN (liquid nitrogen) tank (collectively, “Auxiliary Tanks”), adjacent to, or on the roof of, the Building. Landlord will make available to
Tenant, at no additional charge to Tenant, either (but not both) such adjacent space or rooftop space (the “Ancillary Space”) in a location to be determined by
agreement of Landlord and Tenant, and as shown on Exhibit “P” attached hereto and made part of hereof, and upon the terms and conditions set forth below:

38.1 The Ancillary Space shall be used only for housing and operating Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks as approved in writing by Landlord.
Landlord’s approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed provided Tenant demonstrates to Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction that
Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks (a) will not affect the structural integrity of the Building; (b) will not negatively impact the roof or the roof
membrane; (c) will not interfere with any Building equipment operated by Landlord; and (d) will comply with all Legal Requirements.

38.2 Tenant shall not install or operate Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks until Tenant has obtained and submitted to Landlord (a) copies of
Tenant’s plans and specifications for Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks; and (b) all required governmental permits, licenses and authorizations
necessary for the installation and operation thereof. In addition, Tenant shall comply with all Building Rules and Regulations (and Construction Rules and
Regulations) promulgated by Landlord in the installation, operation and maintenance of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks.

38.3 Tenant shall adequately sound-proof Tenant’s Generator to comply with all Legal Requirements and Landlord’s specified maximum decibel
levels for equipment operations.

38.4 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that Landlord determines that the periodic testing of Tenant’s Generator
interferes with the operation of the Building or the operations of any of the occupants of the Building, then Tenant shall, upon written notice from Landlord,
cause all further testing of Tenant’s Generator to occur after normal Business Hours. Other than for periodic testing as aforesaid, in no event shall Tenant be
entitled to operate Tenant’s Generator except in cases of a power outage to the Premises or any portion thereof.

38.5 Landlord shall have no obligation to prepare the Ancillary Space for Tenant’s use. Nor does Landlord makes any warranties or representations to
Tenant as to the suitability of the Ancillary Space for the installation and operation of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks.

38.6 Landlord shall have no obligation to provide any services, including, without limitation, electric current, to the Ancillary Space or to Tenant’s
Generator and Auxiliary Tanks.

38.7 Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of maintaining and repairing Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks, and the cost of repairing any
damage to the Building (or necessary improvements to the Building) caused by or as a result of the installation and operation of Tenant’s Generator and
Auxiliary Tanks.

38.8 If the installation and operation of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks damages the roof, or invalidates or negatively impacts the roof

warranty, Tenant shall be fully responsible for the cost of any subsequent repairs to the roof (to the extent that such roof warranty is invalidated or negatively
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impacted) related to such installation and operation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, provided Tenant uses a licensed contractor approved by the provider of
Landlord’s roof warranty (which is currently Carlisle SynTec Incorporated) to install, maintain and repair Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks, Tenant
shall not be responsible for the cost of any subsequent repairs to the roof (to the extent that such roof warranty is invalidated or negatively impacted) related
to such installation, maintenance and repair.

38.9 Tenant shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the installation and operation of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks do not
adversely affect the insurance coverage for the Building. If for any reason the installation or operation of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks does result
in an increase in the amount of the premiums for such insurance coverage, then Tenant shall be liable for the full amount of any such increase resulting from
the installation and operation of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks.

38.10 Tenant shall, at all times during the Lease Term and for such further time as Tenant shall occupy the Ancillary Space or any part thereof,
covenant and agree to exonerate, indemnify, defend, protect and save Landlord and Landlord Parties harmless from and against any and all claims, demands,
expenses, losses, suits and damages as may be occasioned arising out of the installation and operation of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks, except if
caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, servants or employees.

38.11 Except in response to an emergency where no prior notice is practicable (Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate to develop procedures and
policies for emergency access), neither Tenant nor Tenant’s Contractor shall have the right to access the roof of the Building (including the Ancillary Space if
so located) unless (a) Tenant or Tenant’s Contractor shall have given Landlord at least two (2) full Business Days notice of the need therefor; (b) Tenant or
Tenant’s Contractor is accompanied by an authorized representative of Landlord during such roof access; and (c) such roof access occurs during normal
Business Hours (or if outside normal Business Hours, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the reasonable expense of providing off-hours personnel to
accompany Tenant or Tenant’s Contractor.

38.12 Landlord may require that Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks be screened from public view. Landlord may, at its election, relocate Tenant’s
Generator and Auxiliary Tanks; provided, however, that Landlord shall be responsible for the cost of such relocation and shall cooperate with Tenant to



schedule the process of relocation to avoid interruption in Tenant’s back-up power supply.

38.13 At Landlord’s election, Tenant shall remove Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary Tanks at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and
Tenant or Tenant’s Contractor shall be responsible for the cost of repairing any damage to the Ancillary Space, the roof of the Building (if the Ancillary Space
is so located), and any other portions of the Building caused by the installation, operation, maintenance or removal of Tenant’s Generator and Auxiliary
Tanks.

38.14 Tenant may not assign, mortgage, pledge, encumber or otherwise transfer its interest or rights under Section 38 (other than in connection with an
assignment of this Lease or a subletting of the Premises in its entirety), and any such purported transfer or attempt to transfer shall be null and void and
without effect, shall terminate Tenant’s rights under Section 38, and shall constitute a default under this Lease.

39. BUILDING RULES AND REGULATIONS. Attached hereto as Exhibit “F” are the Building Rules and Regulations currently in effect which have

been specifically and expressly adopted by Landlord and Tenant as of the Lease Date. Landlord shall have the right from time to time to make commercially
reasonable adjustments to the Building Rules and Regulations; provided, however, Landlord shall at all
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times use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce the Building Rules and Regulations uniformly against all tenants of the Building.

40. LANDLORD REPRESENTATION. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Landlord represents, to the best of its
knowledge, that as of the Lease Commencement Date, (a) the Property is in compliance with all Legal Requirements and Environmental Laws, and (b) there
has been no violation of Legal Requirements or Environmental Laws of which Landlord has notice that has not been cured. Tenant’s sole remedy for the
inaccuracy of such representation shall be to notify Landlord of any such violation within thirty (30) days after the Lease Commencement Date, and Landlord
shall remedy the condition at its sole cost and expense.

41. EXHIBITS AND ADDENDA. Additional terms to this Lease, if any, are set forth in the attached Exhibits and Addenda, which are incorporated herein
by reference as follows:

Legal Description

Premises

Fixed Rent

Provisions Regarding Additional Rent
Form of Commencement Date Certificate
Building Rules and Regulations

Form of Tenant Estoppel Certificate

Form of Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment Agreement
Draft Letter of Credit

Base Building Specifications

Tenant Design Manual

Tenant Plans

Permitted Hazardous Materials and Protocol
INTENTIONALLY DELETED

Tenant’s Corporate Logo

Ancillary Space

Tenant’s Proposed Plans

PEOZEIFATTEORBUO®»

[END OF TEXT; SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the parties hereto have caused this Lease to be executed on the day and year first above written.

LANDLORD:

INTERCONTINENTAL FUND III 830 WINTER
STREET, LLC,
a Massachusetts limited liability company

BY:

INTERCONTINENTAL REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENT FUND III LLC,

a Massachusetts limited liability company,
its Manager

BY:
INTERCONTINENTAL REAL ESTATE
CORPORATION,



a Massachusetts corporation,

its Manager

By: /s/ Peter Palandjian

Name:
Title:

TENANT:

IMMUNOGEN, INC.,

a Massachusetts corporation

By: /s/ Daniel Junius

Peter Palandjian
President and
Treasurer

Name:
Title:
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Daniel Junius
Executive Vice
President and
Chief

Financial Officer

Tenant shall pay Fixed Rent for the Lease Term as follows:

EXHIBIT “C”

FIXED RENT

FIXED RENT FOR “PREMISES”

620 RSF (Basement pH Room)

+ 687 RSF (Basement Waste Room)

+ 34,986 RSF (First Floor)

+ 38,511 RSF (Second Floor)

+ 14,126 RSF (Third Floor)

= 88,930 RSF TOTAL

Annual Monthly

Period Fixed Rent Fixed Rent Per RSF
Lease Commencement Date — day before Rent Commencement Date NA § 0.00 % 0.00
Year 1 $  3,423,805.00 $ 285,317.08 $ 38.50
Year 2 $  3,423,805.00 $ 285,317.08 $ 38.50
Year 3 $  3,423,805.00 $ 285,317.08 $ 38.50
Year 4 $ 3,690,595.00 $ 307,549.58 $ 41.50
Year 5 $ 3,690,595.00 $ 307,549.58 $ 41.50
Year 6 $ 3,690,595.00 $ 307,549.58 $ 41.50
Year 7 $ 3,957,385.00 $ 329,782.08 $ 44.50
Year 8 $ 3957,385.00 $ 329,782.08 $ 44.50
Year 9 $ 3957,385.00 $ 329,782.08 $ 44.50
Year 10 $ 4224,175.00 $ 352,014.58 $ 47.50
Year 11 $ 422417500 $ 352,014.58 $ 47.50
Year 12 $  4224,175.00 $ 352,014.58 $ 47.50

Rent checks should be made payable to Intercontinental Fund III 830 Winter Street, LLC and delivered to:

Intercontinental Fund III 830 Winter Street, LL.C

P.O. Box 847902
Boston, MA 02284-7902
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A.

Exclusions from Operating Expenses.

EXHIBIT “D”

PROVISIONS REGARDING ADDITIONAL RENT



(1) any costs of managing the property other than a management fee, and any management fees in excess of five percent (5%) of the gross rental
income of the Property;

(2)  wages, salaries, taxes, workers compensation insurance premiums or fringe benefits paid to employees of Landlord or affiliates of Landlord
above the grade of asset manager or, where such employees at the grade of asset manager or below devote time to properties other than the Property, the
portion not allocable to the Property;

3) costs of repairs to the extent actually reimbursed by insurance, or resulting from eminent domain takings to the extent covered by the award;

(4)  any costs which have been previously included in Taxes or Operating Expenses (whether under the same or a different category);

5) financing and refinancing costs in respect of any financing of the Property, including debt service, amortization, points and commissions in
connection therewith;

(6)  rent or other charges payable under any ground or underlying lease;

7) costs of repositioning, selling or syndicating Landlord’s interest in the Property;

(8)  advertising and promotional expenditures, contributions or gifts;

(9)  brokerage fees or commissions;

(10) legal fees incurred in connection with Landlord’s preparation, negotiation and enforcement of leases with other tenants; and any other
professional fees for matters not relating to the normal administration and operation of the Property, or relating to matters which are excluded from Operating

Expenses for the Property;

(11) interest or penalties for any delinquent payments by Landlord unless and to the extent resulting from Tenant’s failure to pay, when and as due,
Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the Taxes and Operating Expenses (in which case Tenant shall be responsible for 100% of such interest or penalties);

(12) the cost of making leasehold improvements and decorations to any leasable space to prepare the same for occupancy by a tenant thereof, or
thereafter for the benefit of a particular tenant or tenants;

(13) services performed for or provided to any tenant to the extent such services are exclusive to such tenant;

(14) any expenditures on account of Landlord’s acquisition of air or similar development rights;
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(15) the cost of capital improvements that do not constitute Ordinary Capital Improvements unless Tenant shall request or approve any such
improvement;

(16) Landlord’s depreciation of the Building or other improvements or amortization of personal property or equipment;

(17) Interest, principal, points, fees, amortization and other costs associated with any debt and rent payable under any lease to which this Lease is
subject, and all costs and expenses associated with any such debt or lease and any ground lease rent, irrespective of whether this Lease is subject or
subordinate thereto;

(18) Rent for any office space occupied by Building management personnel to the extent the size or rental rate for of such office space exceeds the
size or fair market rental of office space occupied by management personnel of comparable “biotech” and/or “life science” commercial properties located in
the greater Boston/Cambridge/Waltham area where the Building is located; and

(19) Costs associated with the operation of the business of the entity which constitutes Landlord as the same are distinguished from costs of the
operation of the Building, including accounting and legal matters, costs of defending any lawsuits with any mortgagee (except as the actions of Tenant may be
in issue), costs of selling, syndicating, financing, mortgaging or hypothecating any of Landlord’s interests in the Building, and costs incurred in connection
with any disputes between Landlord and other tenants of the Building which arise from a lease default or breach by such tenants.

(20) Costs associated with complying with any Legal Requirement or Environmental Law in effect prior to the Lease Commencement Date.
B. Overtime HVAC. Tenant’s clean room areas shall be served by a dedicated HVAC system controlled by Tenant and with energy provided under
Tenant’s metered electricity. The HVAC system for the balance of the Premises shall be tied into the Building HVAC system and shall be available for use by

Tenant on a 24/7/365 basis with all expenses for HVAC service and energy use included in Operating Expenses, and with no separate charge to Tenant for use
outside regular Business Hours.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Mitchel Sayare, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ImmunoGen, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 7, 2007

/s/ Mitchel Sayare

Mitchel Sayare

Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer and President




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Daniel M. Junius, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ImmunoGen, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 7, 2007

/s/ Daniel M. Junius

Daniel M. Junius

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32
Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each
of the undersigned officers of ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

The Quarterly Report for the period ended September 30, 2007 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: November 7, 2007 /s/ MITCHEL SAYARE
Mitchel Sayare
Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Chief Executive Officer and President

Dated: November 7, 2007 /s/ DANIEL M. JUNIUS
Daniel M. Junius
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




